Public Document Pack
Executive Board
Thursday, 14 July 2022
Time:
6.00 pm
Venue: Meeting Room A
Address: Blackburn Town Hall
AGENDA
Information may be provided by each Executive Member relating to their
area of responsibility
1.

Welcome and Apologies

2.

Minutes of the Previous Meeting
Executive Board Minutes June 2022

3.

Declarations of Interest
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST FORM

4.

Equality Implications
The Chair will ask Members to confirm that they have
considered and understood any Equality Impact
Assessments associated with reports on this agenda ahead
of making any decisions.

5.

Public Forum
To receive written questions or statements submitted by
members of the public no later than 4pm on the day prior to
the meeting.

6.

Questions by Non-Executive Members
To receive written questions submitted by Non-Executive
Members no later than 4pm on the day prior to the meeting.

7.

Youth MPs Update
To receive an update from the Youth MPs along with any
issues they would like to raise.

8.

4 - 12

Executive Member Reports
Verbal updates may be given by each Executive Member.

Leader
Adult Social Care & Health

13

8.1

NHS Health and Social Care Integrated System
Governance Update
EB NHS Health and Social Care Integrated System
Governance update
Appendix 1 for EB NHS Health and Social Care
Integrated System Governance update

14 - 30

Children, Young People & Education
8.2

School Estates and Capital Variation
Schools Estates
Education Capital Programme 21-22 Variation

31 - 35

Environment and Operations
Public Health, Prevention & Wellbeing
8.3

Changing Futures Funding
Changing Futures

36 - 40

Digital & Customer Services
8.4

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 Procedure
and Guidance
RIPA 2000
APPENDIX1 RIPA Procedure and Guidance
Appendix 2 Procedural Guide Summary

41 - 106

Growth & Development
8.5

Land at Lower Phillips Road
P1 Land at Lower Phillips Road
Appendix 1 - Land at Lower Phillips Road

107 110

Finance & Governance
8.6

Revenue Outturn Report 2021/22 Quarter 4
Revenue Monitoring Report 2021-22 Q4Outturn
Revenue Monitoring Appendix1 Outturn 2021-22
Revenue Monitoring Appendix2 Outturn 2021-22
Revenue Monitoring Appendix 3 Outturn 2021-22

8.7

Corporate Capital Budget and Balance Sheet Monitoring
Report 2021/22 Quarter 4
Capital Monitoring Outturn 2021-22
Capital Appendix 1
Capital Outturn2021-22 Appendix 2

111 123

124 139

8.8

Treasury Management Outturn Report 2021/22
Treasury Outturn 2021-22

140 153

9.

Corporate Issues

9.1

Vehicle Replacement Programme
Vehicle Replacement Programme

9.2

Disposal of Plot 4 Millbank, Lower Darwen
P1 Plot 4 Millbank
Appendix 1 - Plot 4 Millbank

10.

154 158

159 162

Matters referred to the Executive Board

PART 2 – THE PRESS AND PUBLIC MAY BE EXCLUDED DURING
CONSIDERATION OF THE FOLLOWING ITEMS
11.1

Disposal of Plot 4 Millbank, Lower Darwen
P2 Plot 4 Millbank

11.2

163 166

Land at Lower Phillips Road
P2 Land at Lower Phillips Road

167 169

Date Published: Wednesday, 06 July 2022
Denise Park, Chief Executive

EXECUTIVE BOARD

Agenda Item 2

Thursday 9th June 2022
PRESENT
COUNCILLOR:
Councillor Phil Riley
Councillor Julie Gunn
Councillor Vicky McGurk
Councillor Quesir Mahmood
Councillor Mahfooz Hussain
Councillor Jim Smith
Councillor Mustafa Desai

PORTFOLIO:
Leader of the Council
Children, Young People and Education
Finance and Governance
Growth and Development
Digital and Customer Services
Environment and Operations
Adults, Social Care and Health

EXECUTIVE MEMBER
Councillor John Slater

NON PORTFOLIO
Leader of the Conservative Group

ALL IN ATTENDANCE:
Muhammed Bapu

Youth MP

Item
1

Action

Welcome and Apologies
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Phil Riley, welcomed all to
the meeting. Apologies were received from Councillor Damian
Talbot and Hasti Jahanghiri and Isabelle Crawford, Deputy Youth
MPs.

2

Minutes of the Previous Meeting
The Minutes of the Meeting held on 14th April 2022 were agreed as
a correct record.

3

Agreed

Declarations of Interest
Councillor Jim Smith declared an interest in Agenda Item 8.6,
Blackburn with Darwen Enhanced Bus Partnership (employed by
Transdev).

4

Equality Implications
The Chair asked Members to confirm that they had considered
and understood any Equality Impact Assessments associated with
reports on the agenda ahead of making any decisions.

5

Public Forum
In accordance with Part 4 of the Executive Board Procedure Rules
for questions/statements by members of the public, the following
questions/statements have been received, details of which are set
Page 4
out below:-

Executive Board
Thursday 9th June 2022

Confirmed

Item

Name of Person
asking Question
Chris Walton

Action

Subject Area
Former
Polymers site

Response By

V10 Councillor
Phil
Riley, Leader of the
Council

Councillor Riley gave a detailed response to the question, outlining
the background to the issues, engagement with the Environment
Agency and the landowner, and advising that the Council would
continue to press the land owner, the Environment Agency and
Government to find a long term solution to the site, so that it could
be developed to provide much needed new housing in the area.
In response to a supplementary question from Mr Walton on fly
tipping issues in the area, Councillors Riley and Smith gave an
undertaking that the rubbish would be cleared within a week along
Paterson Street and adjoining Streets and Councillor Smith made
reference to a camera to monitor the area.
6

Questions by Non-Executive Members
No questions had been submitted by Non-Executive Members.

7

Youth MPs Update
The Youth MP, Muhammad Bapu, verbally reported on recent
events and activities including :
Attendance at Mayor-making and Civic Sunday
The recent Strategic Youth Alliance Meeting
BwD Food Alliance Meeting
Child Poverty Strategic Group Meeting
Attendance at the PEOPLE Overview and Scrutiny
Meeting earlier in the week.
Councillor Julie Gunn thanked Muhammed for the update and
advised that she would looked at improved engagement with other
groups involved in the Strategic Youth Alliance.
Executive Member Reports.

8.1

Report on the progress against the Corporate Plan 2021/22 for
the six months to year end (Oct 2021 to March 2022)
Members received a report which provided the Executive Board
with the opportunity to reviewPage
progress
5 against the Council’s
Executive Board
Thursday 9th June 2022

Noted

Item
strategic priorities documented within the Corporate Plan (2019-23)
and to provide assurance that appropriate actions are being taken
to address key areas of concern.

Action

The 70 measures within the Corporate Plan were linked to the
Council’s priority objectives and information for the period was as
follows:
9% (6 actual) had been forecast as “red” where
performance was, or was likely to be off track
26% (18 actual) had been forecast “amber” where
delivery was on track and currently being managed
54% (38 actual) had been forecast “green” or on track
11% (8 actual) of the measures data and or a RAG rating
was currently unavailable.
RESOLVED -

That the Executive Board:
1.

Note the overall performance against the delivery of the
Council’s strategic objectives as illustrated in Appendix
One Performance
2. Note the remedial action to improve delivery against the
2019-2023 Corporate priorities which are giving cause for
concern, as outlined in Appendix Two Exception Reports
8.2

Noted
Noted

Council Response to Covid-19 Pandemic 2021/22
Members received a report providing an overview of the Council’s
response to the Covid-19 pandemic over the last 12 months. A
similar report was presented to Annual Council in May 2021 to
highlight the responses and achievements from the first 12 months
of the pandemic.
The report provided an overview of the key activity that had taken
place across the organisation and with support from businesses,
VCFS partners and communities in the Covid-19 response. A full
pandemic report was planned for later in the year to identify
response highlights whilst also allowing identification of lessons
learnt and to support future planning.
Members referred to the excellent work by Council staff in
responding to the Pandemic and passed their thanks.
RESOLVED –
It is recommended that:
a) Executive Board note the contents of this report.

Noted

b) Note that a full pandemic report will be presented to full council
by the end of this calendar year.

Noted

Page 6

Executive Board
Thursday 9th June 2022

Item
8.3

Action

School Holiday Pattern 2023/24
A report was submitted which advised that the Local Authority (LA)
was required to set the school holiday pattern for its Community
and Controlled schools. The dates were agreed 12 months in
advance of schools beginning the new academic year. In March
the dates were circulated for consultation with primary and
secondary schools. In addition the dates were sent to Teacher and
Green book Union representatives for their observations and
comments.
Once agreed by the LA and published, the holiday pattern was
binding on all community and voluntary controlled schools in
Blackburn with Darwen. Voluntary Aided and Foundation
governing boards were requested to give consideration to the
advice from the LA when determining their school calendars.
RESOLVED –
That the Executive Board agrees the school term and holiday
pattern for Community and Controlled schools for 2023/2024 (as
set out in Appendix One Draft School term and Holiday Pattern
2023/2024).

8.4

Update on Children’s Services ILACS Inspection
The Executive Board received a report which provided an update
following the Ofsted ‘Inspection of Local Authority Children’s
Services’ (ILACS) across the three week period 24 January 2022
and 4 February 2022. The report set out progress since the
Inspection on the key areas and sought approval for financial and
governance arrangements to monitor the effectiveness of
improvement activity.
In April 2022 the Executive Board was informed of the findings and
recommendations of the ILACS inspection and of the plan to
establish a multi-agency partnership ‘Achieving Excellence Board’
to monitor improvements and build on existing strengths.
The Board met on 26th April 2022 for the inaugural meeting, and
agreed a terms of reference with a focus on ensuring that the lived
experiences of children and young people and the feedback from
the workforce was captured and influenced the work of the Board.
The action plan would be phased to focus on the three main areas;
multi-agency strategy discussions; data and assurance, and
services and support for care leavers up to the age of 25.
In June the key theme would be Support for Care Leavers; the
August focus was Quality Assurance and the theme for October
was progress on the effectiveness of multi-agency strategy
discussions.
Page 7

Executive Board
Thursday 9th June 2022

Approved

Item

Action

RESOLVED That the Executive Board:

8.5

-

Delegates the scrutiny of the delivery of the Post ILACS
Inspection Action Plan to the Achieving Excellence Board

Approved

-

Gives approval to a supplementary revenue estimate of
£906,000 to fund the delivery of the Action Plan (Appendix)
in 2022/23 to be funded from contingent sums earmarked
for Social Care (and acknowledge that, subject to review as
part of the Council’s normal budgetary procedures, the
estimated full year cost of the Action Plan (estimated to be
£923k) will form part of the Council’s Budget from 2023/24)

Approved

-

Notes that subject to the refinement of the Action Plan, any
further financial implications arising from the delivery of the
Action Plan will be considered in line with the Council’s
Financial Procedure Rules.

Noted

Land at Clarendon Road East, Blackburn
Members received a report which advised that the Council had
identified a site located between Clarendon Road East to the north
and Laburnum Road to the south as suitable for the provision of
new family homes. This site was identified as the ‘Clarendon Road
East site’ and a full options appraisal and land title assessment
identified part of the site as being in unknown ownership
(unregistered land). Council officers had undertaken a number of
enquiries to identify any likely owner but no further information as
to the ownership has been ascertained.
Consequently the Council was now seeking approval to acquire
the land by compulsory purchase action under s226 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 of the abandoned land parcel at
Clarendon Road East (Appendix 1), as part of the Council’s priority
2 objective – namely improving housing quality and building more
houses to provide much needed family housing in the Borough.
RESOLVED –
That the Executive Board upon being satisfied that:
a) It would contribute to the economic, social and
environmental well-being of the borough;
b) There is a compelling case in the public interest as the
interference with Human Rights involved is proportionate in
the interests of land assembly for housing development;
c) Sufficient funds exist Page
for carrying
8 the resolution into effect;

Executive Board
Thursday 9th June 2022

Item
d) No impediments exist to the implementation of the scheme
to assemble the land for housing development (subject to
the making of the order) and there is a reasonable prospect
of its implementation, should the order be made;

Action

e) The whole of the legal estates to the affected land could not
be acquired by agreement.
2.1

2.2
2.3

2.4

8.6

Authorise the Growth Programme Director, in conjunction
with the Deputy Director, Legal & Governance (Monitoring
Officer) to prepare and make a Compulsory Purchase
Order (CPO) under section 226 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 and the Acquisition of Land Act 1981,
for the purpose of land assembly to carry out housing
development on the land.
Authorise the Growth Programme Director to negotiate terms
for the acquisition by agreement of any outstanding interests
in the land within the CPO prior to its confirmation.
Authorise the Deputy Director, Legal & Governance
(Monitoring Officer) (in the event that the Secretary of State
notifies the Council that it has been given the power to
confirm the Order) to confirm the CPO if he is satisfied that it
is appropriate to do so.
Authorise the Growth Programme Director to approve
agreements with any identified landowner setting out the
terms of withdrawal of objections to the Order (including the
power to defer implementation post confirmation). In
consultation with the Deputy Director, Legal & Governance
(Monitoring Officer) to make deletions from and/or minor
amendments and modifications to the proposed Order and
Order plans.

Blackburn with Darwen Enhanced Bus Partnership
A report was submitted, advising that the Government published
‘Bus Back Better’, a National Bus Strategy (NBS) which set out a
bold ambition for what they want to achieve for public transport.
Two requirements of the strategy were for the Council and its
operators to enter into a statutory ‘Enhanced Partnership’ or
Franchising Agreement to continue to receive funding; and deliver
the improvements included within the published Bus Service
Improvement Plan (BSIP). The appropriate arrangement for
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council was to enter into an
‘Enhanced Partnership’, and therefore the Council submitted an
expression of interest to do so to the Department for Transport
(DfT), and the the Executive Board had subsequently approved
the intention to enter into an Enhanced Partnership.
The Council’s Bus Service Improvement Plan was approved by
Executive Member for Growth and Regeneration on 22nd October
2021 and was published on our website. In April 2022, DfT
confirmed that the Council had
been9successful in its BSIP bid and
Page

Executive Board
Thursday 9th June 2022

Approved

Approved
Approved

Approved

Item
allocated £3.8M (£1.2M revenue to support services and £2.6M for
infrastructure improvements to prioritise buses) over 3 years.

Action

In March 2022 DfT recommended that Transport Authorities
publish a ‘draft’ EP which the Council had done and to publish the
decision once BSIP funding was announced. It was intended that
that the EP Plan and Scheme was published and entered into from
1st June 2022.
RESOLVED –
That the Executive Board:

8.7

(i) Approve the Council’s intention to enter into an ‘Enhanced
Partnership’ working in collaboration with all the
Borough’s bus operators, in accordance with s138G
Transport Act 2000 without modifications. The Local
Transport Authority having complied with s138F
regarding preparation, notice and consultation.

Approved

(ii) That the Enhanced Partnership Plan and Scheme will be
responsible for directing available funding from central
government and elsewhere to deliver improvements to
bus services and infrastructure in Blackburn with
Darwen to help achieve our ambition, objectives and
targets in our Bus Service Improvement Plan.

Approved

(iii) That mechanisms by which the plan and scheme can be
modified, following any constructive comments, will be
managed by through the Enhanced Partnership
governance structure and Blackburn with Darwen
procedures.

Approved

Business Rates Vovid-19 Additional Relief Fund (CARF)
Policy
The Executive Board received a report which advised that he
budget in October 2021 announced a new Covid 19 Additional
Relief Fund (CARF) of £1.5 billion. The fund was intended to be
available to support businesses adversely affected by the
pandemic that are ineligible for the existing support linked to
Business Rates, i.e., Small Business Rates Relief, Expand Retail
Discount and Nursery Discount.
On 15th December 2021 the Government issued guidance to local
authorities detailing how the scheme should operate and how
much each authority has been allocated. Blackburn with Darwen
BC’s allocation totals £3,678,533.
The relief was launched in February and potentially eligible
businesses were contacted and invited to apply online. Due to the
low number of applications, an amendment to the policy was now
proposed.

Page 10
Executive Board
Thursday 9th June 2022

Item

Action

The amended relief policy was attached as Appendix A.
The initial approach of inviting businesses to apply only produced
low numbers of applications. To ensure the full funding allocation
was dispersed to businesses, it was now proposed that the
Business Rates team review the details of all potentially eligible
businesses and make a direct award to accounts. The amount of
relief would be the percentage relief that can be awarded for the
2021/22 liability.
It was proposed that an initial award totalling 90% of the fund was
awarded to eligible businesses. The remaining 10% could be held
back to ensure unidentified businesses and variations in rateable
value were accommodated. Any remaining monies left in the fund
would be allocated across all eligible businesses later in the year
as the fund was brought to an end.
RESOLVED –
That the Executive Board:
approves the amended COVID 19 Additional Relief Fund
(CARF) policy for 2021/22;
8.8

Approved

Development of the General Fund Revenue Budget 2023/24
A report was submitted which provided the Executive Board with
an update on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP)
2023/26 as a start of the process for developing the Council’s
Budget for 2023/24.
RESOLVED 1.1 It is recommended that Executive Board:a) agree to write to the Department for Levelling Up, Housing
and Communities (DLUHC) seeking an increase in the
Council’s funding settlement for 2022/23 to reflect the
significant increase in inflation;

Approved

b) note the key risks to the delivery of the budget in 2022/23
and that these will be subject to consideration as part of the
regular Budget Monitoring reports submitted to the
Executive Board;

Noted

c) note the uncertainty with the funding outlook for the
Noted
Council, not least the limited progress on Local Government
Finance reforms and the possibility that these may
not take place before the next General Election in 2024;
d) note the update to the Medium Term Financial Plan for
2023/26 as shown at Appendix A and that a further update
Page2022;
11
will be provided in October
Executive Board
Thursday 9th June 2022

Noted

Item

Action

e) note the scenario analysis shown at Appendix C and D
which models ‘worst’/’best’ case scenarios around the
baseline MTFP as part of the assessment of potential risks
facing the Council;

Noted

a) note the potentially significant financial impact of the review
of the pay structure (should it be considered necessary),
the financial impact of the Social Care reforms and
Academisation of Schools and that an update on these
matters be provided in future reports on the MTFP;

Noted

b) in accordance with the Council’s Budget and Policy
Approved
Framework Procedure Rules, request that Portfolio Holders
develop draft proposals to meet the funding gap set out in the
report for the period to 2025/26 and that any such
proposals are considered by the Executive Board in due
course; and
c) note the timetable set out in the report for the development ofApproved
the
Council’s Budget for 2023/24.

9.1

Dedicated Schools Grant – High Needs Block Budget
Allocations 2022/23
Executive Board approval was sought to the allocation of the High
Needs Block funding provision paid to the Council as part of the
Dedicated Schools Grant for 2022/23, as set out in Appendix B,
which had been considered by the Schools Forum at its meeting in
February 2022.
RESOLVED –
1.2 It is recommended that Executive Board:a) note the Council’s High Needs Block funding for 2022/23 as
shown at Appendix A;

Noted

b) endorse the budget allocations for the High Needs Block as
set out at Appendix B.

Approved

Signed at a meeting of the Board
on 14th July 2022

(being the ensuing meeting on the Board)
Chair of the meeting at which the Minutes were confirmed

Page 12
Executive Board
Thursday 9th June 2022

Agenda Item 3
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN
ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA
Members attending a Council, Committee, Board or other
meeting with a personal interest in a matter on the Agenda
must disclose the existence and nature of the interest and, if
it is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or an Other Interest
under paragraph 16.1 of the Code of Conduct, should leave
the meeting during discussion and voting on the item.
Members declaring an interest(s) should complete this form
and hand it to the Democratic Services Officer at the
commencement of the meeting and declare such an interest
at the appropriate point on the agenda.
MEETING:

EXECUTIVE BOARD

DATE:

14th July 2022

AGENDA ITEM NO.:
DESCRIPTION (BRIEF):
NATURE OF INTEREST:

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY/OTHER (delete as appropriate)
SIGNED :
PRINT NAME:
(Paragraphs 8 to 17 of the Code of Conduct for Members of the Council refer)

Page
13
D:\blackburn\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\7\0\AI00006073\$v5fktde5.doc

Agenda Item 8.1
EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION
REPORT OF:

Executive Member for Adults Social Care &
Health

LEAD OFFICERS:

Strategic Director of Adults and Health

DATE:

Thursday, 14 July 2022

PORTFOLIO/S
AFFECTED:

Adults Social Care & Health

WARD/S AFFECTED:

(All Wards);

KEY DECISION:

Yes

SUBJECT: EB NHS Health and Social Care Integrated System Governance update
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The purpose of this report is to provide Executive Board with an update on key matters in relation to
health and care system reform in 2022/23, including the establishment of the Lancashire and South
Cumbria Health and Care Partnership. Executive Board are also asked to endorse the Terms of
Reference, attached as Appendix A, associated with the Health and Care Partnership.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Executive Board:
Note the update provided in relation to establishing the Integrated Care Board, the Health and
Care Partnership and the Place Based Partnerships in Lancashire and South Cumbria
Endorse the proposed Terms of Reference for the Health and Care Partnership as attached at
Appendix A.

3. BACKGROUND
For the past few years, health and care organisations in Lancashire and South Cumbria (LSC) have
worked together as the Healthier Lancashire and South Cumbria Integrated Care System (ICS). The
ICS is a partnership of organisations working together to improve services and help the 1.8 million
people in Lancashire and South Cumbria live longer, healthier lives. The partnership is made up of
Local Authority, Public Sector, NHS and voluntary and community organisations coming together to
improve outcomes and care. The aims of the ICS partnership are to join up health and care services,
to listen to the priorities of local communities, citizens and patients and to tackle some of the biggest
challenges we are all facing.

Page 14
EBD: V1/21

Page 1 of 9

In April 2022 the Government passed the Health and Care Act 2022, which sets out how the NHS in
England needs to change, working more closely with partners, particularly local authorities, to enable
health and care to work more closely together. It has long been our aspiration to improve the way
services work together and to be excellent partners to each other, but bureaucracy has sometimes
got in the way. In summary, the Act outlines how:
Change is needed to enable health and care systems to further build on innovation born
from the pandemic.
The NHS, local authorities and other partners will come together legally as part of
integrated care systems (ICSs) to plan health and care services and focus on prevention.
ICSs will become statutory and will be accountable for the health and wellbeing outcomes
of the population.
The current functions of clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) will move into a single body
know as an Integrated Care Board (ICB), by 1st July 2022
Systems are also required to establish an Integrated Care Partnership (ICP), to be a broad
alliance of organisations and representatives concerned with improving the care, health and
wellbeing of the population. This is to be jointly convened by local authorities and the NHS
by 1st July 2022 and in Lancashire and South Cumbria will be the Health and Care
Partnership.
Legislation that hinders collaboration and joint decision-making will be removed.
A ‘duty to collaborate’ now applies to NHS organisations and local authorities. This will
promote further joint working across healthcare, public health and social care.
The diagram below summarises how the requirements of the Health and Care Act will apply to
Lancashire and South Cumbria from 1st July 2022.

Page 15
EBD: V1/21

Page 2 of 9

4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS
Establishing the Integrated Care Board (ICB)
Formally established on 1st July 2022, the ICB, an NHS statutory body, will take on the NHS
commissioning functions of CCGs as well as some of NHS England’s commissioning functions. It will
also be accountable for NHS spend and performance within the system.
The Board of the ICB will, as a minimum, include a chair, the chief executive and representatives from
NHS providers, general practice and local authorities. For LSC the membership has been agreed as
follows:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)

Chair
Chief Executive
2 Partner members NHS and Foundation Trusts
1 Partner member Primary Medical Services
1 Partner member Local Authorities
5 Non-executive members
Chief Finance Officer
Medical Director
Chief Nurse

The Board may invite specified individuals to be participants or observers at meetings in order to
inform its decision-making and the discharge of its functions as it sees fit. Participants will receive
advance copies of the notice, agenda and papers for board meetings. They may be invited to attend
any or all of the board meetings, or part(s) of a meeting by the Chair. The following may be invited as
participants:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)

Other Very Senior Officers of the ICB and its place-based partnerships
A Director of Adult Social Care
A Director of Public Health
A Director of Children’s Services
Voluntary, community, faith and social enterprise sector
Healthwatch
Any other person that the Chair considers can contribute to the matter under discussion

NHS England will agree ICBs’ constitutions and will hold them to account for delivery.
Staff currently employed by CCGs will transfer to ICBs, and NHS England has made an employment
commitment to staff to provide stability and minimise uncertainty. Some staff will be retained within
place-based planning and delivery teams, whilst others will play a more system wide role acting
across the whole of Lancashire and South Cumbria. Work is underway to establish the structures for
the ICB both at system and at place and it is expected that key appointments will be made in
June/July. This will include appointing Directors of Health and Care Integration, jointly with local
authority colleagues, who will drive the delivery of integrated care and partnerships within places. An
estimated timeline for establishing the ICB is outlined below.

Page 16
EBD: V1/21

Page 3 of 9

Development of the Lancashire and South Cumbria Health and Care Partnership (known
nationally as the Integrated Care Partnership)
National guidance outlines the following core purposes of an Integrated Care Partnership (ICP):
Achieve the four common aims of ICPs;
1. Improve outcomes in population health and healthcare
2. Tackle inequalities in outcomes, experience and access
3. Enhance productivity and value for money
4. Help the NHS support broader social and economic development
Build shared purpose and common aspiration across the whole system to help people live
healthier and more independent lives for longer, set out in an integrated care strategy. The
strategy should be informed by both Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWB) and Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment (JSNA) and is a statutory requirement.
It is intended that the Health and Care Partnership will focus on setting short, medium, and long-term
priorities and agreeing intended outcomes that are aligned to the strategic aims for the system. It will
seek assurance on delivery of these outcomes from the relevant organisations, sectors and
partnerships across the system to be certain that the Partnership is adding value and moving towards
delivery of its ambitions.
The four Upper Tier Local Authorities in Lancashire and South Cumbria (with engagement with North
Yorkshire County Council due to some cross boundary areas) and the Integrated Care Board have a
requirement to ensure appropriate arrangements are in place to establish an interim Lancashire and
South Cumbria Health and Care Partnership (known nationally as the Integrated Care Partnership)
from 1st July 2022. Working collectively the local authorities and the ICB have now set out proposals
for the immediate next steps for the HCP in terms of Phase One - Set Up (May – June) and Phase Two
- Development (July – December). This will enable organisations to meet the new statutory
requirements, focus on agreeing what they will do together and delivery, rather than creating undue
process or complex governance, and allow time to build a new culture of partnership working for
Lancashire and South Cumbria. The details of each phase are set out below.

Page 17
EBD: V1/21

Page 4 of 9

Phase One – Set up the Interim Health and Care Partnership (May-June 2022)
The requirements for the Partnership to have in place for 1st July 2022 include:
a) Chair
b) Membership
c) Terms of Reference
The interim arrangements are therefore proposed to include:
a) Chair arrangements
Chair: an Elected Member with the relevant portfolio from one of our Upper Tier Local
Authorities, to be rotated on an annual basis
Deputy Chair: a representative from the VCFSE sector, to be rotated on an annual
basis, chosen by the sector
b)

Interim Membership arrangements
It is the ambition for the HCP to have an inclusive forum for a diverse continuum of
stakeholders, spanning a range of organisations, professional groups and communities
of interest, which give us the greatest opportunity to have an impact on the scale and
breadth of changes that are required. Whilst the only statutory partners are the upper
tier Local Authorities and the Integrated Care Board, representatives from a wide range
of sectors from VCFSE, to education, academia and local businesses will also be
included
However, there is also a need to remain a workable size to ensure that it is able to
function and develop a coherent set of priorities and Integrated Care Strategy.
Therefore, it is proposed to start with a smaller core membership, which is reviewed
after six months to ensure that it is inclusive, ambitious, and reflective of our priorities.
Larger design events with a wider range of partners will also be held during this time for
their engagement in development. More detail on these is provided further below.
The proposed interim membership of the Lancashire and South Cumbria Health and
Care Partnership is outlined within the draft Terms of Reference (Appendix A).

c)

Our Interim Terms of Reference
It is proposed there is an initial terms of reference during the set up and development
phase, which are then reviewed in January 2023 based on the development work
competed to date. These are contained within Appendix A and are subject to approval
by Executive Board in July 2022.

Phase Two – Development - Focus on how we will work together, and what we will do together (July –
December 2022)
Beyond the initial set up of the interim Health and Care Partnership, there is a need to consider what
will be done together through this partnership, how organisations will work together, and the interface
with other partnerships and the rest of the system. These three elements will form the HCP
development plan between July – December.
One: Confirming our unique contribution as a Partnership – What will we do together?
In February it was agreed that our Health and Care Partnership should focus on:
Tackling the most complex issues that cannot be solved by individual organisations, and/or
where the potential achievements of working together are greater than the sum of the
constituent parts.
Staying strategic, and avoiding being drawn into operational detail.
A small number of key priorities.
Tackling the most complex issues that cannot be solved by existing partnerships.

Page 18
EBD: V1/21

Page 5 of 9

It is proposed, therefore, that the first role for the interim Partnership is to review and confirm a small
number of key priorities based on the evidence of need. It will then work to identify where and how
they will be delivered and what interfaces there are to consider in the system. It is recognised that
this must be built from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessments, using the evidence base from the
Health and Wellbeing Boards. The gathering of community perspectives and insight will form a key
part of this priority setting approach.
This will all form the basis of the required Lancashire and South Cumbria Integrated Care Strategy. It
is worth noting that national guidance on the development of this strategy is due to be published in
July 2022.
Two: Developing our ways of working within the wider Integrated Care System – how we will work
with others
There are a wide range of existing statutory and non-statutory Boards, Partnerships and Groups
operating within individual organisations, within sectors and across broader partnerships within our
System. We have noted that it is essential for the Health and Care Partnership to build on existing
arrangements and not duplicate them. It is important that the scope and function of the ICP is welldefined, both in its own right and within the context of the wider partnership landscape.
It is proposed therefore, that alongside defining the small number of key priorities, that the HCP
reviews and confirms how it will work as part of the Integrated Care System with the following (not an
exhaustive list):
Our Health and Wellbeing Boards
Our Place Based Partnerships
Lancashire Enterprise Partnership / Cumbria Enterprise Partnership
Lancashire and South Cumbria Provider Collaborative
Lancashire and South Cumbria NHS Integrated Care Board
Three: Developing our ways of working together – how we will work together to form a collective
It is recognised that the Health and Care reforms require a new level of commitment to partnership
working and will need us to focus on the culture and behaviours necessary to enable us to see a
difference from what has gone before. It is proposed therefore, that the development outlined above
is supported by two facilitated development sessions, using offers of support from NHSE/I or the LGA,
for a respected and experienced senior System Leader who will maintain a focus on how
organisations will work as a collective. The aim of the sessions will be to bring partners together to
start to form mutual trust and respect, develop collaborative working relationships, and a mutual
understanding of our role as the partnership within the wider system and as representatives within
that partnership.
Evolving Place-Based Partnerships
The Health and Care Act 2022 aims to tackle health inequalities and create safer, more joined-up
services within the health and care system and advocates for much of the planning and delivery of
services to be conducted within places and neighbourhoods. In Lancashire and South Cumbria
(LSC), Place-Based Partnerships are recognised as vitally important in achieving the collective desire
for healthier, happier and more prosperous communities. Currently there are five Place-Based
Partnerships in Lancashire and South Cumbria, covering the following geographies:
Pennine Lancashire (incorporating Blackburn with Darwen and East Lancashire)
Central Lancashire
Fylde Coast (incorporating Blackpool, Fylde and Wyre)
Morecambe Bay (incorporating North Lancashire and South Cumbria)
West Lancashire

Page 19
EBD: V1/21

Page 6 of 9

Place-based Partnerships (PBPs) are intended to be a collaboration of planners and providers across
health, local authority and the wider community, who take collective responsibility for improving the
health and wellbeing of residents within a place, with a population of up to 500,000. The core aims of
PBPs are to:
Improve the health and wellbeing of the population and reduce inequalities
Provide consistent, high-quality services that remove unwarranted variation in outcomes
Consistently achieve national standards / targets across the sectors within the partnership
Maximise the use of a place-based financial allocation and resources
Collaborative delivery in Pennine Lancashire
The Healthier Pennine Lancashire Partnership has continued to drive collaborative service delivery
and transformation throughout 2021/22. A short annual report, summarising key delivery activities
and achievements, is in the process of being finalised and can be made available to Executive Board
once complete. Some of the key achievements from the Partnership delivery in 2021/22 include:
Rapid establishment of a Pennine Lancashire Post Covid-19 Syndrome Service (PCSS) which
is delivered in partnership between East Lancashire Hospitals Trust, Lancashire and South
Cumbria Foundation Trust, Blackburn with Darwen Local Primary Care and the Pennine
Lancashire CCGs
Despite pressures, services mobilised at pace to secure an additional 23,189 appointments
over winter (80% of which were utilised) through Enhanced Primary and Community Access
Hubs and General Practice
Through multi-disciplinary working and Medicines Management reviews, falls related
admissions into hospital from care homes have reduced by 68% and those presenting with
fractured hip or femur, have reduced by 43% from Q2 to Q4
Transformative development of a Single Point of Access in End of Life Care which has
received 1058 referrals and facilitated 6345 Night Sits being delivered to families with a loved
one needing support at home
Mobilisation of Mental Health Initial Response Service and Street Triage across Pennine
Lancashire in January 2022 – in April alone, the Street Triage service support 22 patients who
would traditionally have been taken to A&E and detained under a section 136
Supported the development and launch of Albion Mill in January 2022, with health and social
care services working side by side to make a difference to the lives of residents
Delivery of the first phase of a Neighbourhood Accelerator approach which has supported our
most vulnerable people in our neighbourhoods, including those at risk of admission to hospital.
679 people received a holistic assessment of need and care plan between April and
September 2021, with appropriate interventions being identified to support them
The Partnership has agreed its key cross-cutting priorities for 2022/23 and work is underway to
identify key delivery activities to support these. These priorities are:
• Children and young people’s mental health – ensuring joint delivery across partners
• Healthy ageing – embedding outcomes from the Pennine frailty improvement work and the
national Ageing Well delivery programme
• Learning disabilities – as part of population health delivery model through neighbourhood
accelerators and enhanced health checks
• Health equity and addressing inequalities – which will include the Equality, Diversity and
Inclusion recommendations
• Workforce – Transformation and integration, availability, resilience
Review of Placed Based Partnerships in Lancashire and South Cumbria
The Lancashire and South Cumbria system has been identified as an outlier nationally because
neither the system nor the current place boundaries are coterminous with the Unitary and Upper Tier
local authority boundaries (Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council, Blackpool Council, Cumbria

Page 20
EBD: V1/21

Page 7 of 9

County Council and Lancashire County Council). This can make aspirations for health and care
integration more difficult.
In taking up his role, the Chief Executive for the LSC Integrated Care Board has initiated a review of
the current Place-Based Partnership Boundaries. This is with a view to exploring the benefits of realigning the boundaries of the place-based partnership to align with the four Unitary and Upper Tier
local authority footprints and exploring how this may lead to deeper integration, in turn resulting in
improvements to the health and wellbeing of each local population.
The review has and will involve in-depth discussions and conversations with individuals from a range
of partner and NHS organisations, networks and groups both by discipline, or within places. This
includes, but is not limited to, Adult Social Care, Primary and Community Care, Hospital Trusts,
Voluntary, Community, Faith and Social Enterprise along with partnerships which are established
within each of the places. The review has commenced and will continue throughout June 2022 with a
decision expected in mid-July.
It is widely recognised that there has been excellent progress made by the current place-based
partnerships to date and importantly, the outcome of this review seeks to protect and maximise those
benefits whilst considering opportunities presented by alignment of boundaries.

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
None with this report.
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
No direct financial implications. However the Council will engage fully with the ICB on defining how it
works on programmes which fall within joint commissioning arrangements and the Better Care Fund.
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Once the governance arrangements have been finalised, a review will need to be undertaken on the
composition of the Heath & Wellbeing Board and the terms of reference of the appropriate scrutiny
committee.
8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
There are no additional resource implications with this report however continued Member and Officer
time and commitment are required in order to achieve best outcomes for the residents of the
Borough.

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Please select one of the options below. Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the
EIA.
Option 1

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed.

Option 2
In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated
with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA link here)
Option 3
In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA
associated with this item in advance of making
the decision.
(insert EIA attachment)
Page
21
EBD: V1/21

Page 8 of 9

10. CONSULTATIONS
Consultation has been ongoing and undertaken by the ICS through the ICP meetings
11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure. They are also compliant with
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of
Corporate Governance.
12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following
the meeting.

VERSION: 1
CONTACT OFFICER: Ailsa Smith, Katherine White
DATE: 17.6.22
BACKGROUND Appendix A: LSC HCP Terms of Reference
PAPER:

Page 22
EBD: V1/21

Page 9 of 9

Lancashire and South Cumbria
Integrated Care System
Lancashire and South Cumbria
Health and Care Partnership
Terms of Reference
Approved: date
Next Review due: January 2023
1. Background and Context
1.1. Lancashire and South Cumbria Integrated Care Board (ICB) and Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Council, Blackpool Council, Cumbria County Council, Lancashire
County Council and North Yorkshire County Council have resolved to establish a
committee known locally as the Lancashire and South Cumbria Health and Care
Partnership (referred to nationally as the Integrated Care Partnership), in
accordance with Schedule 1A of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended) ("the NHS Act").
2. Purpose
2.1. An Integrated Care Partnership (ICP), is a broad alliance of organisations and
representatives concerned with improving the care, health and wellbeing of the
population, jointly convened by local authorities and the NHS. Locally, we are
describing this as the Lancashire and South Cumbria Health and Care
Partnership (LSC HCP) referred to as the Partnership.
2.2. National guidance outlines the following core purposes of an ICP;
Achieve the four common aims of ICS’s;
1.
2.
3.
4.

Improve outcomes in population health and healthcare
Tackle inequalities in outcomes, experience and access
Enhance productivity and value for money
Help the NHS support broader social and economic development

Build shared purpose and common aspiration across the whole-system to help
people live healthier and more independent lives for longer, set out in an
Integrated Care Strategy. The strategy will be informed by both Health and

Page 23

1

Wellbeing Boards (HWB) and Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNA) and
is a statutory requirement.
2.3. The Partnership will focus on setting short, medium, and long-term priorities and
agreeing intended outcomes that are aligned to our strategic aims (as above). It will
seek assurance on delivery of these outcomes from the relevant
organisations/sectors/partnerships across the system to be certain that the
Partnership is adding value and moving towards delivery of its ambitions.
3. Scope
3.1. The Partnership will be a statutory component of the Lancashire and South
Cumbria system and will provide a strategic, multi-sectoral perspective to the
strategy and ways of working of the health and care system, built upon existing
partnerships, without duplicating.
3.2. It is important that the scope and function of the Partnership is well-defined, both in
its own right and within the context of the wider landscape. The Partnership will
therefore focus on:
Tackling the most complex issues that cannot be solved by individual
organisations, and/or where the potential achievements of working together are
greater than the sum of the constituent parts.
Staying strategic and avoid being drawn into operational detail.
A small number of key priorities
4. Role and Functions
4.1. Developing an Integrated Care Strategy to address the broad physical health,
mental health and social care needs of the population (both children and adults),
including determinants of health such as employment, environment, and housing
issues.
4.2. To plan for the future and develop strategies for using available resources creatively
in order to address the longer-term challenges which cannot be addressed by a
single sector or organisation alone.
4.3. Ensuring the right partnerships, policies, incentives, and processes are in place to
support practitioners and local organisations to work together to help people live
healthier and more independent lives for longer.
4.4. Complementing place-based working and partnerships, developing relationships
and tackling issues that are better addressed within a larger geographical area.
4.5. Supporting broad and inclusive integration across places and driving meaningful
improvements in cross-cutting health and care outcomes and experiences. The
Partnership will provide a forum for agreeing collective objectives, enabling placebased partnerships to thrive alongside opportunities for connected scaled activity
to address population health challenges. This can be achieved through:

Page 24

2

a) highlighting where coordination is needed on health and care issues and
challenging partners to deliver the action required. These include, but are not
limited to:
i. helping people live more independent, healthier lives for longer.
ii. taking a holistic view of people’s interactions with services across the
system and the different pathways within it.
iii. Taking a whole-system view of workforce requirements and identifying
opportunities to deliver different workforce models to improve outcomes.
iv. addressing inequalities in health and wellbeing outcomes, experiences
and access to health services.
v. improving the wider social determinants that drive these inequalities,
including employment.
vi. housing, education, environment, and reducing offending.
vii. improving the life chances and health outcomes of babies, children and
young people.
viii. improving people’s overall wellbeing and preventing ill-health.
4.6. The Partnership will need to evolve, and therefore we will use 2022/23 to develop
its role and remit, along with optimising ways of working with Place-based
Partnerships, Health and Wellbeing Boards and other existing partnerships such
as the Lancashire and South Cumbria Provider Collaborative and the Lancashire
Enterprise Partnership. Health and Wellbeing Boards will also use this period to
review their ways of working in the context of the new, wider system architecture.
The Partnership will also need to adapt as the local government reorganisation
progresses in Cumbria, as the new authorities operate from 1st April 2023.
4.7. It is important to note that there is a highly permissive approach to the development
of ICP’s and we will maximise this opportunity and be bold and ambitious in
identifying shared priorities, in setting out our desired outcomes, and in delivering
these through truly integrated ways of working. This will require a new level of
commitment to partnership working and will need us to focus on the culture and
behaviours necessary to enable us to see a difference from what has gone before.
5. Key Principles
5.1. Come together under a distributed leadership model and commit to working
together equally.
5.2. Use a collective model of decision-making that seeks to find consensus between
system partners and make decisions based on unanimity as the norm, including
working though difficult issues where appropriate.
5.3. Operate a collective model of accountability, where partners hold each other
mutually accountable for their shared and individual organisational contributions
to shared objectives.

Page 25

3

5.4. Agree arrangements for transparency and local accountability, including meeting in
public with minutes and papers available online.
5.5. Focus on improving outcomes for people, including improved health and wellbeing,
supporting people to live more independent lives, and reduced health inequalities.
5.6. Champion co-production with our residents and inclusiveness throughout the ICS.
5.7. Support the triple aim (better health for everyone, better care for all and efficient
use of NHS resources), the legal duties on statutory bodies to co-operate and the
principle of subsidiarity (that decision-making should happen at the most local
appropriate level).
5.8. Ensure place-based partnership arrangements are respected and supported, and
have appropriate resource, capacity and autonomy to address community priorities,
in line with the principle of subsidiarity.
5.9. Draw on the experience and expertise of professional, clinical, political and
community leaders and promote strong clinical and professional system leadership.
5.10. Create a learning system, sharing evidence and insight across and beyond the ICS,
crossing organisational and professional boundaries.
6. Membership and Chair
6.1. The membership of the partnership will consist of:
Sector

Organisation

Position

Notes

Local Government

Upper Tier Local Authority
(TBC)

Chair

Elected Member*

Voluntary,
Community, Faith
and Social
Enterprise Sector

Voluntary, Community, Faith
and Social Enterprise Sector

Deputy Chair

VCFSE reps to be determined
by the sector, but proposal is
to include three
representatives that include a
range of perspectives from
larger service provider
organisations, community
groups and Hospices

Local Government

Blackpool Council

Elected Member

Local Government

Elected Member

Local Government

Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Council
Cumbria County Council (until
April 2023)
Lancashire County Council

Local Government

District Council (TBC)

Elected Member

Local Government

District Council (TBC)

Elected Member

*Four UTLA Elected Members,
from Blackpool, Blackburn,
Cumbria, Lancashire in total,
one of which will take the
Chair on an annual basis
**For our fifth UTLA, we will
have a separate process for
ensuring engagement with
North Yorkshire County
Council, which will be formally
documented in the revision to
this TOR in January 2023
(2 rep for the Districts, one
from an urban area and one
from a rural area)

NHS ICB

LSC ICB

ICB Chief Executive

Providers (Primary
Care)

LSC ICB

Providers (Mental
Health)

Provider Collaborative

Partner Member for
Provider of Primary
Medical Services
Clinical
Representative for
Mental Health
Services

Local Government

Elected Member
Elected Member

Page 26

4

Providers (Acute and
Community)

Provider Collaborative

Place-based
Partnerships

LSC ICB / Local Authority

Place-based
Partnerships
Voluntary,
Community, Faith
and Social
Enterprise Sector
Voluntary,
Community, Faith
and Social
Enterprise Sector
Public, Patients and
Communities

Place-based Partnerships

Clinical
Representative for
Acute and
Community
Services
Director of Health
and Care
Integration
Chair

VCFSE**

Representative

VCFSE**

Representative

Healthwatch***

Representative

Public, Patients and
Communities

LSC ICB Public and Patient
Involvement Committee

Chair

Public, Patients and
Communities

The Independent Race and
Equality Panel (I-REP) for
Lancashire
Lancashire Enterprise
Partnership Health Sector
Board ****

Representative

University (TBC)

Vice Chancellor

Business

Higher Education

Chair

(1 rep on behalf of the places)

(1 rep on behalf of the places)
VCFSE to be determined by
the sector, but proposal is to
include three representatives
that include a range of
perspectives from larger
service provider organisations,
community groups and
Hospices
Healthwatch has a specific
statutory role within ICPs. The
legislation will require ICPs to
involve their local Healthwatch
organisations on the
preparation of their strategies.

To be noted that this covers
Lancashire, Blackpool and
Blackburn, but not Cumbria or
North Yorkshire

Total – 20

6.2. The members of the Partnership shall be jointly appointed with approval from the
ICB and the upper tier Local Authorities
6.3. Members of the Partnership should aim to attend all scheduled meetings. The
Chair of the Partnership will review any circumstances in which a member’s
attendance falls below 75% attendance.
6.4. The Partnership may co-opt additional members subject to the following terms:
They have subject matter expertise required to support the Partnership in
meeting its responsibilities
They represent a community, place, or organisation required to support the
Partnership in meeting its responsibilities.
6.5. Partnership members may nominate a suitable deputy when necessary and subject
to the approval of the Chair. All deputies should be fully briefed, and the secretariat
informed of any agreement to deputise so that quoracy can be maintained.
6.6. No person attending the meeting in one role can additionally act on behalf of
another person as their deputy
6.7. The ICB and local authorities will jointly select a Partnership Chair, appointed on
an annual rotational basis, from each of the upper tier local authorities. The first
authority taking the role for 2022/23 will be (tbc).

Page 27

5

6.8. The Deputy Chair will be a representative from the VCFSE sector, which will also
rotate on an annual basis.
6.9. Membership may change as the priorities of the Partnership evolve and whilst the
Partnership must engage with a wide range of stakeholders and understand the
different viewpoints across the system and communities, membership should be
kept to a productive level.
7. Quorum
7.1. Quoracy - A quorum shall be XXX [Number or percentage] [TBC Once the
Partnership has met] Partnership members, which must include:
TBC once the Partnership has met
7.2. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm that the Partnership is quorate,
after any actions have been taken to manage any declared conflicts of interest.
7.3. Nominated deputies attending ICP meetings, on behalf of substantive members,
will count towards quorum.
7.4. If a meeting is not quorate, the Chair may adjourn the meeting to permit the
appointment or co-option of additional members if necessary. The Chair will have
the final decision as to their suitability.
7.5. Any decisions put to a vote at a ICP meeting shall be determined by a majority of
the votes of members present. (For clarity: members may be physically attending
the meeting or participating by an agreed telecommunications link).
7.6. In the case of an equal vote, the Chair shall have a second and casting vote. The
Chair will declare the result of the vote.
8. Meetings
8.1. The Partnership will meet on a regular basis, meeting at least four times per year,
and have an annual rolling programme of meeting dates and agenda items. The
frequency of the meetings will be determined in the development phase (JulyDecember 2022), and the terms of reference updated.
8.2. There will be administrative support required for the meetings which will include:
Giving notice of meetings (including, when the Chair of the ICP deems it
necessary in light of the urgent circumstances, calling a meeting at short notice)
Issuing an agenda and supporting papers to each member and attendee no
later than 5 days before the date of the meeting; and
Ensuring an accurate record (minutes) of the meeting.
8.3. The responsibility for this administrative support will be determined during the
development phase (July-December 2022).
8.4. Meetings of the Partnership will be held in public and agendas and papers will be
published at least seven working days in advance of the meeting except where
confidential or sensitive information is likely to be disclosed. This may include:

Page 28

6

information given to any of the partners in confidence,
information about an individual that it would be a breach of the Data Protection
Act to disclose, or
information the disclosure of which could prejudice the commercial interests of
any of the partners or third parties

9. Decision-making
9.1. The aim of the Partnership is to achieve consensus decision-making wherever
possible.
9.2. Each voting member of the Partnership shall have one vote.
9.3. If the Chair determines that there is no consensus or one member disputes that
consensus has been achieved, a vote will be taken by the Partnership members.
The vote will be passed with a simple majority the votes of members present. In
the case of an equal vote, the Chair shall have a second and casting vote.
9.4. The result of the vote will be recorded in the minutes and a record will also be made
of the outcome of the voting for the other ICB committees.
9.5. All decisions taken in good faith at a meeting of the Partnership shall be valid even
if there is any vacancy in its membership or, it is discovered subsequently, that
there was a defect in the calling of the meeting, or the appointment of a member
attending the meeting
10. Governance
10.1. The Partnership will agree a number of minimum requirements that demonstrate
full commitment to delivery of agreed system priorities, along with an accompanying
development programme that sees 2022/23 as a year of evolution.
10.2. A key priority is understanding the interface – i.e. the role of, and relationships
between this Partnership and other fora (including but not limited to) the Health and
Wellbeing Boards, and the Place-based Partnerships. This work will be concluded
in the development phase and inform the evolution of the Partnership.
11. Sub Committees & Delegation
11.1. The Partnership may delegate tasks to such individuals, sub-committees or
individual members as it shall see fit, provided that any such delegations are
consistent with the parties' relevant governance arrangements, are governed by
Terms of Reference as appropriate, and reflect appropriate arrangements for the
management of conflicts of interest.
12. Accountability/relationships/assurance/authority
12.1. National guidance provides the following detail on the status and establishment of
an ICP:

Page 29

7

Will be established in law as a statutory committee of the ICS.
Not a statutory body; therefore, members come together to take decisions on
an integrated care strategy, but the committee does not take on functions from
other parts of the system.
Must be established locally and jointly by the relevant local authorities and the
ICB as equal partners.
Local authorities and designated ICB chairs and Boards should meet in the
Partnership as co-owners and equal partners of that committee.
Should evolve from existing arrangements, with mutual agreement on terms of
reference, membership, ways of operating and administration.
To facilitate broad membership and stakeholder participation, Partnerships may
use a range of sub-groups, networks and other methods to convene parties to
agree and deliver the priorities set out in the shared strategy.
13. Code of conduct/managing conflicts of interest
*To be developed, including resolution, values, standards and behaviours during the
development phase from July – December 2022

Page 30

8

Agenda Item 8.2
EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION
REPORT OF:

Executive Member for Schools and Education

LEAD OFFICERS:

Strategic Director of Children’s Services

DATE: 14 July 2022

PORTFOLIO/S
AFFECTED:

Schools and Education

WARD/S AFFECTED:

Billinge and Beardwood; Blackburn South East; Bastwell and Daisyfield,
West Penine.

KEY DECISION:

YES

NO

SUBJECT: EB Schools Estates and Capital Variation report
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
To present for approval variations to the 2021/2022 schools capital programme .
2.RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Executive Board:
1: Approves a variation to the 2021/2022 schools capital programme to include new projects including:
£250k for immediate roof repairs to Newfield School (complex needs building)
£20k for immediate repairs to the MUGA pitch on Troy Street, Blackburn
£35k for a replacement boiler at Belmont Primary School
£25k for a replacement water main at Longshaw Junior School

3. BACKGROUND
Newfield complex needs school, opened in Sept 2006, and was a new build, amalgamating the
former Blackamoor Special School, and Dame Evelyn Fox Special School on a new site on Old Bank
Lane. Over the last year, the roofing system has started to show evidence of deterioration and is in
need of significant and immediate repair, to mitigate further decline and ensure that the school
remains fit for purpose.
The MUGA pitch located on Troy Street, Blackburn sits within the demise of Brookhouse School and
has over the years had minimal repairs. The pitch is currently unable to be used on the grounds of
health and safety pending required repairs including patches of the pitch surface being replaced,
some fence panels being replaced alongside some repairs to the floodlights.
The boiler at Belmont is irreparable and requires replacement ahead of the next winter period.
Longshaw Junior School require a new water main installing, and due to the significant disruption this
work is required to be carried out during the summer holiday period.

Page 31
EBD: V1/21

Page 1 of 4

4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS
Newfield School
The existing roof has a number of defects which require immediate attention and repair to ensure that
the building is watertight. The work is required to be undertaken in phases over the summer months
to ensure that the premises is fit for purpose and mitigate the potential of the school having to close
due to water ingress.
Closing the school (if the works were not completed in a timely manner), would be highly challenging
as the LA does not have alternative provision of such a specialist nature to be able to decant the
pupils to.
MUGA
This MUGA pitch is very well used, most evenings and weekends by the community and at this time
whilst the pitch is closed on the grounds of health and safety the provision had been solely missed.
The costs associated to operating and maintaining this pitch have not previously been considered by
the Brookhouse School. Going forward the school may need to consider a nominal charging structure
to ensure that the operating costs of the pitch do not negatively impact on the schools revenue
budget.
A significant risk for both capital projects and also for those projects that have previously been
approved is the increasing costs materials, supply and manufacturing costs alongside the increasing
costs of labour. Given this changing economic climate, there is potential for future reports to the
Executive Board for financial variations for approved schemes of works.
Belmont School
The schools current boiler, providing heating and hot water is approaching the end of its serviceable
life, with replacement parts becoming unobtainable along with suitable alternatives. If a critical part is
to break this would leave the school with no heating or hot water, and potentially having to close for a
period. Therefore a replacement of the current boiler, in the warmer temperature months is
recommended.
Longshaw Junior School
The schools main water pipe has been subject to leaks and bursts previously, and reactive repairs
have been carried out, but further leaks have occurred, impacting the whole of the school. Potentially
leaving the school with no water and having to close for a period. Therefore it is recommended that
the current main water pipe is replaced.
5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
The Council has responsibility to ensure that all allocated funding for maintained sector schools is
used in accordance with the associated grant terms and conditions.
The capital projects added to the 2021/2022 programme will be closely monitored against agreed
performance indicators representing measures of quality, cost and timescales.
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
The capital projects added to the 2021/2022 programme are detailed at appendix 1.

Page 32
EBD: V1/21

Page 2 of 4

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
All procurement and contract activity in connection with the variations detailed in this report will be
carried out in accordance with the relevant parts of the Councils constitution and legislation.
8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Resource requirements for managing and coordinating the capital programme will be met from within
the current Building Consultancy structure and Education Leadership Team.

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Please select one of the options below. Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the
EIA.
Option 1

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed.

Option 2
In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated
with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA link here)
Option 3
In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA
associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA attachment)

10. CONSULTATIONS
Local Authority maintained schools (community controlled and voluntary controlled) are consulted
with on an annual basis to understand their current and future premises needs.

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure. They are also compliant with
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of
Corporate Governance.
12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following
the meeting.

VERSION: 1
CONTACT OFFICER: Carol Grimshaw
DATE: 23 May 2022

Page 33
EBD: V1/21

Page 3 of 4

BACKGROUND Appendix 1 – Schools Capital programme finance report
PAPER:

Page 34
EBD: V1/21

Page 4 of 4

Appendix 1

Schools and Education Capital Programme 2021 - 2022
LIVE PROJECTS
Spend Profile 2022-23
Project

Officer

Page 35

Lammack Primary School
CA
St Barnabas and St Pauls CE
WP
Avondale Primary School
RV
Shadsworth Infant School
RN
BCHS/Crosshill
School led
Darwen East
Longshaw Nursery
Lower Darwen Primary School
RN
Brunel Nursery School
CA
Feniscowles Primary School (Junior Building)
MO
Shadsworth Infant School
RN
Ashleigh
Ashworth Nursery
Audley Infants (Nursery)
Audley Infants
Audley Infants
Audley Infants & Juniors
Avondale
Belmont
Brookhouse Primary (Nursery)
Brookhouse Primary
Intack Primary
Longshaw Juniors
Lower Darwen Primary
Roe Lee
Roe Lee
Shadsworth Juniors
Turton & Edgworth
Meadowhead Infants
Lower Darwen Primary School
Stansfeld Centre / St Thomas Centre
Project Management Fee
Contingency budget

Delivery

In House
In House
In House
In House
School led

In House
In House
In House
In House
In House
In House
In House
In House
In House
In House
In House
In House
In House (Management)
In House (Management)
In House
In House
In House
In House
In House
In House (Management)
In House (Management)
In House
In House

RA

Description

Funding Source

Extension and remodel (additional places in line with housing growth)
New build and extension to provide extra places
Kitchen extension, remodel and refurbishment
Heating scheme
Refurbishment of Sunnyhurst Centre (Phase 1)
Additional places in line with housing growth
Relocation
Disability Access adaptations
External fencing
Disability Access adaptations
Extension and remodel (SEND)
Heating and Ventilation
Perimeter Fencing
Upgrade Fire Alarm
Resurfacing Pathways
Replacement of Fascias & Soffits
Replacing Windows & upstandings to lean-to roof structure
Resurface Playground
Replace Fire Alarm System
Replace Roof System
Replace Boilers
Replacement of external doors
Replace Fire Alarm System
Heating scheme
Roofing, upstandings and windows
Repairs to service road, external areas & automated gates
Replacement of boilers
Upgrade Fire Alarm
Drainage installations
Partial replacement of Fire Alarm System
Refurbishment to create additional alternative school provision capacity

For emergency H&S, Compliance and safeguarding works)

s106
Basic Need
SCA / DFC
SCA / DFC
SPF (SEND) / Basic Need
s106
s106 / Basic Need / 2 Year Old
SCA
SCA / DFC
SCA
SPF (SEND) / SCA / Basic Need
SCA / DFC
SCA / DFC
SCA / DFC
SCA / DFC
SCA
SCA / DFC
SCA / DFC
SCA / DFC
SCA / DFC
SCA / DFC
SCA / DFC
SCA / DFC
SCA / DFC
SCA / DFC
SCA / DFC
SCA / DFC
SCA / DFC
SCA / DFC
SCA
High Needs
Various
SCA

Basic Need
£
550,000
135,083

Schools
Condition
£

Two Year
Old Places
£

Special
Provision
Fund (SEND)
£

High Needs
Provision
£

Section 106
Funding
£
1,119,688

29,917
221,843

DFC/School
Cont
£

25,000

41,927
224,700

250,000

3,250,000
362,840

165,000
26,367
11,453
69,433
19,600
31,500
18,000
22,500
18,000
55,000
54,000
126,000
27,000
67,500
36,000
16,200
36,000
189,000
175,500
99,728
36,000
27,000
18,000
15,900

3,000
201,956
3,500
2,000
2,500
2,000
6,000
14,000
3,000
7,500
4,000
1,800
4,000
21,000
19,500
4,000
3,000
2,000
500,000

Total
£
1,669,688
135,083
29,917
246,843
41,927
3,250,000
752,540
26,367
14,453
69,433
471,556
35,000
20,000
25,000
20,000
55,000
60,000
140,000
30,000
75,000
40,000
18,000
40,000
210,000
195,000
99,728
40,000
30,000
20,000
15,900
500,000

25,000

25,000
100,000

50,000
100,000

Total

1,226,710

1,572,441

165,000

201,956

500,000

4,732,528

127,800

8,526,435

TOTAL LIVE PROJECTS

1,226,710

1,572,441

165,000

201,956

500,000

4,732,528

127,800

8,526,435

Section 106
Funding
£

DFC/School
Cont
£

NEW PROJECTS & VARIATIONS TO EXISTING PROJECTS
Spend Profile 2022-2023
Project

Officer

Delivery

Description

Funding Source

Basic Need
£
New schemes
Newfield School
Brookhouse School
Belmont Primary School
Longshaw Junior School

Repairs to the roof of the complex needs building
Repairs to the MUGA pitch
Replacement of boiler
Replacement of water main

SCA / DFC
SCA
SCA / DFC
SCA / DFC

Schools
Condition
£

Two Year
Old Places
£

Special
Provision
Fund (SEND)
£

High Needs
Provision
£

225,000
20,000
31,500
22,500

25,000

Total
£

3,500
2,500

250,000
20,000
35,000
25,000

TOTAL NEW PROJECTS

0

299,000

0

0

0

0

31,000

330,000

UNALLOCATED GRANTS REMAINING

1,710,512

373,426

49,000

0

0

0

335,895

2,468,833

CONFIRMED FUTURE YEARS ALLOCATIONS

1,190,893

1,323,241

0

0

3,123,113

0

217,946

5,855,193

TOTAL BUDGET

4,128,115

3,568,108

214,000

201,956

3,623,113

4,732,528

712,641

17,180,461

$eu2i1ln4.xlsx

Agenda Item 8.3
EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION
REPORT OF:

Executive Member for Public Health, Prevention
& Wellbeing

LEAD OFFICERS:

Acting Director of Adult Social Services (DASS)

DATE:

9th June 2022

PORTFOLIO/S
AFFECTED:

All

WARD/S AFFECTED:

(All Wards);

KEY DECISION:

YES

NO

SUBJECT: Changing Futures Programme

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Blackburn with Darwen (BwD) Borough Council is the lead authority for a Lancashire wide integrated
support programme for the most disadvantaged adults across the whole county named Changing
Futures.
The Changing Futures Programme is funded by the Department of Levelling Up Housing and
Communities (DLUHC) and The National Lottery Community Fund. The programme is being managed
by BwD Council via a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU). On behalf of the partners BwD Council
will receive a total of £6.499million over 3 years through to 2023-24.
Programme delivery is split across 4 changing futures locality footprints. BwD is hosting the core
programme delivery team and is the lead authority for Pennine, covering BwD and the 5 East
Lancashire boroughs. The other footprints are led by Blackpool, Preston and Lancaster Councils using
a disseminated governance framework, via an agreed MOU with each lead authority.
The MOU includes details of financial payments, audit of spend (approved by each lead authority’s
Section 151 Officer) and an agreed process to deal with any variations. DLUHC have issued year 1
funding of £1.901m and will imminently be issuing the most significant investment of the programme
which is in year 2 - £2.474m. Funds are paid in advance by DLUHC to assist with locality cash flow. As
the host organisation we will similarly be paying quarterly advances to each Local Authority, deducting
any underspend in the previous quarter in the next payment. Year 3 funding will be issued by the
National Lottery for £2.124m in April 2023.
The programme is being independently evaluated. BwD has led the development of a robust road map
to collect data to fulfil the programme data requirements, supported by data sharing frameworks.
The Lancashire programme is one of the most developed nationally in terms of partnerships and
delivery and has reached the point at which delivery with beneficiaries will begin across all 4 localities
imminently.

Page 36
EBD: V1/21

Page 1 of 5

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
That Executive Board:



Note and endorse the Council’s role as lead authority and accountable body
Note the approach to financial management through MOU’s with lead authorities across
Lancashire.

3. BACKGROUND
In January 2021, BwD along with colleagues from Lancashire submitted an Expression of Interest to
DLUHC for funding for the Changing Futures Programme as part of the Levelling Up programme. In
May 2021 a full bid and delivery plan was developed.
The bid was successful and Lancashire authorities were awarded £6.499m in July 2021, covering
financial years 2021-24, the largest grant issued in England.
The delivery plan put forward through the bid was based on 4 Locality areas, Central & West, North,
Fylde & Blackpool, and East Lancashire, delivering to adults with multiple disadvantage in ways that
are bespoke to the locality area’s needs. The Delivery plan also included centralised costs to be
administered by BwD for programme management and acting as the accountable body.
We were awarded a 32 month funding allocation with year 3 from the National Lottery Community Fund.
We have also been allocated a national (DLUHC) programme team and evaluation partners (Cordis
Bright and Social Finance) to monitor and guide the delivery plan.

4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS
The programme is fully funded and funding will be held by BwD and allocated to localities in line with
the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU). BwD has also led on data sharing, information sharing and
data security governance.

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
There are no policy implications as a result of the programme. Local Authority current policies and
processes will be utilised.

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
An amount of £6.499m has been allocated for the project over the three year period to March 2024. As
the Changing Futures Programme is a jointly funded project between DHLUC and the National Lottery
Community Fund (NLCF), the funding will be allocated to BwD by the DLUHC in 2021/22 and 2022/23
and thereafter by the NLCF. This will be held by BwD as Accountable Body and allocated to each
locality in advance, paid upon receipt of an invoice on a quarterly basis.
The funding allocation is as shown in the tables below:-

Page 37
EBD: V1/21

Page 2 of 5

DLUHC / Lottery Award

£

Year 1 DHLUC

1,901,061

Year 2 DHLUC
Year 3 The National Lottery
Community Fund

2,474,019

Total Award

6,499,065

Locality Totals
Core Programme Team Costs
Total Funding Allocation

2,123,985

Year 1
905,165
109,365
1,014,530

Year 2
2,785,874
328,095
3,113,969

Year 3
2,124,491
246,075
2,370,566

Total
5,815,530
683,535
6,499,065

As indicated in the table above, there is a central budget of £684k held by BwD for central programme
costs. This comprises primarily the Core Programme Team. Any costs arising from the cessation of the
Team at the end of the Programme will be met from with the grant award.
Funding will be allocated in line with the MOU signed by each locality. A Changing Futures
Lancashire Board has been established as part of the governance arrangements and the Board will
have oversight of the programme funding and expenditure. Allocated funding is as follows:
Central/West Locality (Led by Preston City Council): £1,662,560
Fylde Coast Locality (Led by Blackpool Council): £1,620,341
East Locality (Led by BwD Borough Council): £1,498,665
North Locality (Led by Lancaster City Council): £1,033,964

Localities are reimbursed for defrayed expenditure following receipt of quarterly returns, with a process
agreed to utilise underspends via the Changing Futures Lancashire Board.
The MOU states that any overall programme underspend is used to achieve efficiency savings, prior to
distribution of additional resources across the programme. Again, this is governed through the
Changing Futures Lancashire Board. Likewise, any adjustments to Locality allocations are submitted
to the Lancashire Board for approval, with scrutiny from BwD finance.
It is expected that all costs arising from this programme are fully covered by the grant funding award,
and that there will be no additional costs to BwD.

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
The MOU’s utilised for this programme were developed by the Programme Team in line with the DLUHC
MOU template agreed for the overall programme. The draft MOU’s were approved by the Lancashire
Changing Futures Board before being issued to each lead local authority where they were approved by
the relevant S151 officers. The MOU’s are not a legally binding contract but an agreement that offer
provisions for how funding will be distributed to each budget holding authority and how any overspend
or underspend will be managed. The arrangements under the MOU’s will be kept under review by
DLUHC, Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council and the Changing Futures Board,

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

Page 38
EBD: V1/21

Page 3 of 5

There are no additional resource implications arising from this report. Services have been
commissioned to complete the programme. Some existing staff have been seconded to the programme
and their posts backfilled.

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Please select one of the options below. Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the
EIA.
Option 1

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed.

Option 2
In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated
with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA link here)
Option 3
In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA
associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA attachment)

10. CONSULTATIONS
Changing Futures has been co-produced with people who have Lived Experience from the Expression
of Interest Stage.

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure. They are also compliant with equality
legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of
Corporate Governance.

12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following the
meeting.

VERSION: 1
CONTACT OFFICER: Victoria Holmes
DATE: 31st May 2022
BACKGROUND
PAPER:

Page 39
EBD: V1/21

Page 4 of 5

Page 40
EBD: V1/21

Page 5 of 5

Agenda Item 8.4
EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION
REPORT OF:

Executive Member for Digital and Customer
Services

LEAD OFFICERS:

Strategic Director of Resources (SIRO)

DATE:

Thursday, 14 July 2022

PORTFOLIO/S
AFFECTED:

Digital and Customer Services

WARD/S AFFECTED:

(All Wards);

KEY DECISION:

Y

SUBJECT: EB Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 Procedure and Guidance
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
This is a report to the Executive Board
to request approval of the newly drafted corporate RIPA Procedure and Guidance which is
compliant with the latest Home Office Statutory Codes of Practice and
to inform the Board that once that is approved the recommendations made by the Inspector
from the Investigatory Powers Commissioners Office in 2019 will have been followed.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Executive Board:
Agrees to adopt the new Procedure and Guidance see Appendix 1, and
Note that the recommendations of the last inspection including ensuring that the
Procedure and Guidance complies with the new Codes of Practice and undertaking the
required training have been followed.
3. BACKGROUND
3.1 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) was introduced to provide a legal
framework within which law enforcement agencies could undertake covert methods of
investigation, namely, covert surveillance and the use of what are called ‘covert human
intelligence sources’ (CHIS) lawfully. The main purpose of RIPA was to ensure that public
authorities only interfered with an individual’s human right to respect for their private and family
life where it was necessary for the purposes of detection and prevention of crime and
proportionate to their aims. This is a human right that is enshrined in the Human Rights Act
1998 and the European Convention on Human Rights. Examples of the types of offences that
this Council investigates mainly for the purposes of public protection are trading standards

Page 41

EBD: V1/21

Page 1 of 5

offences (tobacco regulations, illegal puppy farming and trademarks infringements or underage
sales), food safety and fly-tipping.
3.2
This legal framework consists of an internal system of authorisation. An investigating
officer will complete an application form which is then submitted to the Authorising Officer
appointed by the Council who will decide whether or not to approve it. In the form the officer
will set out why the proposed operation is lawful, necessary and proportionate. The law,
definitions and guidance to enable this to be done, including the necessary forms to complete
are set out in the Procedure and Guidance.
3.3 This whole process is overseen by the Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) who is the
Strategic Director of Resources and responsible for ensuring that corporate processes are
being followed. Alongside this the RIPA Co-ordinator, who is the Deputy Director Legal &
Governance (Council Solicitor) is responsible for ensuring compliance by ensuring the
integrity of the processes. Their duties also include, organising training, overseeing the use of
the powers internally and recording that use, error reporting and engagement with the IPCO
for inspections.
3.4
There are meetings held every 6 months convened by the SRO, of a group of officers
who submit information as to whether any covert investigations have taken place or are likely
to, and who assist to develop procedures and guidance in this area. The draft Procedure and
Guidance was developed and worked up into this final form by the Group under the auspices
of the SRO and the RIPA Co-ordinator.
3.5
Only when an application to undertake the covert investigation has been properly
authorised, can it then be submitted to a magistrates’ court for judicial approval.
3.6
On 22 June 2022 the Policy and Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (the Committee) was provided with an update on RIPA (Regulation of Investigatory
Powers Act). The purpose of the report was to inform Members of any RIPA
activity/applications, RIPA training delivered to officers, the compliance with recommendations
of the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office (IPCO) and to approve the new Procedure
and Guidance to ensure the compliance with the current RIPA Codes of Practice issued by
the Home office.
3.7
The IPCO Inspection in 2019 recommended some amendments to the existing
Procedure and Guidance so as to accord with the most recent Codes of practice and
recommended that some ‘desktop’ training sessions be held for the enforcement officers which
contained actual scenarios.
3.8
The Council’s enforcement officers have not carried out any covert methods of
investigation since 2016. They would normally try to undertake all investigations in an open
manner using more overt methods such as taking statements from witnesses and undertaking
formal interviews of suspects under the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984. Cameras that
are deployed are ‘overt’ in that there are signs in prominent places warning the public that
there are cameras, thus taking these outside the RIPA regime (but these are regulated by
other legislation.) However, the powers are there in case there should be a case when it is
considered to be appropriate.
3.9
IPCO does recognise that the decision as to whether or not to use covert methods using
the RIPA processes is an operational decision that is entirely for the Council to make in each

Page 42

EBD: V1/21

Page 2 of 5

case, but stated that it is resource that assists in the lawful use of these powers. The IPCO
himself reported that only a handful of local authorities inspected in 2019 used covert methods.
Despite this Council’s own preference not to use the powers, the IPCO still has a legal duty to
inspect Councils every three years. There should be an inspection in September/October of
this year. The inspections are mainly to ensure that Councils and their officers are aware of the
law so that they carry out covert investigative methods lawfully.
3.10 At the next inspection the IPCO will look at the Council’s Procedure and Guidance
document and ensure that it accords with the RIPA Codes of Practice and will examine the
Council’s training of officers.
Procedure and Guidance
3.11 The Procedure and Guidance is necessarily detailed and extensive as it has to cover all
the parts of RIPA and Home Office Codes relating to directed (covert) surveillance and the use
of CHIS. There is a shorter executive summary of the Procedure and Guidance attached at
Appendix 2. It sets out the legal definitions of directed surveillance and CHIS, necessity,
proportionality and other relevant provisions of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act
2000, identifies the officers with responsibility including the SRO and the RIPA Co-ordinator
and explains where to find the requisite forms. It ensures that officers will only undertake covert
investigative methods where it is necessary and proportionate and will allow the Council, with
appropriate record keeping, to demonstrate the reasoning for their decisions to do so.
Training
3.12 The desk-top exercises took place on 15 December 2021 and 27 January 2022 run by
the Council’s Service Lead Public Protection and Principal Solicitor - Litigation. They were
interactive sessions, despite taking place online on Microsoft Teams. Their content consisted
of a brief recap of the law and discussions using a number scenarios across different types of
Council investigations with discussions around whether to employ directed surveillance and
use of CHIS.
3.13 Training run by outside training providers has also taken place in previous years most
recently being on 9th of October 2019 – full day and 29 November 2019 ½ day and both were
focused on CHIS.
3.14 Training Sessions will take place to introduce all investigating officers to the new
Procedure and Guidance.
4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS
This Procedure and Guidance will assist to increase awareness amongst Council officers and
ensure compliance with the Human Rights Act 1998. The Council is obliged to adopt the new
RIPA Procedure and Guidance to ensure it is compliant with current Home Office Codes of
Practice and to enable it to produce it to the IPCO at the next inspection which is likely to be
this year.
5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
This Procedure and Guidance will update and replace the last one. It is not a change of policy.

Page 43
EBD: V1/21

Page 3 of 5

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
None
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Adoption of the new Procedure and Guidance is essential in order to show compliance with the latest
Home Office Codes of Practice.

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
None

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Please select one of the options below. Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the
EIA.
Option 1

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed.

Option 2
In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated
with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA link here)
Option 3
In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA
associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA attachment)

10. CONSULTATIONS
None required

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure. They are also compliant with
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of
Corporate Governance.
12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following
the meeting.

VERSION: 1
EBD: V1/21

Page 44
Page 4 of 5

CONTACT OFFICER: Shelagh Lyth
DATE: 23/06/2022
BACKGROUND
PAPER:

Page 45
EBD: V1/21

Page 5 of 5

Appendix 1

Regulation of Investigatory
Powers Act 2000
(RIPA)
Procedure and Guidance

PHF 4 July 2019 ADAPTED BY SJL FOR BWDC 2021

Page 46

1

Contents
Section
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Introduction
Scope of Procedure and Guidance
Background to RIPA and Lawful Criteria
Consequences of Not Following RIPA
Independent Oversight

Section
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.

PART B - Surveillance, Types and Criteria

Introduction
Surveillance Definition
Overt Surveillance
Covert Surveillance
Intrusive Surveillance Definition
Directed Surveillance Definition
Private Information
Confidential or Privileged Material
Lawful Grounds
Test Purchases
Urgent Cases
Surveillance for Preventing Disorder
CCTV
Automatic number Plate Recognition (ANPR)
Internet and Social Media Investigations
Surveillance Outside of RIPA (i.e. NON-RIPA)
Joint Agency Surveillance
Use of Third-Party Surveillance
Surveillance Equipment

Section
25.
26.
27.
28.
29.
30.
31.
32.
33.
34.
35.
36.
36.1.
36.4.
36.9.

PART A - Introduction & RIPA General

PART C - Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS)

Introduction
Definition of CHIS
Vulnerable and Juvenile CHIS
CHIS Criteria
Use and Conduct of a Source
Handler and Controller
Undercover Officers
Tasking
Risk Assessments
Use of Equipment by a CHIS
CHIS Management
CHIS Record Keeping
Central Record of Authorisations
Individual Source Records of Authorisation and Use of CHIS
Further Documentation

Page 47

2

Section
37.
38.
39.
40.
41.
42.
43.
44.

Senior Responsible Officer (SRO)
RIPA Co-Ordinator
Managers Responsibility and Management of the Activity
Investigating Officer/Applicant
Authorising Officer
Necessity
Proportionality
Collateral Intrusion

Section
45.
46.
47.
48.
49.
50.
51.
52.
53.
54.

Part F - Central Record & Safe-keeping the material

Introduction
Central Record
Safe-keeping and the Use of Surveillance Material
Authorised Purpose
Handling and Retention of Material
Use of Material as Evidence
Dissemination of Information
Storage
Copying
Destruction

Section
65.
65.3.
65.7.
66

PART E - The Application and Authorisation Process

Relevant Forms
Durations
Application/Authorisation
Arranging the court Hearing for Judicial Approval
Attending the Court Hearing
Decision of the J.P.
Post Court Procedure
Reviews
Renewals
Cancellation

Section
55.
56
57.
58.
59.
60.
61.
62.
63.
64.

PART D - RIPA Roles and Responsibilities

Part G - Errors and Complaints

Errors
Relevant error
Serious Error
Complaints

Appendix A Internet & Social Media Research & Investigations Guidance
Appendix B List Relevant Officers names and titles

Page 48

3

PART A

Introduction & RIPA General

1. Introduction
1.1

The performance of certain investigatory functions of local authorities may require the
surveillance of individuals or the use of undercover officers and informants. Such
actions may intrude on the privacy of individuals and can result in private information
being obtained and as such, should not be undertaken without full and proper
consideration. The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) governs these
activities and provides a means of ensuring that they are carried out in accordance
with law and subject to safeguards against abuse.
All surveillance activity can pose a risk to local authorities from challenges under the
HRA or other processes. Therefore, all staff involved in the process shall take their
responsibilities seriously so as to enhance the integrity of these processes, procedures
and oversight responsibilities which have been adopted by Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Council (the Council).
This Procedural Guidance closely follows the RIPA Codes of Practice (Revised August
2018)1 and the Office of Surveillance Commissioners (OSC) Procedures and
Guidance 2016 (which were adopted by the Investigatory Powers Commissioner). This
Procedural Guidance will replace the previous version on the date referred to in the
version control table.
If having read this document you are unclear about any aspect of the process, seek
the advice from the RIPA Co-ordinator.

2.

Scope of this Procedural Guidance (Guidance)

2.1

The purpose of this Procedure and Guidance (Guidance) is to provide a consistent
approach to the authorisation and undertaking of surveillance activity that is carried out
by the Council. This includes the use of undercover officers and informants, known as
Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS). This will ensure that the Council complies
with the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA).

2.2

The Guidance sets out the Council’s procedure for the authorisation processes and
the roles of the respective staff involved.

2.3

The Guidance also sets out the Council’s procedure relating to surveillance which is
considered necessary in the public interest to be undertaken by the authority but
cannot be authorised under the RIPA legislation. This type of surveillance will have to
be compliant with the Human Rights Act and is referred to as ‘Non-RIPA’. (See para
21).

1

CHIS Code (publishing.service.gov.uk)

Page 49

4

2.4

The Guidance also identifies how it fits with other guidance, policies and legislation,
particularly with the Human Rights Act 1998, GDPR/Data Protection Act 2018 and the
Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996.

2.5

All RIPA covert activity will have to be authorised and conducted in accordance with
this Guidance, the RIPA legislation and the Home Office Codes of Practice. Therefore,
all officers involved in the process will have regard to this document and the statutory
RIPA Codes of Practice issued and updated from time to time under section 71 RIPA
(current version issued in August 2018) for both Directed Surveillance and the use of
Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS). This is a link to the 2 Codes of Practice:

Covert surveillance and covert human intelligence sources codes of practice GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
3.

Background to RIPA and Lawful Criteria

3.1

On 2nd October 2000 the Human Rights Act 1998 (HRA) came into force. Section 6
states that it is unlawful for a public authority to act in a way which is incompatible with
a Convention right. This makes it unlawful for a local authority to breach any article of
the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR).

3.2

Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights is set out below:

Right to respect for private and family life
1

Everyone has the right to respect for his private and family life, his home and his
correspondence.

2

There shall be no interference by a public authority with the exercise of this right
except such as is in accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic
society in the interests of national security, public safety or the economic wellbeing of the country, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection
of health or morals, or for the protection of the rights and freedoms of others.

3.3

The right under Article 8 is a qualified right and public authorities can interfere with this
right for the reasons given in 3.2 (2) above if it is necessary and proportionate to do
so.

3.4

Those who undertake Directed Surveillance or CHIS activity on behalf of a local
authority may breach an individual’s Human Rights, unless such surveillance is lawful,
consistent with Article 8 of the ECHR and is both necessary (see section 42) and
proportionate (see section 43) to the matter being investigated.

3.5

RIPA provides a legal framework for justified interference by law enforcement
authorities to ensure that any such activity undertaken, together with the information
obtained, is HRA compatible and lawful.

3.6

However, under RIPA, local authorities can now only authorise Directed Surveillance
for the purpose of preventing or detecting conduct which constitutes a criminal offence
which is punishable (whether on summary conviction or indictment) by a maximum

Page 50

5

term of at least six months imprisonment; (serious crime criteria) or involves the illegal
sale of alcohol or tobacco to children. (See Sec 14 re ‘lawful grounds)
3.7

The lawful criteria for CHIS authorisation is also prevention and detection of crime and
prevention of disorder BUT the offence investigated is not limited to those that carry a
sentence of 6 months imprisonment.

3.8

Furthermore, the Council’s authorisation of Directed Surveillance or use of CHIS can
only take effect with judicial approval which means it can only take place once a court
order approving the authorisation has been granted by a Justice of the Peace (JP).

3.9

RIPA ensures that any surveillance and use of CHIS which is undertaken following a
correct authorisation and approval from a Justice of the Peace is lawful. Therefore, it
protects the authority from legal challenge. It also renders any activity authorised under
RIPA and the evidence obtained by that means ‘lawful for all purposes’.

4.

Consequences of Not Following RIPA

4.1

Although not obtaining authorisation does not make the authorisation unlawful per se,
it does have some consequences: Evidence that is gathered may be inadmissible in court;
The subjects of surveillance can bring a claim against the local authority for
breach of their Article 8 rights which could be costly;
Reputational damage as well as financial loss – especially If a challenge
under Article 8 is successful;
Any person who believes that their rights have been breached can have their
complaint dealt with by the Investigatory Powers Tribunal (IPTC) (See
Complaints section 66)
The activity could be construed as an error and therefore have to be
investigated and a report submitted by the Senior Responsible Officer to the
Investigatory Powers Commissioner's Office (IPCO). (See Sec 65 Errors)

4. Independent Oversight

5.1

From 1 Sept 2017 oversight was given to the Investigatory Powers Commissioner's
Office (IPCO). They are the independent inspection office whose remit includes
providing comprehensive oversight of the use of the powers to which the RIPA code
applies, and adherence to the practices and processes described in it. They also
provide guidance to be followed which is separate to the codes. Their main oversight
duties are set out in section 229 of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2016.

Page 51

6

5.2

The 2016 Act gives them have unfettered access to all locations, documentation and
information systems as is necessary to carry out their full functions and duties and they
will periodically inspect the records and procedures of the Council to ensure the
appropriate authorisations have been given, reviewed, cancelled, and recorded
properly.

5.3

It is the duty of any person who uses these powers to comply with any request made
by a Commissioner to disclose or provide any information they require for the purpose
of enabling them to carry out their functions. Therefore, it is important that the Council
can show it complies with this Guidance and with the provisions of RIPA 2000 and
2016.

PART B

Surveillance, Types and Criteria

6.

Introduction

6.1

It is important to understand the definition of surveillance; what activities are classed
as surveillance under RIPA. Surveillance can be both overt and covert but not all
surveillance can be authorised under RIPA and so become ‘lawful for all purposes’.
There are also different degrees of authorisation depending on the circumstances.

7.

Surveillance Definition

7.1

Surveillance is:
Monitoring, observing or listening to persons, their movements, their
conversations or their other activities or communications.
Recording anything monitored, observed or listened to in the course of
surveillance,
Surveillance by means of a surveillance device.

8.

Overt Surveillance

8.1

Overt surveillance is where the subject of surveillance is aware that it is taking place,
either by way of signage such as in the use of CCTV or because the person subject of
the surveillance has been informed of the activity.

8.2

Overt surveillance is outside the scope of RIPA and therefore does not require
authorisation. However, it still must take account of privacy under the Human Rights

Page 52

7

Act 1998 and be necessary and proportionate. Any personal data obtained will also
be subject of the Data Protection Act.

9.

Covert Surveillance

9.1

Covert Surveillance is defined as “surveillance which is carried out in a manner
calculated to ensure that the persons subject to the surveillance are unaware that it is
or may be taking place” and is covered by RIPA. Covert surveillance is categorised as
either intrusive or directed.

9.2

There are three categories of covert surveillance regulated by RIPA: 1) Intrusive surveillance (Local Authorities are not permitted to carry out
intrusive surveillance).
2) Directed Surveillance;
3) Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS).

10.

Intrusive Surveillance

10.1

Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council has no authority in law to carry out Intrusive
Surveillance. Only the Police and other central government law enforcement agencies
can lawfully carry out intrusive surveillance.

10.2

Intrusive surveillance is defined in section 26(3) of the 2000 Act as
covert surveillance which
Is carried out in relation to anything taking place on any residential premises
or in any private vehicle; and
Involves the presence of an individual on the premises or in the vehicle or is
carried out by means of a surveillance device.

10.3

Where surveillance is carried out in relation to anything taking place on any residential
premises or in any private vehicle by means of a device, without that device being
present on the premises, or in the vehicle, it is not intrusive unless the device
consistently provides information of the same quality and detail as might be expected
to be obtained from a device actually present on the premises or in the vehicle. Thus,
an observation post outside premises, which provides a limited view and no sound of
what is happening inside the premises, would not be considered as intrusive
surveillance.

Page 53

8

10.4

The capability of equipment being used for surveillance on residential premises and
private vehicles, such as high-powered zoom lenses, should be considered to ensure
that its use does not meet the criteria of Intrusive Surveillance.

11.

Directed Surveillance Definition

11.1

The Council can lawfully carry out Directed Surveillance for the prevention and
detection of crime and prevention of disorder where the crime is punishable by
imprisonment of 6 months or is relating to the illegal sale of tobacco or alcohol to
children. However, surveillance is only Directed Surveillance if the following are all
true:
•

It is covert, but not intrusive surveillance;

•

It is conducted for the purposes of a specific investigation or operation;

•

It is likely to result in the obtaining of private information (see private
information below) about a person (whether or not one specifically identified
for the purposes of the investigation or operation);

•

It is conducted otherwise than by way of an immediate response to events or
circumstances the nature of which is such that it would not be reasonably
practicable for an authorisation to be sought.

12.

Private information

12.1

By its very nature, surveillance may involve invading an individual’s right to privacy.
The level of privacy which individuals can expect depends upon the nature of the
environment they are in at the time. For example, within an individual’s own home or
private vehicle, an individual can expect the highest level of privacy. The level of
expectation of privacy may reduce if the individual transfers out into public areas.

12.2

The Code of Practice provides guidance on what is private information. They state
private information includes any information relating to a person’s private or family life.
As a result, private information is capable of including any aspect of a person’s private
or personal relationship with others, such as family and professional or business
relationships.

12.3

Whilst a person may have a reduced expectation of privacy when in a public place,
covert surveillance of that person’s activities in public may still result in the obtaining
of private information. This is likely to be the case where that person has a reasonable
expectation of privacy even though acting in public and where a record is being made
by a public authority of that person’s activities for future consideration or analysis.
Surveillance of publicly accessible areas of the internet should be treated in a similar

Page 54

9

way, recognising that there may be an expectation of privacy over information which
is on the internet, particularly where accessing information on social media websites.
12.4

Private life considerations are particularly likely to arise if several records are to be
analysed together in order to establish, for example, a pattern of behaviour, or if one
or more pieces of information (whether or not available in the public domain) are
covertly (or in some cases overtly) obtained for the purpose of making a permanent
record about a person or for subsequent data processing to generate further
information. In such circumstances, the totality of information gleaned may constitute
private information even if individual records do not. This can be particularly applicable
where internet surveillance is carried out. Where such conduct includes covert
surveillance, a Directed Surveillance authorisation may be considered appropriate.

12.5

Private information may include personal data, such as pictures of a person’s face,
names, telephone numbers, car registration numbers and address details. Where such
information is acquired by means of covert surveillance of a person having a
reasonable expectation of privacy, a Directed Surveillance authorisation is appropriate.

12.6

Information which is non-private may include publicly available information such as,
books, newspapers, journals, TV and radio broadcasts, newswires, websites, mapping
imagery, academic articles, conference proceedings, business reports, photographs,
videos and more. Such information may also include commercially available data
where a fee may be charged, and any data which is available on request or made
available at a meeting to a member of the public.

12.7

There is also an assessment to be made regarding the risk of obtaining collateral
intrusion which is private information about persons who are not subjects of the
surveillance (see section 44).

13.

Confidential or Privileged Material

13.1

This is defined in the Codes of Practice as material that has the quality of confidence
in common law and in particular reference is made to confidential journalistic material
and sources of journalistic information, other confidential personal information such as
medical records or spiritual counselling, confidential discussions between Members of
Parliament and their constituents and also matters subject to legal privilege.

13.2

Particular consideration should be given in cases where the subject of the investigation
or operation might reasonably assume a high degree of confidentiality. This includes
where the material contains information that is legally privileged, confidential
journalistic material or where material identifies a journalist’s source, where material
contains confidential personal information or political information such as
communications between a Member of Parliament and another person on constituency
business.

13. 3 According to the Annex to the Codes of Practice, Directed Surveillance likely or intended
to result in the acquisition of knowledge of confidential or privileged material must be

Page 55

10

authorised by the ‘Head of Paid Service’ who is the Council’s Chief Executive who
must seek legal advice from the RIPA Co-Ordinator prior to authorisation.
13.2

Advice should be sought from the RIPA Co-Ordinator by investigating officers at the
earliest stage if there is a likelihood of obtaining this type of material.

14.

Lawful Grounds

14.1

Authorisation for Directed Surveillance cannot be given unless it is to be carried out for
the purpose of preventing or detecting a criminal offence(s) and it meets the serious
crime test i.e. that the criminal offence which is sought to be prevented or detected is
1) Punishable, whether on summary conviction or on indictment, by a maximum
term of at least 6 months of imprisonment, or,
2) Would constitute an offence under sections 146, 147 or 147A of the Licensing
Act 2003 or section 7 of the Children and Young Persons Act 1933 (see 1.4
above) – sale of alcohol or tobacco to children.

14.2

Preventing or detecting crime goes beyond the prosecution of offenders and includes
actions taken to avert, end or disrupt the commission of criminal offences.

14.3

For CHIS authorisations the lawful grounds are the same in that it is to be carried out
for the purpose of preventing or detecting a criminal offence(s) BUT NB it does not
have to meet the serious crime test. (cf para 3.7)

15.

Test Purchases

15.1

Test purchase activity does not in general require authorisation as a CHIS under RIPA
as vendor-purchaser activity does not normally constitute a relationship as the contact
is likely to be so limited. However, if a number of visits are undertaken at the same
establishment to encourage familiarity, a relationship may be established and
authorisation as a CHIS should be considered. If the test purchaser is wearing
recording equipment and is not authorised as a CHIS, or an adult is observing,
consideration will be given as to whether in any particular case a Directed Surveillance
authorisation should be granted. There is an example in the current Directed
Surveillance Code of Practice (para 3.33) of an underage test purchaser of alcohol
wearing a surveillance device and it recommends that consideration should be given
to granting a directed surveillance authorisation.

15.2

Note that an authorisation is only needed where the surveillance meets the Directed
Surveillance threshold namely, covert surveillance in a situations where you are likely
to obtain private information.

15.3

Remember that it is only where the offence carries a maximum sentence of 6 months
imprisonment or involves the sale of alcohol or tobacco to children that RIPA will apply.

Page 56

11

If it does not meet that threshold or it is decided not to apply for an authorisation, it is
important that a full written risk assessment is done in which the activity is justified from
the aspect of compliance with Article 8 and section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998.
In addition, in all cases which are outside the scope of RIPA the Authorising Officer
should consider the use of a non-RIPA application for this where it is likely that private
information will be obtained as a way to achieve and show compliance.
15.4

When conducting covert test purchase operations at more than one establishment, it
is not necessary to construct an authorisation for each premise to be visited but the
intelligence must be sufficient to prevent “fishing trips”. Premises may be combined
within a single authorisation provided that each is identified at the outset. Necessity,
proportionality, and collateral intrusion must be carefully addressed in relation to each
of the premises.

15.5

NB. It is unlikely that authorisations will be considered proportionate without
demonstration that overt methods have been considered or attempted and failed.
Adequate reasons for not using or not attempting overt methods will be needed. (See
OSC Procedures & Guidance 2016)

16.

Urgent cases

16.1

Since 1 November 2012 there has been no provision to enable urgent oral
authorisations to be given under RIPA as all authorisations now have to be approved
by a Justice of the Peace which takes time. If any surveillance within the definition of
Directed Surveillance was required to be carried out in an urgent situation or as an
immediate response, this could still take place but only outside RIPA – as a ‘Non-Ripa’in exceptional cases provided that it could be shown to be justified as necessary and
proportionate in accordance with Article 8 ECHR and the Human Rights Act 1998. (see
section 21 below). Should it ever appear to an Investigating Officer that an urgent oral
Non RIPA authorisation is required he should contact an Authorising Officer who will
consider the legality, necessity and proportionality when deciding whether to grant it
orally. Once granted the AO must make a formal note of the reasons for the decision
using a non-RIPA form as a template and place it on the file of the case and provide a
copy for the RIPA Co-ordinator and Senior Responsible Officer as soon a reasonably
practicable.

17.

Surveillance for Preventing Disorder

17.1

Authorisation for the purpose of preventing disorder can only be granted if it involves
a criminal offence(s) punishable (whether on summary conviction or indictment) by a
maximum term of at least 6 months' imprisonment. Surveillance for disorder not
meeting these criteria would need to be carried out as surveillance outside of RIPA in
accordance with the Non-RIPA procedure. (See below)

Page 57

12

18.

CCTV

18.1

CCTV is now known as a Surveillance Camera System Section 29(6) Protection of
Freedoms Act 2012. “Surveillance camera systems” is taken to include:
(a) closed circuit television (CCTV) or automatic number plate recognition
(ANPR) systems;
(b) any other systems for recording or viewing visual images for surveillance
purposes;

18.2 The Surveillance Camera Code of Practice 2013 defines a ‘surveillance camera system’
as:
any other systems for recording or viewing visual images for surveillance
purposes;
any systems for storing, receiving, transmitting, processing or checking the
images or information obtained.
This includes
CCTV, Body Worn Video (BWV) and dash cams,
Automatic Number Plate Recognition;
Deployable mobile overt mobile camera systems e.g. to observe fly-tipping
sites.
Any other system for recording or viewing visual images for surveillance
purposes;
Any systems for storing, receiving, transmitting, processing or checking images
or information obtained by those systems; and
Any other systems associated with, or otherwise connected with those
systems.
18.3

The use of CCTV systems operated by the Council do not normally fall under the RIPA
regulations. However, they are also governed by the Data Protection Act 2018,
Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 and the Surveillance Camera Code 2013 issued by
the Surveillance Camera Commissioner. In addition, they are governed by guidance
issued by the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO), namely: ‘In the picture: a data
protection code of practice for surveillance cameras and personal information’ and the
Council’s CCTV Code of Practice.

18.4

Should there be a requirement for the CCTV cameras to be used to conduct
surveillance for a different and/or another specific purpose or operation it is likely that
the activity will fall under Directed Surveillance and therefore require an authorisation.
Therefore, operators of the Councils CCTV system need to be aware of the RIPA
issues associated with using CCTV and that continued, prolonged systematic

Page 58

13

surveillance of an individual or spaces where targeted individuals frequent may require
an authorisation.
18.5

On the occasions when the CCTV cameras are to be used in a Directed Surveillance
situation either by enforcement officers from relevant departments within the Council
or outside Law Enforcement Agencies such as the Police, CCTV staff should always
be supplied with an assurance in writing (e.g. by official e-mail from the organisation
concerned) that there is a RIPA authorisation in place, what it is for, the name and rank
of the authorising officer and also the expiry date. A copy of the authorisation form in
a redacted format, or a copy of the authorisation page could be requested in some
cases if it is considered by the operators of the CCTV system to be necessary. If it is
an urgent oral authority from the Police, a copy of the applicant’s notes are to be
retained or at least some other document in writing which confirms the authorisation
and exactly what has been authorised. It is important that the staff check the authority
and only carry out what is authorised. This information is also to be forwarded to the
Central Record kept by the RIPA Co-Ordinator filing. This will assist the Council to
evaluate the authorisations and assist with oversight.

19.

Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR)

19.1

Automated Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) does not engage RIPA if it is used for
the purpose it is registered for, such as traffic flow management or safety and
enforcement within car parks. However, it is capable of being a surveillance device if
used in a pre-planned way to carry out surveillance by monitoring a particular vehicle
by plotting its locations, e.g. in connection with illegally depositing waste (fly-tipping).

19.2

Should it be necessary to use any ANPR systems to monitor vehicles, RIPA principles
of lawfulness necessity and proportionality apply and a Directed Surveillance
Authorisation should be sought.

20

Internet and Social Media Investigations

20.1

Online open source research is widely regarded as the collection, evaluation and
analysis of material from online sources available to the public, whether by payment
or otherwise to use as intelligence and evidence.

20.2

The use of online open source internet and social media research techniques has
become a productive method of obtaining information to assist local authorities with
their regulatory and enforcement functions. It can also assist with service delivery
issues and debt recovery. However, the use of the internet and social media is
constantly evolving and with it the risks associated with these types of enquiries,
particularly regarding breaches of privacy under Article 8 Human Rights Act (HRA) and
other operational risks.

Page 59

14

20.3

The internet is another method of carrying out surveillance (defined in section 7) and
that makes a computer ‘a surveillance device’. Repeated viewing of ‘open source’ sites
for the purpose of intelligence gathering and data collation on one individual and their
family may constitute Directed Surveillance or if outside the definition and outside RIPA
it could constitute a breach of Article 8 ECHR. Activities of monitoring through, for
example, a Facebook profile for a period of time where a record of the information is
kept for later analysis or evidential purposes is likely to require a RIPA authorisation if
it is done to obtain evidence of a crime carrying over 6 months imprisonment. If it is
outside RIPA a Non-RIPA form should be completed. Where covert contact is made
with another person on the internet a CHIS authority may be required.

20.4

Where the activity falls within the criteria of surveillance or CHIS outside of RIPA, again
this will require authorising as a ‘non RIPA’ matter on a Non-RIPA form which will be
authorised by the RIPA Authorising Officers listed in appendix B.

20.5

NB There is more specific guidance that covers online open source research which
should be read and followed in conjunction at Appendix A of this Guidance headed,
‘Internet and Social Media Research and Investigations Guidance’.

21.

Surveillance Outside of RIPA i.e. ‘Non RIPA’

21.1

Compliance with RIPA provides a legal ‘shield’ because, rather like an insurance
policy, properly authorised Directed Surveillance is ‘lawful for all purposes’ and will
provide a defence against a claim for breach of Article 8.

21.2

In order to take advantage of that ‘shield’ Directed Surveillance must be for the
purpose of prevention and detection of crime and prevention of disorder and the
criminal offence concerned must carry a 6-month prison sentence (Directed
Surveillance crime threshold) or relate to the sale of alcohol or tobacco to children.

21.3

Some investigations relate to offences that do not meet this threshold and yet, it may
still considered necessary to undertake surveillance. Examples include:
Surveillance for anti-social behaviour disorder which do not attract a maximum
custodial sentence of at least six months imprisonment.
Planning enforcement prior to the serving of a notice or to establish whether a
notice has been breached.
Most licensing breaches.
Safeguarding vulnerable people (where it is clear that the evidence does not
indicate a criminal offence e.g. child neglect under section 1 of the Children
and Young Persons Act 1933).
Civil matters such as insurance claims.
Disciplinary surveillance (see below).

21.4

So in cases like those, where the surveillance is of an individual who is unaware they
are being monitored or observed and it not possible to engage the RIPA ‘shield’ there

Page 60

15

is a higher risk that this activity could breach someone’s article 8 rights to privacy.
Therefore, the activity should be conducted in way which is HRA compliant, which will
include considering whether the activity is lawful, necessary and proportionate.
21.5

Staff disciplinary surveillance such as poor time-keeping or other non-criminal
matters must be compliant with the Monitoring at Work Guidance issued by the
Information Commissioner’s Office. This is to ensure that is complies with the HRA and
the GDPR.

21.6

Should the investigation also involve a criminal offence which meets the RIPA criteria
such as theft or fraud, and it is intended to prosecute the offender, the option to carry
out the surveillance under RIPA should be considered so as to engage the RIPA
‘shield’. However, it must be planned as a genuine criminal investigation with a view
to prosecution.

21.7

Should it be necessary to undertake disciplinary surveillance, advice should be sought
from the RIPA Co-Ordinator.

21.8

As part of the process of formally recording and monitoring non-RIPA surveillance, a
non-RIPA surveillance application form should be completed and authorised by an
Authorising Officer. A template application form can be obtained from the RIPA CoOrdinator.

21.9

The Senior Responsible Officer (see 37 below for responsibilities etc) will maintain an
oversight of non-RIPA surveillance to ensure that such use is compliant with Human
Rights and other relevant legislation. The RIPA Co-Ordinator will maintain a Central
Record of non-RIPA surveillance in addition to the required Central Records for
Directed Surveillance and CHIS (see para 55 and 56).

21.10 The RIPA codes also provide guidance that authorisation under RIPA is not required
for the following types of activity:
General observations – see examples in section 3.33 in the codes of practice that
do not involve the systematic surveillance of an individual or a group of people and
should an incident be witnessed the officer will overtly respond to the situation. This
is not within the definition of surveillance.
Use of overt CCTV and overt Automatic Number Plate Recognition systems. This
is not covert so outside the definitions of directed and intrusive surveillance.
Surveillance where no private information is likely to be obtained. This is also
outside the definitions of directed and intrusive surveillance.
Surveillance undertaken as an immediate response to a situation. This is a situation
specifically excluded from the definition of directed surveillance.
Covert surveillance relating to a criminal offence other than one which is within the
RIPA criteria.
The use of a recording device by a CHIS in respect of whom an appropriate use or
conduct authorisation has been granted permitting them to record any information
in their presence. This is covered by the parameters set within the CHIS
authorisation.

Page 61

16

The covert recording of noise where the recording is of decibels only or constitutes
non-verbal noise (such as music, machinery or an alarm), or the recording of verbal
content is made at a level which does not exceed that which can be heard from the
street outside or adjoining property with the naked ear. In the latter circumstance,
the perpetrator would normally be regarded as having forfeited any claim to privacy.
In either circumstance this is outside of RIPA. This is because this does not
constitute private information.
21.11 Where it is deemed necessary to undertake an investigation to which RIPA is not
applicable but it does involve undertaking covert surveillance in a way that is directed
at an individual for a specific investigation over a period of time, if the officer is
concerned that private information is going to be gathered it is recommended that the
officer concerned completes a NON-RIPA application form.

22.

Joint Agency Surveillance

22.1

In cases where one agency is acting on behalf of another, it is usually for the tasking
agency to obtain or provide the authorisation. For example, where surveillance is
carried out by Council employees on behalf of the Police, authorisation would be
sought by the Police. If it is a joint operation involving both agencies, the lead agency
should seek authorisation.

22.2

Council staff involved with joint agency surveillance are to ensure that all parties taking
part are authorised on the RIPA authorisation form to carry out the activity. When staff
are operating on another organisation’s authorisation they are to ensure they see what
activity they are authorised to carry out and make a written record. They should also
provide a copy of the authorisation to the RIPA Co-Ordinator. This will assist with
oversight of the use of Council staff carrying out these types of operations. Line
Managers should be made aware if their staff are involved in this type of surveillance.

23.

Use of Third-Party Surveillance

23.1

In some circumstances it may be appropriate or necessary for Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Council to work with third parties who are not themselves a Public Authority
(such as an individual, company or non-governmental organisation) to assist with an
investigation. Where that third party is acting in partnership with or under the direction
of the Council, then they are acting as our agent and any activities that the third party,
or the individuals employed by that third party, carry out which meet the RIPA
definitions of Directed Surveillance should be authorised. This is because the agent or
employee carrying out the activity will be subject to RIPA in the same way as any
employee of the Council would be. The Council should ensure that any agents they
instruct are properly qualified, understand RIPA obligations and understand they could
be inspected by the IPCO, have clean DBS certificates, are ICO registered for data
protection purposes and have the necessary skills to achieve the objectives. Note that
such agents must be certified by a UKAS accredited certification body to the current
edition of BS102000 and are inspected annually so this is a simple check that can be
done. If advice is required, please contact the RIPA Co-Ordinator.

Page 62

17

23.2

Similarly, a surveillance authorisation should also be considered where the Council is
aware that a third party (that is not a Public Authority) is independently conducting
surveillance and the Council intends to make use of any suitable material obtained by
the third party for the purposes of a specific investigation.

24.

Surveillance Equipment

24.1

The Council will maintain a central (asset) register of all surveillance equipment such
as cameras and noise monitoring devices. This will require a description, Serial
Number, an explanation of its capabilities and where it is stored.

24.2

The register will be held and maintained by the RIPA Co-Ordinator. The equipment will
be stored securely by the issuing department.

24.3

All equipment capable of being used for Directed Surveillance such as cameras etc.
should be properly maintained and fit for purpose for which they are intended.

24.4

When completing an Authorisation, the applicant must provide the Authorising Officer
with details of any equipment to be used and its technical capabilities. The Authorising
Officer will have to take this into account when considering the intrusion issues,
proportionality and whether the equipment is fit for the required purpose. The
Authorising Officer must make it clear on the Authorisation exactly what equipment if
any they are authorising and in what circumstances.

PART C.

Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS)

25.

Introduction

25.1

A RIPA authorisation can also be obtained for the use of Covert Human Intelligence
Sources (CHIS). These are sources commonly known as informants (members of the
public providing the Council with information), and the activities of undercover officers.
They can be employees of the Council, agents or members of the public engaged by
the Council to establish or maintain a covert relationship with someone to in order to
obtain information.

25.2

Unlike directed surveillance, which interferes with Article 8 on the basis that it is likely
to result in obtaining information relating to a person’s private or family life, CHIS
relationships may amount to an interference regardless of whether such private
information is obtained. This is on the basis that Article 8 protects the right to establish
and develop relationships (both personal and professional). Covert manipulation of a
relationship by a public authority (e.g. where one party has a covert purpose and is
acting on behalf of a public authority) may therefore engage Article 8, regardless of
whether private information is obtained.

25.3

Not all human source activity will meet the definition of a CHIS. For example, a source
may be a public volunteer or someone who discloses information out of professional
or statutory duty or has been tasked to obtain information other than by way of a covert

Page 63

18

relationship. However, Officers must be aware that volunteers giving information may
have obtained that information in the course of an ongoing relationship with a family
member, friend, neighbour or business associate. The Council has a duty of care to all
members of the public who provide information to us and appropriate measures must
be taken to protect that source. How the information was obtained should be
established to determine the best course of action. The source and information should
also be managed correctly in line with CPIA and the disclosure provisions.
25.4

Recognising when a source becomes a CHIS is therefore important as this type of
activity may need authorisation. Council employees must ensure that their daily
interaction with members of the public does not inadvertently cross-over into CHIS
territory. For example, if a member of the public makes a complaint about antisocial
behaviour, they should not be asked to utilise a relationship with a person covertly to
obtain information about possible criminal offences because this amounts to the
tasking of a CHIS. Should a CHIS authority be required, all of the staff involved in the
process should make themselves fully aware of the contents of this Procedural
Guidance and the CHIS codes of Practice. (see link to Codes at 2.5)

25.5

Council employees should make themselves aware of the definition of a CHIS – para
26 below - to ensure that this cross-over never occurs without first obtaining of a CHIS
authorisation and all the accompanying safeguards are in place.

25.6

A CHIS, their conduct, and the use to which they are put is defined within Section 26(7)
and (8) of RIPA. Chapter 2 of the relevant Code also provides examples of where this
regime may apply.

25.7

Legal advice from the RIPA Co-Ordinator should always be sought where
consideration is to be given to the use of CHIS.

26.

Definition of CHIS

26.1

Individuals act as a covert human intelligence sources (CHIS) if they:
i) establish or maintain a covert relationship with another person to obtain
information.
ii) covertly give access to information to another person, or
iii) disclose information covertly which they have obtained using the relationship
or they have obtained because the relationship exists.

26.2

A relationship is established, maintained or used for a covert purpose if and only if it is
conducted in a manner that is calculated to ensure that one of the parties to the
relationship is unaware of the purpose. This does not mean the relationship with
the Council Officer/Handler and the person providing the information, as this is not
covert. It relates to how the information was either obtained or will be obtained. Was
it or will it be obtained from a third party without them knowing it was being
passed on to the Council? This would amount to a covert relationship.

26.3

It is possible, that a person will become engaged in the conduct of a CHIS without a
public authority inducing, asking or assisting the person to engage in that conduct. An

Page 64

19

authorisation should be considered, for example, where a public authority is aware that
a third party is independently maintaining a relationship (i.e. “self-tasking”) in order to
obtain evidence of criminal activity and the public authority intends to make use of that
material for its own investigative purposes. (Section 2.26 Codes of CHIS Codes of
Practice

27.

Vulnerable and Juvenile CHIS

27.1

Special consideration must be given to the use of a Vulnerable Individual as a CHIS.
A ‘vulnerable individual’ is a person who is or may be in need of community care
services by reason of mental or other disability, age or illness and who is or may be
unable to take care of himself, or unable to protect himself against significant harm or
exploitation. Any individual of this description, or a juvenile as defined below, should
only be authorised to act as a source in exceptional circumstances and only then when
authorised by the Chief Executive.

27.2

Special safeguards also apply to the use or conduct of juvenile sources; that is sources
under the age of 18 years. On no occasion should the use or conduct of a source under
16 years of age be authorised to give information against his parents or any person
who has parental responsibility for him.

27.3

If the use of a vulnerable individual or a juvenile is being considered as a CHIS you
must consult the RIPA Co-ordinator before authorisation is sought as authorisations
should not be granted in respect of a juvenile CHIS unless the special provisions
contained within the Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Juveniles) Order 2000; SI No.
2793 are satisfied and an enhanced risk assessment is undertaken.

27.4

Additional safeguards should be put in place where a juvenile is a CHIS in a case
where the CHIS is covered by a Criminal Conduct Authorisation. It is only in
exceptional circumstances whereby a juvenile CHIS can be used to commit assist in
or be involved in criminal conduct. Such exceptional circumstances will only exist for
these purposes where there is no reasonably foreseeable harm to the juvenile as a
result of the authorisation, and where the authorisation is believed to be compatible
with the best interests of the juvenile.

28.

CHIS Criteria

28.1

The lawful criteria for CHIS authorisation is prevention and detection of crime and
prevention of disorder. NB The serious crime criteria of the offence carrying
maximum penalty a 6-month sentence etc. does NOT apply to CHIS.

28.2

Authorisations for juvenile sources must be authorised by the Chief Executive of the
Council (or, in their absence, the Deputy Chief Executive).

28.3

All authorisations for use of CHIS must be ratified by a Justice of the Peace at a
magistrates’ court.

Page 65

20

29.

Use and Conduct of a Source

29.1

The way the Council would use a CHIS for covert activities is known as ‘the use and
conduct’ of a source.

29.2

The use of a CHIS involves any action on behalf of a public authority to induce, ask or
assist a person to engage in the conduct of a CHIS, or to obtain information by means
of the conduct of a CHIS.

29.3

The conduct of a CHIS is establishing or maintaining a personal or other relationship
with another person for the covert purpose of:
a. Using such a relationship to obtain information, or to provide access to
information to another person, or
b. Disclosing information obtained by the use of such a relationship or as a
consequence of such a relationship or
c. Is incidental to anything falling within a. and b. above.

29.4

In other words, an authorisation for conduct will authorise steps taken by the CHIS on
behalf, or at the request, of a public authority.

29.5

The use of a source is what the public authority does in connection with the source,
such as the interaction with them to select them and induce them. It will also include
what you ask them to do (see section 32). The conduct is what a source does to fulfil
whatever tasks are given to them or which is incidental to it. The use and conduct
require separate consideration before authorisation. However, they are normally
authorised within the same authorisation.

29.6

The same authorisation form is used for both use and conduct. A Handler and
Controller must also be designated, as part of the authorisation process, and the
application can only be authorised if necessary and proportionate. Detailed records of
the use, conduct and tasking of the source also have to be maintained (see section
36).

29.7

Care should be taken to ensure that the CHIS is clear on what is or is not authorised
at any given time, and that all the CHIS's activities are properly risk assessed and that
risk assessment is properly documented and retained for 5 years after the end of the
CHIS authorisation period. If external specialist agents are employed to undertake the
CHIS investigation, advice should be taken from them as to the proper content of such
risk assessment. Care should also be taken to ensure that relevant applications,
reviews, renewals and cancellations are correctly performed, documented and
retained in the same way. (Section 2.10 CHIS Codes of Practice)

29.8

Careful consideration must be given to any particular sensitivities in the local
community where the CHIS is being used and of similar activities being undertaken by
other public authorities which could have an impact on the deployment of the CHIS.
Consideration should also be given to any adverse impact on community confidence

Page 66

21

or safety that may result from the use or conduct of a CHIS or use of information
obtained from that CHIS. (Section 3.18 CHIS Codes of Practice)
Criminal Conduct by a CHIS
29.9

The Covert Human Intelligence Sources (Criminal Conduct) Act 2021 was enacted on
x and it amended RIPA so that ‘criminal conduct in the course of, or otherwise in
connection with, the conduct of covert human intelligence sources’ is now included in
the list of activities capable of being authorised under RIPA as well as Directed and
Intrusive surveillance and the use and conduct of a CHIS described above.

29.10 It provides an explicit statutory power for the intelligence agencies, law enforcement
and a limited number of wider public authorities, to authorise CHIS to participate in
criminal conduct where it is necessary and proportionate to do so. The CHIS Code of
Practice contains a section on this and contains the detail required should that be
necessary and proportionate.
29.11 So if it is, or becomes necessary to allow a CHIS to commit or assist in what would be
regarded as a crime in order to obtain information or evidence of a criminal enterprise
then a further authorisation must be obtained and this may occur during the
authorisation period of an existing CHIS authorisation which does not cover criminal
conduct. Essentially therefore there are now two types of CHIS authorisation one for
use and conduct, under s29 of RIPA and one for criminal conduct under section 29 A
RIPA. The CHIS Code says, ‘All criminal conduct that it is envisaged may form part of
the conduct of a CHIS should be authorised by means of a separate but linked Section
29B Criminal Conduct Authorisation’.

30.

Handler and Controller

30.1

Covert Human Intelligence Sources may only be authorised if the following
arrangements are in place:
That there will at all times be an officer (the Handler) within the Council who
will have day to day responsibility for dealing with the source on behalf of the
authority, and for the source’s security. The Handler is likely to be the
investigating officer.
That there will at all times be another officer within the Council who will have
general oversight of the use made of the source; (Controller) i.e. the line
manager.
That there will at all times be an officer within the Council who has
responsibility for maintaining a record of the use made of the source. See
CHIS record keeping (see section 36)

30.2

The Handler will have day to day responsibility for:
Dealing with the source on behalf of the Council;

Page 67

22

Risk assessments
Directing the day to day activities of the source;
Recording the information supplied by the source; and
Monitoring the source’s security and welfare.
Informing the Controller of concerns about the personal circumstances of the
CHIS that might effect the validity of the risk assessment or conduct of the CHIS
30.3

The Controller will be responsible for:
The management and supervision of the “Handler” and
General oversight of the use of the CHIS; (including ensuring that the handler
has completed the necessary risk assessments)
maintaining an audit of case work sufficient to ensure that the use or conduct
of the CHIS remains within the parameters of the extant authorisation.

31.

Undercover Officers

31.1

Oversight and management arrangements for undercover operatives, while following
the principles of RIPA, will differ, in order to reflect the specific role of such individuals
as members of the Council. The role of the handler will be undertaken by a person
such as the investigating officer who in this context may also be referred to as a ‘cover
officer’ and the role of controller will be undertaken by their line manager who may
also be referred to as the ‘covert operations manager’. (Section 6.9 CHIS Codes of
Practice).

32.

Tasking

32.1

Tasking is the assignment given to the source by the Handler or Controller such as by
asking them to obtain information, to provide access to information or to otherwise act,
incidentally, for the benefit of the Council. Authorisation for the use or conduct of a
source is required prior to any tasking where the assignment requires the source to
establish or maintain a personal or other relationship for a covert purpose.

32.2

In some instances, the tasking given to a person will not require the source to establish
a personal or other relationship for a covert purpose. For example, a member of the
public is asked to maintain a record of all vehicles arriving and leaving a specific

Page 68

23

location or to record the details of visitors to a neighbouring house. A relationship has
not been established or maintained in order to gather the information and a CHIS
authorisation is therefore not available. Other authorisations under RIPA, for example,
Directed Surveillance, may need to be considered where there is a possible
interference with the Article 8 rights of an individual.
32.3

Authorisations should not be drawn so narrowly that a separate authorisation is
required each time the CHIS is tasked. Rather, an authorisation might cover, in broad
terms, the nature of the source’s task.

32.4

When unforeseen action or undertakings occur on the “use and conduct” of a CHIS
whereby it is evident that the CHIS is required to commit, take part in or assist with the
commission of a criminal offence or offences a full record must be made, a further
risk assessment carried out and a proper assessment must be done to see whether a
new authorisation is required.

33.

Risk Assessments

33.1

The Council has a responsibility for the safety and welfare of the source and for the
consequences to others of any tasks given to the source. It is a requirement of the
codes that a risk assessment is carried out. This should be submitted with the
authorisation request. The risk assessment should provide details of how the CHIS is
going to be handled It should also take into account the safety and welfare of the CHIS
in relation to the activity and should consider the likely consequences should the role
of the CHIS become known. The ongoing security and welfare of the CHIS after the
cancellation of the authorisation should also be considered at the outset.

34.

Use of Equipment by a CHIS

34.1

If a CHIS is required to wear or carry a surveillance device such as a covert camera it
does not need a separate intrusive or directed surveillance authorisation, provided the
device will only be used in the presence of the CHIS. It should be authorised as part
of the conduct of the CHIS.

34.2

CHIS, whether or not wearing or carrying a surveillance device, in residential premises
or a private vehicle, does not require additional authorisation to record any activity
taking place inside those premises or that vehicle which takes place in their presence.
This also applies to the recording of telephone conversations. This should have been
identified at the planning stage.

35.

CHIS Management

Page 69

24

35.1

The operation will require managing by the handler and controller which will include
ensuring that the activities of the source and the operation remain focused and there
is no status drift. It is important that the intrusion is assessed to ensure the operation
remains proportionate. The security and welfare of the source will also be monitored.
The authorising officer should maintain general oversight of these functions.

35.2

During CHIS activity, there may be occasions when unforeseen actions or
undertakings occur. Such incidences should be recorded as soon as practicable after
the event and if the existing authorisation is insufficient, it should either be dealt with
by way of a review and re-authorised (for minor amendments only) or it should be
cancelled, and a new authorisation obtained before any further action is carried out.
Similarly, where it is intended to task a CHIS in a new significantly different way than
previously identified, the proposed tasking should be referred to the Authorising
Officer, who should consider whether a separate authorisation is required. This should
be done in advance of any tasking and details of such referrals must be recorded.

36.

CHIS Record Keeping

36.1

Central Record of Authorisations

36.2

A centrally retrievable record of all authorisations is held by the Council. This record
contains the relevant information to comply with the Codes of Practice. These records
are updated whenever an authorisation is granted, renewed or cancelled and are
available to the Investigatory Powers Commissioner (IPCO) upon request. (see also
paragraphs 55 and 56 of this procedure)

36.3

The records are retained for no less than 5 years from the ending of the authorisation
subject to any reasonable increase of this time period in relation to particular cases by
the Authorising Officer. (see paragraph 59.6 relating to data protection)

36.4

Individual Source Records of Authorisation and Use of CHIS

36.5

Detailed records must be kept of the authorisation and the use made of a CHIS. An
authorising officer must not grant an authorisation for the use or conduct of a CHIS
unless they believe that there are arrangements in place for ensuring that there is at
all times a person with the responsibility for maintaining a record of the use made of
the CHIS. The Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Source Records) Regulations
2000; SI No: 2725 details the particulars that must be included in these records.

36.6

The particulars to be contained within the records are;
a. The identity of the source;
b. An identity, where known, used by the source;
c. Any relevant investigating authority other than the authority maintaining the records;

Page 70

25

d. The means by which the source is referred to within each relevant investigating
authority;
e. Any other significant information connected with the security and welfare of the
source;
f.

Any confirmation made by a person granting or renewing an authorisation for the
conduct or use of a source that the information in paragraph (d) has been considered
and that any identified risks to the security and welfare of the source have where
appropriate been properly explained to and understood by the source;

g. The date when, and the circumstances in which the source was recruited;
h. Identity of the handler and controller (and details of any changes)
i.

The periods during which those persons have discharged those responsibilities;

j.

The tasks given to the source and the demands made of him in relation to his
activities as a source;

k. All contacts or communications between the source and a person acting on behalf
of any relevant investigating authority;
l.

The information obtained by each relevant investigating authority by the conduct or
use of the source;

m. Any dissemination by that authority of information obtained in that way; and
n. In the case of a source who is not an undercover operative, every payment, benefit
or reward and every offer of a payment, benefit or reward that is made or provided
by or on behalf of any relevant investigating authority in respect of the source's
activities for the benefit of that or any other relevant investigating authority.
36.7

The person maintaining these records are the CHIS Handler and Controller who will
pass them on to the RIPA Co-ordinator on a regular basis.

36.8

Public authorities are also encouraged to maintain auditable records for those
individuals who are known to provide intelligence on a regular basis but who do not
actually meet the definition of a CHIS. This will assist authorities to monitor the status
of a human source and identify whether that person should be duly authorised as a
CHIS. This should be updated regularly to explain why authorisation is not considered
necessary. Such decisions should be made by Authorising Officers. (Section 7.5 CHIS
Codes of Practice).

36.9. Further Documentation

Page 71

26

36.10 In addition to the above appropriate records or copies of the following are also retained
by the Council as per 36.3:
A copy of the authorisation together with any supplementary documentation
and notification of the approval given by the authorising officer;
A copy of any renewal of an authorisation, together with the supporting
documentation submitted when the renewal was requested;
The reason why the person renewing an authorisation considered it
necessary to do so;
Any authorisation which was granted or renewed orally (in an urgent case)
and the reason why the case was considered urgent;
Any risk assessment made in relation to the CHIS;
The circumstances in which tasks were given to the CHIS;
The value of the CHIS to the investigating authority;
A record of the results of any reviews of the authorisation;
The reasons, if any, for not renewing an authorisation;
The reasons for cancelling an authorisation; and
The date and time when any instruction was given by the authorising officer
that the conduct or use of a CHIS must cease.
A copy of the decision by a Judicial Commissioner on the renewal of an
authorisation beyond 12 months (where applicable).
36.11 The records kept by the Council should be maintained in such a way as to preserve
the confidentiality, or prevent disclosure of the identity of the CHIS, and the information
provided by that CHIS. (Sec 7.7 CHIS Codes of Practice)
36.12 Please refer to paragraph 45 below for the relevant application forms which are
available from the RIPA Co-Ordinator. They are also available from the Home Office
on the www.gov.uk website BUT they will need amending to suit local authority use.
The current link to the Home Office forms is below:
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-forms--2

PART D.
37.

RIPA Roles and Responsibilities

The Senior Responsible Officer (SRO)

Page 72

27

37.1

The nominated Senior Responsible Officer is the Director of Digital and Business
Change (see Appendix B) The SRO with responsibilities for:
The integrity of the process in place within Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council to authorise directed surveillance and CHIS as well as appropriate
arrangements if such investigatory methods are necessary outside of RIPA –
(non-RIPA) ;
Compliance with the relevant sections of RIPA and the Codes of Practice;
Oversight of the reporting of errors to the Investigatory Powers Commissioner
(IPC) and the identification of both the cause(s) of errors and the
implementation of processes to minimise repetition of errors;
Engagement with the Investigatory Powers Commissioner Office (IPCO) and
the inspectors who support the Commissioner when they conduct their
inspections;
Where necessary, overseeing the implementation of any recommended postinspection action plans and
Ensuring that all Authorising Officers are of an appropriate standard,
addressing any recommendations and concerns in the inspection reports
prepared by the Investigatory Powers Commissioner.

38.

RIPA Co-Ordinator

38.1

The RIPA Co-Ordinator who is currently the Council Solicitor (see appendix B) is
responsible for storing all the original authorisations, reviews, renewals and
cancellation forms and the signed approval or refusal documentation from the Justice
of the Peace. This will include any authorisations that have not been authorised by the
Authorising Officer or refused by a Justice of the Peace or otherwise Non-RIPA
authorisations.

38.2

The RIPA Co-ordinator will: Keep the copies of the forms for a period of at least 5 years from the ending
of each authorisation subject to any reasonable increase of this time period in
relation to particular cases by the Authorising Officer, (see paragraph 59.6
relating to data protection)
Keep the Central Record (a requirement of the Codes of Practice) as required
in this Guidance of all of the authorisations, renewals and cancellations; and
Issue the unique reference number.

Page 73

28

Keep a database for identifying and monitoring expiry dates and renewal
dates.
Along with, Directors, Service Managers, Authorising Officers, and the
Investigating Officers must ensure that any electronic and paper records
relating to a RIPA investigation are used, retained or destroyed in line with
this Guidance, the Councils Information Management policies, departmental
retention schedules and the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and
Data Protection Act 2018. (DPA)
Provide administrative support and guidance on the processes involved.
Monitor the authorisations, renewals and cancellations with a view to ensuring
consistency throughout the Council;
Monitor each department's compliance and act on any cases of noncompliance;
Organise the provision of training, further guidance and awareness of RIPA
and HRA 1998 including the dissemination of the provisions of this Guidance;
and review the contents of this Guidance

39.

Line Managers Responsibility

Only those Line Managers that are running a team of investigating officers
operationally are expected to be fully trained and to follow this Procedure and
Guidance.

40.

Investigating Officers/Applicant

40.1

The applicant is normally an investigating officer who completes the application section
of the RIPA form. Investigating Officers should think about the need to undertake
Directed Surveillance or the use of a CHIS before they seek authorisation and, if
necessary, discuss it with their Line Manager. Investigating Officers should consider
whether they can obtain the information or achieve their objective by using techniques
other than covert surveillance.

40.2

The applicant/investigating officer should also communicate with the authorising officer
prior to making a RIPA application to resolve any perceived issues prior to the
application form being completed.

40.3

The applicant is likely to attend the magistrates’ court to seek the approval of a Justice
of the Peace (Magistrate) and if approved and involved in the covert activity they must
only carry out what is authorised and approved. They will also be responsible for the
submission of any reviews, renewals and cancellations.

Page 74

29

41.

Authorising Officers

41.1

The Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert Human
Intelligence Sources) Order 2010 prescribes that for Local Authorities the Authorising
Officer shall be a Director, Head of Service, Service Manager or equivalent as distinct
from the officer responsible for the conduct of an investigation.

41.2

Appendix B lists the Authorising Officers within the Council who can grant
authorisations all of which are at the required level.

41.3

The role of the Authorising Officers is to consider whether to authorise, review, or
renew an authorisation. They must also officially cancel the RIPA covert activity.
Authorising Officers must have been trained to an appropriate level so as to have an
understanding of the requirements in the Codes of Practice and that must be satisfied
before an authorisation can be granted.

41.4

Authorising Officers should not be responsible for authorising investigations or
operations in which they are directly involved. Where an Authorising Officer authorises
such an investigation or operation, the Central Record of authorisations should
highlight this, and it should be brought to the attention of a Commissioner or Inspector
during their next inspection.

41.5

Authorisations must be given in writing by the Authorising Officer by completing the
relevant section on the authorisation form. When completing an authorisation, the case
should be presented in a fair and balanced way. In particular, all reasonable efforts
should be made to take into account information which weakens the case for the
authorisation.

41.6

Authorising Officers must explain why they believe the activity is both necessary (see
section 42) and proportionate (see section 43), having regard to the collateral intrusion.
They must also consider any similar activity which may be taking place, or sensitivities
in the area.

41.7

They also need to explain the parameters of the authorisation. (i.e. ‘who, what, how,
why, when, where’?) In other words, identify the subject of the operation and who is
undertaking it, why it is necessary, in what circumstances and how it is being carried
out, the location and the level of the surveillance that is needed to achieve the
objective. It is important that this is made clear on the face of the authorisation form
as the surveillance operatives are only allowed to carry out what is authorised. This
will assist with avoiding errors.

41.8

If any equipment such as covert cameras are to be used, the Authorising Officer should
know the capability of the equipment before authorising its use. This will have an
impact on collateral intrusion, necessity and proportionality. They should not rubberstamp a request. It is important that they consider all the facts to justify their decision.

41.9

The Authorising Officer may be required to attend court to explain what has been
authorised and why.

Page 75

30

41.10 Authorised Officers must read this Guidance and also the relevant RIPA Codes of
Practice issued by the Home Office upon which it is based plus current Procedures
and any other relevant guidance issued by the IPCO. It is recommended that
Authorising Officers can have access to this Guidance on the Council’s intranet so as
to ensure they have the latest version or alternatively obtain a current one from the
RIPA Co-Ordinator.

42

Necessity – Legal and Practical

42.1

Obtaining an authorisation under RIPA and for NON-RIPA will only ensure that there
is a justifiable interference with an individual’s Article 8 rights if it is necessary and
proportionate for these activities to take place.

42.2

The first requirement is that there should be a ‘legal necessity’ i.e. that which is set out
in law namely that the person granting an authorisation believe that the authorisation
is necessary for one or more of the statutory grounds. For the local authority Directed
Surveillance must be shown to be necessary for the prevention and detection of crime
and that the crime attracts a custodial sentence of a maximum of 6 months or more,
or for the purpose of preventing or detecting specified criminal offences relating to the
underage sale of alcohol and tobacco.

42.3

The lawful criteria for CHIS is prevention and detection of crime and prevention of
disorder and the offence does not have to have a sentence of 6 months imprisonment.

42.4

‘Practical necessity’: the applicant and Authorising Officers must also be able to
demonstrate why it is necessary in a practical sense. In other words they must ask
themselves whether it is necessary to carry out the covert activity to achieve the
objectives in all the circumstances of the particular case at hand. This includes
assessing whether or not there are any other means of obtaining the same information
by a less intrusive method. This is a specific section in the authorisation form.

43.

Proportionality

43.1

If the activities are deemed necessary, the Authorising Officer must also be satisfied
that they are proportionate to what is sought to be achieved by carrying them out. This
involves balancing the seriousness of the intrusion into the privacy of the subject of the
operation (or any other person who may be affected) against the need for the activity
in investigative and operational terms.

43.2

The authorisation will not be proportionate if it is excessive in the overall circumstances
of the case. Each action authorised should be calculated to have a real benefit the

Page 76

31

investigation or operation and should not be disproportionate or arbitrary. The fact that
a suspected offence may be serious will not alone render the proposed actions
proportionate. Similarly, an offence may be so minor that any deployment of covert
techniques would be disproportionate. No activity should be considered proportionate
if the information which is sought could reasonably be obtained by other less intrusive
means.
43.3

When explaining proportionality, the Authorising Officer should explain in the
authorisation why the methods and tactics to be adopted during the surveillance are
proportionate.

43.4

The codes provide guidance relating to proportionality which should be considered by
both applicants and Authorising Officers:
Balancing the size and scope of the proposed activity against the gravity and
extent of the perceived crime or offence;
Explaining how and why the methods to be adopted will cause the least
possible intrusion on the subject and others;
Considering whether the activity is an appropriate use of the legislation and a
reasonable way, having considered all reasonable alternatives, of obtaining
the necessary result;
Evidencing, as far as reasonably practicable, what other methods had been
considered and why they were not implemented.

44.

Collateral Intrusion

44.1

Before authorising applications for Directed Surveillance, the Authorising Officer
should also take into account the risk of obtaining collateral intrusion which is private
information about persons who are not subjects of the surveillance.

44.2

Staff should take measures, wherever practicable, to avoid or minimise unnecessary
intrusion into the privacy of those who are not the intended subjects of the surveillance.
Where such collateral intrusion is unavoidable, the activities may still be authorised,
provided this intrusion is considered proportionate to what is sought to be achieved.
The same proportionality tests apply to anticipated collateral intrusion as to intrusion
into the privacy of the intended subject of the surveillance.

44.3

All applications must therefore include an assessment of the risk of collateral intrusion
and detail the measures taken to limit this to enable the Authorising Officer fully to
consider the proportionality of the proposed actions. This is detailed in a section within
the authorisation form.

44.4

In order to give proper consideration to collateral intrusion, an Authorising Officer
should be given full information regarding the potential scope of the anticipated
surveillance, including the likelihood that any equipment deployed may cause intrusion
on persons or property other than the subject(s) of the application. If an automated

Page 77

32

system such as an online search engine is used to obtain the information, the
Authorising Officer should be made aware of its potential extent and limitations.
Material which is not necessary or proportionate to the aims of the operation or
investigation should be discarded or securely retained separately where it may be
required for future evidential purposes. If it is relevant to the investigation it will need
to be retained under CPIA. The Authorising Officer should ensure appropriate
safeguards for the handling, retention or destruction of such material, as well as
compliance with Data Protection Act requirements.
44.5

Where it is proposed to conduct surveillance activity specifically against individuals
who are not suspected of direct or culpable involvement in the overall matter being
investigated, interference with the privacy of such individuals should not be considered
as collateral intrusion but rather as intended intrusion.

44.6

In the event that authorised surveillance unexpectedly and unintentionally interferes
with the privacy of any individual other than the intended subject, the authorising officer
should be informed by submitting a review form. Consideration should be given in any
such case to the need for any separate or additional authorisation.

44.7

If the Council intends to access a social media or other online account to which they
have been given access with the consent of the owner, the authority will still need to
consider whether the account(s) may contain information about others who have not
given their consent. If there is a likelihood of obtaining private information about others,
the need for a Directed Surveillance authorisation should be considered, particularly
(though not exclusively) where it is intended to monitor the account going forward.

PART E.

The Application and Authorisation Process

45.

Relevant Forms

45.1

All the forms can be obtained from the RIPA Co-ordinator or Government Website at
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-forms--2

NB if you use the ones from the website you must ensure that you
adapt them as instructed.
45.2

For Directed Surveillance there are 4 forms within the process.

(NB YOU MUST FIRST ADAPT EACH FORM SO THAT THERE IS ONLY ONE
CRITERION IN THE LIST AT PARAGRAPH 6 I.E. FOR THE PURPOSE OF
PREVENTING OR DETECTING CRIME OR OF PREVENTING DISORDER AND
NOTE THERE IS NO POWER TO APPLY FOR AN URGENT AUTHORISATION

Page 78

33

SO THAT SHOULD BE DELETED. IF IN DOUBT PLEASE CONTACT THE
AUTHORISING OFFICER OR THE RIPA CO-ORDINATOR WHO WILL SUPPLY
YOU WITH A CORRECT FORM ACCORDINGLY.)
The links to the forms are:
Authorisation - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/application-foruse-of-directed-surveillance
Review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-use-ofdirected-surveillance
Renewal - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/renewal-form-fordirected-surveillance
Cancellation - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cancellation-ofuse-of-directed-surveillance-form

45.3

For both CHIS authorisations there are 4 forms within the process. They are:
Authorisation - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/application-forthe-use-of-covert-human-intelligence-sources-chis
Review - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reviewing-the-use-ofcovert-human-intelligence-sources-chis
Renewal
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/renewal-ofauthorisation-to-use-covert-human-intelligence-sources
Cancellation - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cancellation-ofcovert-human-intelligence-sources-chis

45. 4
For Non-RIPA please obtain them from the RIPA Co-ordinator or the above same
forms may be adapted and used with an addition in BOLD of the words ‘’NON-RIPA” at the
head of each page.

NB NON-RIPA FORMS MUST BE ADAPTED AS FOLLOWS: ADD THE WORDS
NON-RIPA IN BOLD AT THE TOP OF THE FORM – THESE HAVE BEEN ADAPTED
BY THE RIPA CO-ORDINATOR AND WILL BE SUPPLIED ON REQUEST.

46.

Duration of Authorisations

46.1

Authorisations must be given for the maximum duration from the date approved by the
Justice of the Peace/magistrate (magistrate) but reviewed on a regular basis and
formally cancelled when no longer needed. They do not expire, they must be cancelled
when the surveillance is no longer proportionate or necessary. Therefore, a Directed

Page 79

34

Surveillance authorisation will cease to have effect after three months from the date of
approval by the magistrate unless renewed or cancelled. Durations detailed below:
Directed Surveillance

3 Months

Renewal

3 Months

Covert Human Intelligence Source

12 Months

Renewal

12 months

Juvenile Sources

4 Months

Renewal

4 Months

46.2

It is the responsibility of the Investigating Officer to make sure that the authorisation is
still valid when they undertake surveillance. It is sometimes helpful to think of the
authorisation as something like an insurance policy.

47.

Applications/Authorisation

47.1

The applicant/investigating officer should take into account the level of intrusion ie the
chances of obtaining private information prior to making the application and should
communicate with the authorising officer in advance with any concerns prior to
applying. The person seeking the authorisation must then complete the application
form having regard to, this Guidance and the statutory Codes of Practice. The form
should then be submitted to the Authorising Officer for authorisation.

47.2

When completing an application for authorisation, the applicant must ensure that the
case for the authorisation is presented in the application in a fair and balanced way. In
particular, all reasonable efforts should be made to take into account information which
weakens the case for the warrant or authorisation. This is a requirement of the Home
Office Codes.

47.3

All the relevant sections must be completed with sufficient information to ensure that
applications are sufficiently detailed for the Authorising Officer to consider Necessity,
Proportionality having taken into account the Collateral Intrusion issues Cutting and
pasting or using template entries should not take place as this would leave the
process open to challenge.

47.4

If it is intended to undertake both Directed Surveillance and the use of a CHIS on the
same surveillance subject, the respective authorisation should be completed and the
respective procedures followed. Both activities should be considered separately on
their own merits.

47.5

All application forms should be submitted to the Authorising Officer after any internal
management requirements have been complied with such as a requirement for Line
Manager approval.

47.6

Applications whether authorised or refused will be issued with a unique number
(obtained from the RIPA Co-Ordinator) by the Authorising Officer. The number will be

Page 80

35

taken from the next available number in the Central Record of authorisations which is
held by the RIPA Coordinator.
47.7

If not authorised, feedback will be provided to the applicant and the application will be
forwarded to the RIPA Co-Ordinator for recording and filing. If having received the
feedback, the applicant feels it is appropriate to re submit the application, they can do
so and it will then be considered again.

47.8

Following authorisation, the applicant will then complete the relevant section of the
judicial application/order form available on line by accessing the link after the next
paragraph. Although this form requires the applicant to provide a brief summary of the
circumstances of the case, this is supplementary to and does not replace the need to
supply a copy and the original RIPA authorisation as well.

47.9

Government guidance on how to obtain approval from the Justice of the Peace/
magistrates – ie the ‘judicial approval’ is available on www.gov.uk and access to that
guidance and the application form that should be used to submit to the magistrates
court can be obtained via the link below. Advice on this can also be obtained from the
RIPA Co-Ordinator.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/changes-to-local-authority-use-of-ripa

48.

Arranging the Court Hearing For Judicial Approval

48.1

It will be necessary within office hours to contact the administration office at the nearest
Magistrates’ Court to arrange a hearing. The hearing of the application will be in
private and on oath before a single Justice of the Peace/magistrate (magistrate).

48.2

Officers who may present the application at these proceedings must ensure they have
the requisite delegated powers given by the Council under section 223 of the Local
Government Act 1972 to appear, be sworn in and present evidence or information as
required by the magistrate. If in doubt as to whether you are able to present the
application seek advice from the RIPA Co-Ordinator2 who can make the application on
your behalf under the Council Solicitor delegated power to institute proceedings if
necessary.

49.

Attending the Hearing

49.1

The Government 2002 Judicial Approval Guidance (see link at 47.9 above) envisages
that only the applicant/investigating officer will attend the hearing; however, the IPCO
recommends, and it is much better practice for the Authorising Officer also to attend
the hearing. This is because the applicant/investigating officer cannot answer

See Judicial Approval Guidance
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/118173/localauthority-england-wales.pdf
2

Page 81

36

questions about the Authorising Officer’s own assessment of necessity and
proportionality which are key issues about which the court will ask questions. Upon
attending the hearing, the officer must present to the court the partially completed
judicial application/order form, the original and a copy of the RIPA
application/authorisation form, together with any supporting documents setting out the
case. The original RIPA authorisation should be shown to the court but will be retained
by the Council so that it is available for inspection by IPCO, and in the event of any
legal challenge or investigations by the Investigatory Powers Tribunal (IPT).
49.2

The magistrate will read and consider the RIPA authorisation and the judicial
application/order form – accessible via the link at paragraph 47.9 above. The
magistrate may have questions to clarify points or require additional reassurance on
particular matters. These questions are supplementary to the content of the application
form. However, the forms and supporting papers must by themselves make the
case. It is not sufficient for the Council to provide oral evidence where this is not
reflected or supported in the papers provided.

49.3

The magistrate will consider whether they are satisfied that, at the time the
authorisation was granted or renewed, there were reasonable grounds for believing
that the authorisation was necessary and proportionate. In addition, they must be
satisfied that the person who granted the authorisation was an appropriate Designated
Person within the Council to authorise the activity and the authorisation was made in
accordance with any applicable legal restrictions, for example, the crime threshold for
Directed Surveillance. ( NB The Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources) Order 2010 prescribes that for
Local Authorities the Authorising Officer shall be a Director, Head of Service, Service
Manager or equivalent as distinct from the officer responsible for the conduct of an
investigation. CF Para 41.1 above)

50.

Decision of the Magistrate/Justice of the Peace (magistrate)

50.1

The magistrate has a number of options which are:

50.2

Approve or renew an authorisation. If approved by the magistrate, the date of the
approval becomes the commencement date for the duration of the three months and
the officers are now allowed to undertake the activity for that duration.

50.3

Refuse to approve or renew an authorisation. The RIPA authorisation will not take
effect and the Council may not use the technique in that case.

50.4

Where an application has been refused, the applicant may wish to consider the
reasons for that refusal. If more information was required by the magistrate to
determine whether the authorisation has met the tests, and this is the reason for
refusal, the officer should consider whether they can reapply. For example, if there was
information to support the application which was available to the Council, but not
included in the papers provided at the hearing.

50.5

For, a technical error (which does not alter the substance of the matter or otherwise as
may be defined by the magistrate), the form may be remedied without going through

Page 82

37

the internal authorisation process again. The officer may then wish to reapply for
judicial approval once those steps have been taken.
50.6

Refuse to approve or renew and quash the authorisation. This applies where the
magistrate refuses to approve or renew the authorisation and decides to quash the
original authorisation. However, the court must not exercise its power to quash the
authorisation unless the applicant has had at least 2 business days from the date of
the refusal in which to make representations. If this is the case, the officer may take
advice from the Council Solicitor who will consider whether to make any
representations.

50.7

The magistrate will record the decision on the order section of the judicial
application/order form. The court administration will retain a copy of the Council’s RIPA
application and authorisation form and the judicial application/order form. The officer
will retain the original authorisation and a copy of the judicial application/order form.

50.8

The Council may only appeal a magistrates’ decision on a point of law by judicial
review. If such a concern arises, Legal will decide what action if any should be taken.

50.9

There is a Home Office chart showing the above procedure attached to the
Government Guidance referred to and accessible via the link at paragraph 47.9 above

51.

Post Court Procedure

51.1

It will be necessary to work out the cancellation date from the date of approval and
ensure that the applicant and the Authorising Officer is aware. The original application
and the copy of the judicial application/order form should be forwarded to the RIPA CoOrdinator. A copy will be retained by the applicant and if necessary by the Authorising
Officer. The Central Record will be updated with the relevant information to comply
with the Codes of Practice and the original documents filed and stored securely.

51.2

Where dates are set within the process such as reviews, they must be adhered to.
This will help with demonstrating that the process has been managed correctly in line
with the Codes of Practice and reduce the risk of errors.

52.

Reviews

52.1

When an application has been authorised and approved by a magistrate, regular
reviews must be undertaken by the Authorising Officer to assess the need for the
surveillance to continue.

52.2

In each case the Authorising Officer should determine how often a review should take
place at the outset. This should be as frequently as is considered necessary and

Page 83

38

practicable. Particular attention is drawn to the need to review authorisations frequently
where the surveillance provides a high level of intrusion into private life or significant
collateral intrusion, or confidential information (as defined in para 13). They will record
when they are to take place on the application form. This decision will be based on the
circumstances of each application. However, reviews will be conducted on a monthly
or less basis to ensure that the activity is managed. It will be important for the
Authorising Officer to be aware of when reviews are required to ensure that the
applicants submit the review form on time.
52.3

Applicants should submit a review form (to obtain an application form see paragraph
45) by the review date set by the Authorising Officer. They should also use a review
form for changes in circumstances to the original application which would include a
change to the level of intrusion so that the need to continue the activity can be reassessed.
However, if the circumstances or the objectives have changed
considerably, or the techniques to be used are now different, a new application form
should be submitted, and it will be necessary to follow the process again and be
approved by a magistrate. The applicant does not have to wait until the review date if
it is being submitted for a change in circumstances.

52.4

Line mangers of applicants may need to make themselves aware of when the reviews
are required in accordance with internal staff management arrangements to ensure
that the relevant forms are completed on time.

52.5

The reviews are dealt with internally by submitting the review form to the Authorising
Officer. There is no requirement for a review form to be submitted to a magistrate.

52.6

The results of a review should be recorded on the Central Record.

52.7 NB Reviews should also be undertaken in relation to NON-RIPA cases – all of the above
applies also to them except for reference to magistrates’ approval.

53.

Renewals

53.1

A renewal form is to be completed by the applicant when the original authorisation
period is about to expire but Directed Surveillance or the use of a CHIS is still required.
(to obtain an application form see paragraph 45)

53.2

Should it be necessary to renew an authorisation for Directed Surveillance or CHIS,
this must be approved by a magistrate.

53.3

Applications for renewals should not be made until shortly before the original
authorisation period is due to expire. However, they must take account of factors which
may delay the renewal process (e.g. intervening weekends or the availability of the
relevant Authorising Officer and a magistrate to consider the application).

53.4

The applicant should complete all the sections within the renewal form and submit the
form to the Authorising Officer for consideration.

Page 84

39

53.5

Authorising Officers should examine the circumstances with regard to Necessity,
Proportionality and the Collateral Intrusions issues before making a decision to renew
the activity. A CHIS application should not be renewed unless a thorough review has
been carried out covering the use made of the source, the tasks given to them and
information obtained. The Authorising Officer must consider the results of the review
when deciding whether to renew or not. The review and the consideration must be
documented.

53.6

If the Authorising Officer refuses to renew the application, the cancellation process
should be completed. If the Authorising Officer authorises the renewal of the activity,
the same process is to be followed as for the initial application and approval must be
sought from a magistrate.

53.7

A renewal takes effect on the day on which the authorisation would have ceased and
lasts for a further period of three months.

53.8

Renewal forms should also be used as above in relation to Non-RIPA cases.

54.

Cancellation

54.1

The cancellation form must be submitted to the authorising officer by the applicant or
another investigator in their absence. (to obtain the forms see paragraph 45) The
Authorising Officer who granted or last renewed the authorisation must authorise the
cancellation if they are satisfied that the Directed Surveillance no longer meets the
criteria upon which it was authorised. Where the Authorising Officer is no longer
available, this duty will fall on the person who has taken over the role of Authorising
Officer or the person who is acting as Authorising Officer. NB If the directed
surveillance of CHIS runs its course to the end of the three months or 12 months – it
must not be allowed to simply expire – the completion of a cancellation form is still
required.

54.2

As soon as the decision is taken that Directed Surveillance should be discontinued,
the applicant or other investigating officer involved in the investigation should inform
the Authorising Officer. The Authorising Officer will formally instruct the investigating
officer to cease the surveillance, noting the time and date of their decision. This will
be required for the cancellation form. The date and time when such an instruction was
given should also be recorded in the Central Record of authorisations.

54.3

The Investigating Officer submitting the cancellation should complete in detail the
relevant sections of the form and include the period of surveillance and detail if any
images were obtained, particularly any images containing innocent third parties. The
Authorising Officer should then take this into account and issues instructions regarding
the management and disposal of the images etc. See sections 58 to 65 Safeguarding
and the Use of Surveillance Material below.

54.4

The cancellation process should also be used to evaluate whether the objectives have
been achieved and whether the applicant carried out what was authorised. This check
will form part of the oversight function. Where issues are identified including errors
(see section 65), they will be brought to the attention of the RIPA Co-Ordinator and the

Page 85

40

Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) (and also the line manager for internal management
purposes). This will assist with future audits and oversight and comply with the Codes
of Practice.
54.5

When cancelling a CHIS authorisation, an assessment of the welfare and safety of the
source should also be assessed, and any issues identified.

54.6

All cancellations must be submitted to the RIPA Co-Ordinator for inclusion in the
Central Record and storing securely with the other associated forms.

54.7

Do not wait until the 3 month period is up to cancel. Cancel it at the
earliest opportunity when no longer necessary and proportionate. Line
Managers should be aware of when the activity needs cancelling and
ensure that staff comply with the procedure.

Part F Central Record and Safe-keeping of the Material
55.

Introduction

55.1

Authorising Officers, applicants and line managers of relevant enforcement
departments may keep whatever records they see fit to administer and manage the
RIPA application process. This includes the legal obligations under the Criminal
Procedures and Investigations Act 1996. However, this will not replace the
requirements under the RIPA Codes of Practice, which includes the fact that the
Council must hold a centrally held and retrievable record.

56.

Central Record

56.1

The centrally retrievable record of all authorisations will be held and maintained by the
RIPA Co-Ordinator. It will be regularly updated whenever an authorisation is applied
for, refused, granted, renewed or cancelled. The record will be made available to the
relevant Commissioner or an Inspector from IPCO, upon request.

56.2

All original authorisations and copies of Judicial applications/order forms whether
authorised or refused, together with review, renewal and cancellation documents, must
be sent within 48 hrs to the RIPA Co-Ordinator who will be responsible for maintaining
the Central Record of authorisations. They will ensure that all records are held securely
with no unauthorised access. If in paper format, they must be forwarded in a sealed
envelope marked confidential.

56.3

The documents contained in the Central Record should be retained for at least 5 years
from the ending of the authorisation subject to any reasonable increase of this time
period in relation to particular cases by the Authorising Officer. (see paragraph 59.6
relating to data protection) The Central Record contains the following information:

Page 86

41

If refused, (the application was not authorised by the AO) a brief explanation of
the reason why. The refused application should be retained as part of the
Central Record of authorisation;
If granted, the type of authorisation and the date the authorisation was given;
Details of attendances at the magistrates’ court to include the date of
attendances at court, the determining magistrate, the decision of the court and
the time and date of that decision;
Name and rank/grade of the authorising officer;
The unique reference number (URN) of the investigation or operation;
The title of the investigation or operation, including a brief description and
names of subjects, if known;
Frequency and the result of each review of the authorisation;
If the authorisation is renewed, when it was renewed and who authorised the
renewal, including the name and rank/grade of the authorising officer and the
date renewed by the JP;
Whether the investigation or operation is likely to result in obtaining confidential
information (as defined in para 13);
The date the authorisation was cancelled;
Authorisations by an Authorising Officer where they are directly involved in the
investigation or operation. If this has taken place it must be brought to the
attention of a Commissioner or Inspector during their next RIPA inspection.
56.4

As well as the Central Record the the RIPA Co- ordinator will also retain:
The original of each application, review, renewal and cancellation, copy of the
judicial application/order form, together with any supplementary
documentation of the approval given by the Authorising Officer;
The frequency and result of reviews prescribed by the Authorising Officer;
The date and time when any instruction to cease surveillance was given;
The date and time when any other instruction was given by the Authorising
Officer;
A record of the period over which the surveillance has taken place. This
should have been included within the cancellation form.

Page 87

42

56.5

These documents will also be retained for 5 years from the ending of the authorisation
subject to any justifiable increase of this time period in relation to particular cases by
the Authorising Officer. (see paragraph 59.6 relating to data protection)

57.

Safe-keeping and the Use of Surveillance Material

57.1

This part of the Guidance (part F) provides guidance on the procedures to be applied
in relation to the handling of any material obtained through Directed Surveillance or
CHIS activity. This material may include private, confidential or legally privileged
information. It will also show the link to other relevant legislation.

57.2

The Council should ensure that their actions when handling information obtained by
means of covert surveillance or CHIS activity comply with relevant legal frameworks
and the Codes of Practice, so that any interference with privacy is justified in
accordance with Article 8(2) of the European Convention on Human Rights.
Compliance with these legal frameworks, including Data Protection requirements, will
ensure that the handling of private information obtained continues to be lawful, justified
and strictly controlled, and is subject to robust and effective safeguards. The material
will also be subject to the Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act (CPIA) 1996.

58.

Authorised Purpose

58.1

Dissemination, copying and retention of material must be limited to the minimum
necessary for authorised purposes. For the purposes of the RIPA codes, something is
necessary for the authorised purposes if the material:
Is, or is likely to become, necessary for any of the statutory purposes set out
in RIPA in relation to covert surveillance or CHIS activity;
Is necessary for facilitating the carrying out of the functions of public
authorities under RIPA;
Is necessary for facilitating the carrying out of any functions of the
Commissioner or the Investigatory Powers Tribunal;
Is necessary for the purposes of legal proceedings; or
Is necessary for the performance of the functions of any person by or under
any enactment.

59.

Handling and Retention of Material

59.1

As mentioned above, all material associated and obtained with an application will be
subject of the provisions of the Data Protection Act (DPA) 2018, GDPR and CPIA

Page 88

43

Codes of Practice. All officers involved within this process should make themselves
aware of the provisions within this legislation and how it impacts on the whole RIPA
process. Material obtained, together with relevant associated paperwork should be
held securely. Extra care needs to be taken if the application and material relates to a
CHIS.
59.2

Material required to be retained under CPIA should be retained until a decision is taken
whether to institute proceedings against a person for an offence or if proceedings have
been instituted, at least until the accused is acquitted or convicted or the prosecutor
decides not to proceed with the case.

59.3

Where the accused is convicted, all material which may be relevant must be retained
at least until the convicted person is released from custody, or six months from the
date of conviction, in all other cases.

59.4

If the court imposes a custodial sentence and the convicted person is released from
custody earlier than six months from the date of conviction, all material which may be
relevant must be retained at least until six months from the date of conviction.

59.5

If an appeal against conviction is in progress when released, or at the end of the period
of six months, all material which may be relevant must be retained until the appeal is
determined.

59.6

If retention is beyond these periods it must be justified for data protection purposes
under the GDPR and or Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA). Each relevant service within
the Council may have its own provisions under their Data Retention Guidance which
will also need to be consulted to ensure that the data is retained lawfully and for as
long as is necessary.

60.

Use of Material as Evidence

60.1

Material obtained through Directed Surveillance, may be used as evidence in criminal
proceedings. The admissibility of evidence in criminal proceedings or civil proceedings
is governed by common law and many pieces of legislation notably including the Police
and Criminal Evidence Act 1984, Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996
(CPIA), Criminal Justice Act 2003, Civil Evidence Act 1995 and subordinate legislation
such as both the Civil and Criminal Procedure Rules. Also challenges to the way
evidence is gathered can be made if it can be shown that there has been a breach of
Articles 8 (privacy) and /or 6 (fair trial) of the European Convention as adopted in the
Schedule to the Human Rights Act 1998.

60.2

Ensuring the continuity and integrity of evidence is critical to every prosecution.
Accordingly, considerations as to evidential integrity are an important part of the
disclosure regime under the CPIA and these considerations will apply to any material
acquired through covert surveillance that is used in evidence. When information
obtained under a covert surveillance authorisation is used evidentially, the Council will
be able to demonstrate how the evidence has been obtained, to the extent required by
the relevant rules of evidence and disclosure.

Page 89

44

60.3

Where the product of surveillance could be relevant to pending or future criminal or
civil proceedings, it should be retained in accordance with established disclosure
requirements. In a criminal case the codes issued under CPIA will apply. They require
that the investigator record and retain all relevant material obtained in an investigation
and later disclose relevant material to the Prosecuting Solicitor. They in turn will decide
what is disclosed to the Defence Solicitors.

60.4

There is nothing in RIPA which prevents material obtained under Directed Surveillance
authorisations from being used to further other investigations

61.

Dissemination of Information

61.1

It may be necessary to disseminate material acquired through the RIPA covert activity
within the Council or shared outside with other Councils or agencies, including the
Police. The number of persons to whom any of the information is disclosed, and the
extent of disclosure, should be limited to the minimum necessary. It must also be in
connection with an authorised purpose as set out in sec 58 above. It will be necessary
to consider exactly what and how much information should be disclosed. Only so much
of the material may be disclosed as the recipient needs; for example, if a summary of
the material will suffice, no more than that should be disclosed.

61.2

The obligations apply not just to the Council as the original authority acquiring the
information, but also to anyone to whom the material is subsequently disclosed. In
some cases, this will be achieved by requiring the latter to obtain permission from the
Council before disclosing the material further. It is important that the Authorising Officer
and line manager in charge of the enquiry considers these implications at the point of
dissemination to ensure that safeguards are applied to the data.

61.3

A record will be maintained justifying any dissemination of material. If in doubt, seek
advice.

62.

Storage

62.1

Material obtained through covert surveillance and CHIS authorisations, and all copies,
extracts and summaries of it, must be handled and stored securely, so as to minimise
the risk of loss. It must be held so as to be inaccessible to persons who are not required
to see the material (where applicable). This requirement to store such material securely
applies to all those who are responsible for the handling of the material. It will be
necessary to ensure that both physical and IT security and an appropriate security
clearance regime is in place to safeguard the material.

63.

Copying

Page 90

45

63.1

Material obtained through covert surveillance may only be copied to the extent
necessary for the authorised purposes set out above. Copies include not only direct
copies of the whole of the material, but also extracts and summaries which identify
themselves as the product of covert surveillance, and any record which refers to the
covert surveillance and the identities of the persons to whom the material relates.

63.2

In the course of an investigation, the Council must not act on or further disseminate
legally privileged items unless it has first informed the Investigatory Powers
Commissioner that the items have been obtained.

64.

Destruction

64.1

Information obtained through covert surveillance, and all copies, extracts and
summaries which contain such material, should be scheduled for deletion or
destruction and securely destroyed as soon as they are no longer needed for the
authorised purpose(s) set out above. If such information is retained, it should be
reviewed at appropriate intervals to confirm that the justification for its retention is still
valid. In this context, destroying material means taking such steps as might be
necessary to make access to the data impossible.

Part G.

Errors and Complaints

65.

Errors

65.1

Errors can have very significant consequences on an affected individual’s rights.
Proper application of the surveillance and CHIS provisions in the RIPA codes and this
Guidance should reduce the scope for making errors.

65.2.

There are two types of errors within the codes of practice which are:
Relevant error and
Serious error.

65.3

Relevant Error

65.4

An error must be reported if it is a “relevant error”. A relevant error is any error in
complying with any requirements that are imposed on a public authority by any
enactment which are subject to review by a Judicial Commissioner. This would include
compliance by public authorities with Part II of the RIPA.

Page 91

46

65.5

Examples of relevant errors occurring would include circumstances where:
Surveillance activity has taken place without lawful authorisation.
There has been a failure to adhere to the safeguards set out in the relevant
statutory provisions and Chapter 9 of the Surveillance Codes of Practice
relating to the safeguards of the material.

65.6

All relevant errors made by the Council (and its employees) must be reported to the
Investigatory Powers Commissioner by the Council as soon as reasonably practicable
and a full report no later than ten working days. The report should include information
on the cause of the error; the amount of surveillance conducted, and material obtained
or disclosed; any unintended collateral intrusion; any analysis or action taken; whether
any material has been retained or destroyed; and a summary of the steps taken to
prevent recurrence.

65.7

Serious Errors

65.8

The Investigatory Powers Commissioner must inform a person of any relevant error
relating to that person if the Commissioner considers that the error is a serious error
and that it is in the public interest for the person concerned to be informed of the error.
The Commissioner may not decide that an error is a serious error unless they consider
that the error has caused significant prejudice or harm to the person concerned. The
fact that there has been a breach of a person’s Convention rights (within the meaning
of the Human Rights Act 1998) is not sufficient by itself for an error to be a serious
error.

65.9

It is important that all staff involved in the RIPA process report any issues, so they can
be assessed as to whether it constitutes an error which requires reporting.

66.

Complaints

66.1

Any person who reasonably believes they have been adversely affected by
surveillance activity by or on behalf of the Council may complain to the RIPA CoOrdinator who will investigate the complaint and report the findings to the Senior
Responsible Officer. A complaint can also be made to the official body which is the
Investigatory Powers Tribunal (IPT). They have jurisdiction to investigate and
determine complaints against any public authority’s use of RIPA powers, including
those covered by this Guidance.

66.2

Complaints should be addressed to:
The Investigatory Powers Tribunal
PO Box 33220

Page 92

47

London
SWIH 9ZQ

Change Control
Item
Regulation
of
Investigatory
Powers Act
2000
(RIPA)
Procedure
and
Guidance

Reason for
Change
Completely new
version to
replace the
previous one in
line with and
referring to the
updated
Government
Codes of
Practice

Version

Author

Date

Version
1

Shelagh
Lyth

2021

Reviewed by Overview
and Scrutiny Committee
on –date

Principal
Solicitor
(Litigation)
based on a
template
provided by
specialist
and trainer P
Fowler and
adapted to
BwD
processes

Page 93

48

APPENDIX A
INTERNET & SOCIAL MEDIA RESEARCH & INVESTIGATIONS GUIDANCE
1.

Introduction

1.1

Online open source research is widely regarded as the collection, evaluation and
analysis of material from online sources available to the public, whether by payment
or otherwise to use as intelligence and evidence.

1.2

The use of online open source internet and social media research is a method of
obtaining information to assist the Council with its regulatory and enforcement
functions. It can also assist with service delivery issues. However, the use of the
internet and social media is constantly evolving and with it the risks, particularly
regarding breaches of privacy under Article 8 Human Rights Act (HRA) and other
operational risks.

1.3

Blackburn with Darwen Council (the Council), as a public authority, is, in law, subject
to the Human Rights Act 1998, and as such, the staff of the authority must always work
within this legislation. This applies to research on the internet.

1.4

Researching, recording, storing, and using open source information regarding a
person or group of people must be both necessary and proportionate and take account
of the level of intrusion against any person. The activity may also require authorisation
and approval by a magistrate under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA)
2000 if it is involves Directed Surveillance or acting as a CHIS. To ensure that any
resultant interference with a person’s Article 8 right to respect for their private and
family life is lawful, the material must also be retained and processed in accordance
with the principles of the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR).

2.

Scope of this Social Media Research Guidance (Appendix A Guidance)

2.1

This Social Media Research Guidance is Appendix A of the Council’s RIPA Procedural
Guidance and this and any associated internal operational guidance adopted by
managers of officers undertaking investigations establish the Council’s approach to
ensure that all the online research and investigations are conducted by its officers in
such a way that it is lawful and ethical to reduce risk. It provides guidance to all officers
employed by the Council of the implications and legislative framework associated with
online internet and social media research. It will also ensure that the activity
undertaken, and any evidence obtained will stand up to scrutiny.

2.2

This Appendix A Guidance takes account of the Human Rights Act 1998, Regulation
of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000, Criminal Procedures Investigations Act
(CPIA) 1996, General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR), NPCC Guidance on Open
Source Investigation/Research.

2.3

This Appendix A Guidance and any associated operational guidance will be followed
at all times and should be read where required with the Council’s RIPA Procedural
Guidance to which it is appended and with the Home Office RIPA Codes of Practice.
Should there be any queries, advice can be sought from the RIPA Co-ordinator and/or
the Social Media Officer – See Appendix B list of relevant officers.

Page 94

49

2.4

As with the RIPA Procedural Guide, members of staff who knowingly fail to adhere to
this Appendix A Guidance and associated operational procedures could result in
members of staff being dealt with through the Council’s disciplinary procedure.

2.5

This Appendix A Guidance should not be exempt from disclosure under the Freedom
of Information Act 2000

3.

Risk
3.1 Staff must be aware that any activity carried out over the internet leaves a trace or
footprint which can identify the device used, and, in some circumstances, the individual
carrying out the activity and that there is a risk of a breach of Article 8.
3.2 Article 8 is a European Convention right enshrined in the Human Rights Act 1998 which
states “Everyone has the right to respect for his private and family life, his home and
his correspondence”. 8.2 states “There shall be no interference by a public authority
with the exercise of this right except such as is in accordance with the law and is
necessary in a democratic society in the interests of national security, public safety or
the economic well-being of the country, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the
protection of health or morals or for the protection of the rights and freedoms of others”.
The Council must act in a way that is compatible with that Convention right.
3.3 With any breach of this Article 8 Convention right there is also a risk of compromise to
an ongoing investigation, therefore, the activity should be conducted in a manner that
does not compromise any current or future investigation or tactics.
3.4 It should be standard practice for the staff member to complete a risk assessment prior
to and during open source internet and social media research.

4.

Necessity / Justification

4.1

To justify the research, there must be a clear lawful reason, and it must be necessary
for any of the purposes set out in Article 8 eg prevention of crime or disorder. Therefore,
the reason for the research must be identified and clearly described. This should be
documented with clear objectives. Should the research be aimed at serious criminal
conduct and fall within RIPA activity, a properly constituted RIPA authorisation can
render the research ‘lawful for all purposes’.

5.

Proportionality

5.1

Proportionality involves balancing the intrusiveness of the research on the subject and
other innocent third parties who might be affected by it (collateral intrusion) against the
need for the activity in operational terms. The Council should question what the benefit
of carrying out the activity is and how that benefit will outweigh the intrusion and set
out the answers to those questions clearly.

5.2

The activity will not be proportionate if it is excessive in the circumstances of the case
or if the information which is sought could reasonably be obtained by other less
intrusive means. All such activity should be carefully managed to meet the objective in
question and must not be arbitrary or unfair.

6

Private information

6.1

Private information is defined in the RIPA Codes of Practice and states it “includes any
information relating to a person’s private or family life”. Private information should be

Page 95

50

taken generally to include any aspect of a person’s private or personal relationship with
others, including family and professional or business relationships. From a data
protection perspective, personal data (information as defined by the UK GDPR as ‘any
information relating to an identified or identifiable natural person’) also falls within this
definition3.
6.2

Prior to, and during any research, staff must take into account the privacy issues
regarding any person associated with the research.

6.3

Where it is deemed necessary to undertake an investigation to which RIPA is not
applicable because it does not meet the serious criminal offence threshold test or
where it is not a criminal investigation per se, then, if the officer is concerned that a
private information (which amounts to personal data) a risk assessment should be
completed and this should reveal the level of risk and how to mitigate it.

7.

Reviewing the Activity

7.1

During the course of conducting the internet open source research, the nature of the
online activity may evolve. It is important staff continually assess and review their
activity to ensure it remains lawful and compliant. Where it evolves into RIPA activity,
the RIPA procedure should be followed. If in doubt, seek advice from the RIPA Coordinator or the Social Media Lead Officer.

8.

Use of Material

8.1

The material obtained from conducting open source internet and social media research
may be used as intelligence or evidence.

8.2

Any material gathered from the internet during the course of a criminal investigation
must be retained in compliance with the Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act
(CPIA) Codes of Practice and all material stored in line with the General Data
Protection Regulations (GDPR) data retention policy

9.

Monitoring and Review of Social Media Policy

9.1

This Appendix A Guidance will be monitored an reviewed where necessary by the
RIPA Co-ordinator at the same time as the RIPA Procedure and Guidance to which
this is an Appendix.

“‘personal data’ means any information relating to an identified or identifiable natural person (‘data subject’);
an identifiable natural person is one who can be identified, directly or indirectly, in particular by reference to an
identifier such as a name, an identification number, location data, an online identifier or to one or more factors
specific to the physical, physiological, genetic, mental, economic, cultural or social identity of that natural
person”.
1

Page 96

51

APPENDIX B
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA)

Procedure and Guidance

Appendix B List Relevant Officers names and titles
Authorising Officers
The Chief Executive – Denise Park (Only where the Directed surveillance or use of Chis may
result in the obtaining of ‘confidential information’)
The Head of Public Protection – Gary Johnston
The Head of Audit and Assurance – Colin Ferguson
Other Responsible Officers
RIPA Co-Ordinator – Council Solicitor– Asad Laher
The Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) – Director of Digital and Resources - Paul Fleming
The Social Media Lead Officer – Ben Greenwood.

Page 97

52

Appendix 2
THE FOLLOWING IS A SUMMARY OF THE PROCEDURAL GUIDE
The Contents of the Guide
Part A Introduction and RIPA general
Part B - Surveillance, Types and Criteria
Part C - Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS)
Part D - RIPA Roles and Responsibilities
Part E - The Application and Authorisation Process
Part F - Central Record & Safeguarding the material
Part G - Errors and Complaints
Appendix A Internet & Social Media Research & Investigations Guidance
Appendix B List Relevant Officers names and titles
1. PART A Introduction to the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA)
1.1 Local authorities carry out enforcement and prosecutions, some of which may require use of
covert methods. For instance, local authorities have the powers to enforce counterfeiting, flytipping
and under –age sales of alcohol.
1.2 If a public authority considers it necessary to undertake covert surveillance or use a covert
human intelligence source as a means of investigating a criminal offence it must do so lawfully. It
should not breach an individual’s rights to privacy under Article 8 which is one of the human rights
set out in Schedule 1 of the Human Rights Act 1998.
1.3 RIPA is an Act of Parliament which, together with its Regulations and Home Office Codes of
Practice, prescribes a system of internal authorisation which includes the appointment of Directorlevel officers to oversee the process, appointment of authorising officers, the use of standard forms
which includes an authorisation form showing a reasoned decision to authorise. It is also subject to a
magistrate’s approval.
1.4 If these procedures are followed, it is akin to an insurance policy as it ensures that the activities
are deemed to be ‘lawful for all purposes’.
1.5 It is also possible to use a similar system of authorisation in relation to these covert methods that
would not be covered by RIPA or require a magistrate’s approval. In other words, covert activity that
does not qualify for RIPA’s regime, for instance, in relation to directed surveillance, if what is being
investigated is not deemed to be ‘serious crime’. This may be seen to be more of a risk, however,
Article 8 is a ‘qualified’ human right and therefore there are prescribed circumstances in which the
Human Rights Act 1998 envisages that it is acceptable to interfere with the right.
1.6 It is generally accepted by practitioners in this area and by the Investigatory Powers
Commissioner that to follow the similar process as is followed for a RIPA authorisation, this would
ensure that the activities are in accordance with Article 8 and can be justified in law.

Page 98

1

1.7 The use of such covert activities are currently very rare. This authority has not used them for
some years, preferring to use overt investigative techniques. The Investigatory Powers
Commissioner said in his last report that only a handful of local authorities inspected in 2019 used
covert methods for such purposes as test purchases and using covert cameras.
1.8 To comply with the law and the Home Office Codes of Practice this authority has to have the
frameworks in place to enable it to use such powers and officer training in the processes because
failure to do so would bring it to the attention of the Investigatory Powers Commissioner who
inspects local authorities every 3 years. Officers untrained in these processes risk using such covert
investigative techniques inadvertently.
2. The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) came about because of of the
Human Rights Act 1998 and Article 8 the human right to privacy.
2.1 Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 states that it is unlawful for a public authority to act in a
way which is incompatible with a Convention right.
2.2 Article 8 (1) states that everyone has the right of respect for their private and family life, their
home and their correspondence.
2.3 Article 8 is a qualified right which means sometimes it can be interfered with for prescribed
purposes. The second para of Article 8 states:
8 (2) There shall be no interference by a Public Authority with the exercise of this right except such
as in accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic society.
2.4 RIPA is that ‘law’ – a legal framework of internal (and external) authorisations which if complied
with makes the activity lawful for all purposes. It requires an authority to have an internal
procedure that is formally adopted and accessible to staff and the Investigatory Powers
Commissioner’s inspectors.
2.5 Under Article 8 in order to be lawful any interference has to be proportionate. It also has to be
necessary in the interests of:
national security,
public safety
the economic well-being of the country,
for the prevention of disorder or crime,
for the protection of health and morals
for the protection of the rights and freedoms of others.
RIPA only permits use of the prevention of crime and disorder criterion
3. What can Local authorities do under RIPA?
3.1. They can authorise ‘Directed Surveillance’ (covert) for the purpose of preventing or detecting a
criminal offence which is ‘serious’ as defined by RIPA as one that is punishable by a maximum term
of at least six months imprisonment; or, exceptionally, where the crime does not fall into that
category of seriousness but involves the illegal sale of alcohol or tobacco to children.

Page 99

2

3.2 They can authorise the use of a covert human intelligence source also for the prevention and
detection of crime and prevention of disorder – but it does not have to be ‘serious’ crime. They
can do this subject to approval by a magistrate.
4

Why comply with RIPA?

4.1 Evidence obtained by covert surveillance and use of a CHIS not properly authorised or outside
the authorisation given could be ruled inadmissible in court.
4.2 Without the RIPA process the local authority could be more open to claims against it for breach
of the Human Rights Act leading to reputational damage, compensation and costs;
4.3 There is also a risk of complaints made by aggrieved individuals to the Investigatory Powers
Tribunal (IPTC)
4.4 Under the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s inspection regime it could amount to a
‘Reportable Error’ if you do covert surveillance or use a CHIS unprotected by RIPA in cases where
it is possible to be so protected.
4.5 IPCO inspectors who inspect the authority have unfettered access to all the local authority
processes and procedures and completed RIPA forms and on inspection will speak to the officers
involved to check compliance and report formally to the Chief Executive.
4.6 A properly authorised covert operation is, according to RIPA, ‘lawful for all purposes’.
This provides a defence to a claim against the authority if someone makes a claim that their
Article 8 rights have been breached. The authorisation forms provide evidence that properly
reasoned and lawful decision has been made.

Page 100

3

Part B - Surveillance, Types and Criteria
5

The definitions.

5.1. Surveillance: is defined as monitoring, observing or listening to persons, their movements, their
conversations or their other activities or communications; and recording anything. It also includes
the use of a surveillance device. Eg a camera
5.2. Overt surveillance is where you make sure that the subject of surveillance is aware that it is
taking place.
E.g. by way of deliberately and prominently placed signage as in the use of CCTV or you have
ensured that the person subject of the surveillance has been informed of the surveillance that may
be taking place.
5.3. Covert surveillance is that which is carried out in a manner calculated to ensure subjects are
unaware it is or may be taking place.
In other words you deliberately ‘set out’ to ensure the subject does not know you are
monitoring/observing them.
5.4 What is ‘Directed Surveillance’ ?
It is covert, but not intrusive;
It is conducted for the purposes of a specific investigation or operation;
It is likely to result in the obtaining of private information (see private information below)
about a person (whether or not one specifically identified for the purposes of the
investigation or operation);
It is conducted otherwise than by way of an immediate response to events or circumstances
the nature of which is such that it would not be reasonably practicable for an authorisation
to be sought.
5.5 What is ‘Intrusive Surveillance’ ?
It is covert
Relates to anything taking place on residential premises or in a private vehicle, and
Involves the presence of a person on the premises or in the vehicle, and
Involves the use of a device which may not be on the premises or in the vehicle but which
consistently provides information of the same quality and detail as if the device is actually on
the premises or in the vehicle.
Not available to Local Authorities – advice is to ‘risk assess’ devices used if high powered
5.6 What is ‘Private Information’
Any information relating to a person’s private or family life – all personal relationships with
others, family and professional or business relationships,
In a public place a person’s privacy can still be breached even though they enjoy a reduced
expectation of privacy.
There is an expectation that someone may observe a person walking about in public or
displaying their life publicly on social media, but not that they will go further than that. Eg
listen closely to your conversations, make a record of it and/or record your personal
data/photos and share the record or store notes about you (cf internet)

Page 101

4

5.7 What is ‘Confidential and/or Privileged information’?
Material that has the quality of confidence in common law, for example
confidential journalistic material and sources of journalistic information,
medical records or spiritual counselling,
confidential discussions between Members of Parliament and their constituents
matters subject to legal professional privilege.
Confidential personal information
Directed Surveillance likely or intended to result in the acquisition of knowledge of
confidential or privileged material must be authorised by the the Council’s Chief Executive
who must first seek legal advice from the RIPA Co-Ordinator prior to authorisation.
5.8 NB It is not possible for a local authority to contract out of its responsibilities by instructing an
agency to carry out the investigation. If that agency is instructed to carry out a covert investigation it
must be authorised internally under the Council’s RIPA procedures and approved by a magistrate if it
falls within RIPA.

Page 102

5

6. Part C - Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS)
6.1 What are ‘Covert Human Intelligence Sources’
Someone who establishes or maintains a personal or other relationship with a person for the covert
purpose of facilitating:
the obtaining of information or
providing access to any information or
the disclosure of information obtained by the use of such relationship
Includes anything ‘incidental’ to the relationship
6.2 What is a ‘covert purpose for a CHIS?
Where the relationship is conducted ‘in a manner that is calculated to ensure that one of the
parties to the relationship is unaware of the purpose’; and
If information obtained ‘is used or, as the case may be, disclosed in a manner that is
calculated to ensure that one of the parties to the relationship is unaware of the use or
disclosure in question’.
6.3 Beware the danger of straying into CHIS territory or into CHIS Criminal Conduct
Officers must understand the difference between a person who simply reports a crime and
becomes a witness who later may provide a witness statement in criminal proceedings and a
CHIS.
If someone has reported a crime the officer must be careful not to task them as a CHIS. If he
asks them for more information they must ensure that it does not involve the tasking of the
witness to undertake an investigation of their own e.g. forming covert relationships with
individuals or observing them covertly over a number of weeks.
If there is a properly authorised CHIS officers in control or and handling the CHIS must
ensure that the CHIS does not commit crimes or assist in the commission of crimes whilst
under-cover and if that occurs or likely to occur they must report it to the RIPA co-ordinator,
cease to use the CHIS safely and send the cancellation form to the RIPA Co-ordinator.
6.4 CHIS criterion
The use of a CHIS must be necessary for the prevention and detection of crime and
prevention of disorder.
No requirement that the crime under investigation has to be ‘serious’ – i.e. carry a penalty of
6 month imprisonment;
Authorisations for vulnerable and juvenile sources must be by the Chief Executive
Authorisations must define the use of the CHIS and the control of the CHIS
6.5 CHIS Operation
There must be a ‘handler’ with day to day responsibility for the supervision and safety of the
CHIS,
And a ‘controller’ with general oversight to check all is being done properly by the handler –
risk assessments and record keeping all done properly and all is being done in accordance
with the authorisation.

Page 103

6

7. Part D - RIPA Roles and Responsibilities
7.1 Senior Responsible Officer – SRO - Responsible for: compliance, the overall integrity of the
authorisation process, oversight of error reporting and correction, engagement with
Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office , post inspection action plans and ensuring
authorising officers are of an appropriate standard.
7.2 RIPA Co-ordinator – General record keeping, maintaining a central record which can be
inspected, monitoring each department's compliance and act on any cases of non-compliance
and organise training, provide formal guidance (and daily advice on processes) disseminate and
review the provisions of the Council Guidance.
7.3 Social Media Co-ordinator - Authorising covert on-line accounts and ensuring record keeping
around those and report to Ripa Co-ordinator – keep log of any equipment that is nonattributable.
7.4 Investigating officer – Applies to Authorising officer for authorisation using correct application
form and following procedures and apply to court for approval after authorisation obtained.
7.5 Authorising Officers x 2 – Appointed by the SRO to read and deal with RIPA applications.
8. Duties of Authorising officers – assessing necessity and proportionality
A local authority can only interfere with the person’s privacy if it is lawful, necessary and
proportionate – see above re Article 8
8.2 Legal necessity must be for the prevention and detection of crime if it is a RIPA application.
(for directed surveillance that must be serious crime that attracts a maximum sentence of 6 +
months imprisonment or underage sales of alcohol or tobacco)
8.3 Practical necessity – the authorising officer must assess whether it is really necessary to use
covert methods in a particular case – have all other overt methods been explored?
8.4 Proportionality – if the covert activity appears excessive it should not be granted.
The authorising officer will assess this by looking at the overall purpose of the covert
surveillance/Chis and balance the need for the covert activity against the likelihood of and extent of
breach of privacy.
This will include looking at the seriousness of the crime being investigated. The more serious it is the
higher the level of public interest. It is necessary to assess the likely value to the case as a whole of
the predicted or ‘product‘ of the covert activity.
It will also include looking at the likelihood of the breach of privacy of an individual (s), the likely
level of breach of privacy, the size of the covert operation, numbers of officers involved.

Page 104

7

Collateral intrusion – the risk that other people other than the intended subjects of the surveillance
CHIS will be caught in the observations/operation.
Authorising officers must also assess the level of collateral intrusion and ask if the operation can be
limited to minimise intrusion and ask if it can it be minimised.
9. Part E - The Application and Authorisation Process
Contains all the particulars necessary for those using the process to understand which forms to
complete and who to send them to. There are application forms –upon which the authorising officer
will endorse his approval of refusal and reasons. There are also forms for applications for reviews
and renewals.
A RIPA authorisation for directed surveillance is to last 3 months and it must be granted for 3
months – if it only carries on for 2 weeks a cancellation form must be completed. A CHIS
authorisation is for 12 months and if it ceases beforehand a cancellation must be completed
10. Part F - Central Record & Safeguarding the material
This section relates to record keeping and the duties of the RIPA Co-Ordinator and authorising
officers must supply the information to the RIPA Co-ordinator.
11. Part G - Errors and Complaints
11.1 ‘Relevant error’ could be for example:
the authorisation process is not followed properly or
covert surveillance is carried out without an authorisation under RIPA or
failure to safeguard the material,
Staff using own device to access social media for Council enquiries
11.2 Error Reporting
S235 (6) RIPA 2016 says that a public authority, must report to the Investigatory Powers
Commissioner any ‘relevant error’ of which it is aware. All Council employees who become aware of
a relevant error must report them.
12. Appendix A Internet & Social Media Research & Investigations Guidance
This is a guidance which explains that someone’s on-line presence is treated no differently from their
physical public presence. Surveillance of someone’s public facing social media pages which contains
their private information friends and family etc can still amount to a breach of Article 8. Just because
they have not made those pages private does not mean that they are fair game for any pubic
authority that needs to conduct directed surveillance by observing their public-facing pages and
recording what they see for an investigation. Those individuals have no idea they are being
monitored for those purposes and have a level of expectation of how their information will be
viewed and by whom. They will rarely expect that it will be used to conduct an investigation into a
criminal offence or indeed any investigation.
Therefore this guidance is for investigators to follow if they need to undertake some surveillance or
use CHIS on line. The processes are broadly the same save that if the local authority were to require
some covert equipment or process such as to set up a false social media account or to use a device
that is not attributable to the Council to send messages, the Council’s Social Media Co-ordinator

Page 105

8

would need to be consulted and they will keep a record and ensure the appropriate RIPA
authorisations for CHIS and Directed Surveillance are obtained.
13. Appendix B List Relevant Officers names and titles
This is simply what it says – a list of those who are are currently in these roles set out at para 7
above.

Page 106

9

Agenda Item 8.5
EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION
REPORT OF:

Executive Member for Growth and Development

LEAD OFFICERS:

Strategic Director of Growth & Development

DATE:

Thursday, 14 July 2022

PORTFOLIO/S
AFFECTED:

Growth and Development

WARD/S AFFECTED:

Little Harwood and Whitebirk;

KEY DECISION:

Y

SUBJECT: EB Land at Lower Philips Road
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 This report outlines the request from an existing leaseholder and tenant of the Council to acquire
the Councils freehold interest of the land they currently occupy.
1.2 This report seeks Executive approval to authorise the Director for Growth and Development to
enter into a building licence and subsequently to dispose of the Councils freehold interest in land at
Philips Road, Whitebirk, Blackburn.
1.3 The land at Philips Road is currently occupied by way of a 99 year ground lease with effect from
31 December 1972 (50 years unexpired).
1.4 By disposing of the freehold, this will allow the existing tenant to invest in new buildings,
machinery and facilities that will retain this important employer in the Borough.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Executive Board:
2.1 Approve the disposal of the Council’s freehold interest to the current occupier as Special
Purchaser.
2.2 Authorise the Growth Programme Director to finalise and complete the terms of the disposal.
2.3 Authorises the Deputy Director for Legal and Governance to complete the necessary legal
formalities in the disposal process.
3. BACKGROUND
3.1 The tenant and its predecessors have operated from this site since 1972.
3.2 The tenant also owns and operates from a number of other buildings in the surrounding area and
also owns land which it plans to expand further on.

Page 107
EBD: V1/21

Page 1 of 3

3.3 Their desire is to redevelop, modernise and invest in the operations in the site. However due to
the diminishing lease term securing funding for such development would not be possible.
3.4 They are seeking to purchase the site which will allow for this new investment to take place that
will not only secure existing employment, but generate new employment and training opportunities.
4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS
4.1 Land Disposal
The Council regularly receives requests from other leaseholders seeking to acquire the freehold
interest in the land they occupy, however each request is determined on its own circumstances.
4.2 In this instance the current occupier is seeking to acquire the freehold to facilitate new investment
and create and protect employment. Detailed proposals for the redevelopment scheme have already
been prepared.
4.3 By disposing of its freehold the Council will receive a capital receipt.
4.4 However by disposing of its freehold it will mean terminating the existing lease meaning that the
Council will forego an annual income, subject to a rent review in December 2022, when it may
increase.
5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
5.1 The disposal method accords with the Council’s approved policy for disposals.
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
6.1 A capital receipt will be received from the transaction.
6.2 The Council will forego a secure rental income.
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
7.1 The disposal method complies with the Council’s legal obligations for such transactions and with
the Council’s Disposal Policy 2019.
7.2 While the general approach to disposing of Council properties is to offer them for sale on the
open market and invite offers by way of tender or by auction, negotiation with a single (special)
purchaser(s) is not precluded and is set out in the Council’s Disposal Policy.
7.3 There will be occasions when the benefits to the Council lie in dealing with special purchasers.
The benefits in this case may relate to an interest already owned in the property by the special
purchaser and on that basis it is considered that best consideration will be achieved because of their
existing interest in the property and the desire to improve and extend the facility to aid business
growth and job creation.
8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
8.1 Legal and surveyor resources will be required to complete the transaction.

Page 108
EBD: V1/21

Page 2 of 3

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Please select one of the options below. Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the
EIA.
Option 1

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed.

Option 2
In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated
with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA link here)
Option 3
In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA
associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA attachment)

10. CONSULTATIONS
10.1 The proposal has been subject to consultations between Council Officers, Executive members,
and Legal and Planning departments

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure. They are also compliant with
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of
Corporate Governance.
12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following
the meeting.

VERSION: 1
CONTACT OFFICER: PMO Growth
DATE: 20 June 2022
BACKGROUND None
PAPER:

Page 109
EBD: V1/21

Page 3 of 3

Land at Lower Phillips Road
1:1250

© Crown copyright and database rights 16 June 2022. Ordnance Survey licence number: 100019493

Page 110

Agenda Item 8.6
EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION
REPORT OF:

Executive Member for Finance and Governance

LEAD OFFICERS:

Director of Finance

DATE:

14th July 2022

PORTFOLIO/S
AFFECTED:

All

WARD/S AFFECTED:

All

KEY DECISION:

YES

NO

SUBJECT: CORPORATE REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING REPORT QUARTER 4 - 2021/22
OUTTURN POSITION
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
To report the overall revenue financial position of the Council for the year ended 31st March 2022,
highlighting any significant issues and explaining variations in the final quarter of the financial year. Also
to determine the year end position with regard to portfolio under/overspends and the impact on
earmarked and unallocated reserves.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
The Executive Board is asked to approve:
the portfolio budget adjustments outlined in Appendix 1
the outturn summary provided in Appendix 2
the Earmarked reserves position shown in Appendix 3

3. BACKGROUND
All portfolios are required to examine their revenue budget position on a monthly basis. Regular reports
are submitted to Executive Board for review along with a final report, detailing the financial outturn
position.
4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS
a) Actual revenue expenditure at 31st March 2022 in relation to controllable budgets across all portfolios
was £121.658 million, compared to an original budget of £119.949 million i.e. an increase in net
expenditure of £1.709 million. Further details relating to the financial position of each portfolio are
outlined in Section 6.
b) General Fund unallocated reserves are £7.718 million at 31st March 2022, compared to £8.373
million at 31st March 2021. The increase relates to a number of transfers both to and from unallocated

Page 111
EBD: V1/16

Page 1 of 7

reserves that were approved during the year, together with final outturn adjustments detailed in Section
6
c) Earmarked Reserves available for discretionary use within the Council are £56.420 million at 31st
March 2022 compared with a balance of £47.665 million at 31st March 2021, with a further £12.763
million of ‘Other Reserves’ held mainly in relation to schools.
5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
The information contained within the report accords with the three year budget forecast within the
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-24, as approved at Finance Council on 1st March 2021.

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
6.1 CASH LIMITS AND REVENUE EXPENDITURE
6.1.1 Revenue Budget Overview
The 2021/22 Budget and MTFS 2021-2024 approved by Finance Council in March 2021 set a balanced
budget for the year based on the assumptions made at that time.
The Covid-19 pandemic continues to create a significant shock to the economy and result in unplanned
expenditure and income losses for the Council, as set out in previous reports to the Executive Board.
6.1.2 Performance Against Controllable Budgets
Appendix 1 details the portfolio controllable budgets approved by the Executive Board in December
2021 together with the details of the adjustments recommended to the Board for approval in this report.
These include:
transfers (budget virements) between portfolios
transfers from Unallocated reserves to support budget pressures
transfers to / from Earmarked reserves
transfers from contingencies
transfers to Earmarked reserves in respect of grants / contributions and other budgets approved
for carry forward to 2022/23
The principle issues at the end of the second quarter of the year are summarised below and provided
in detail at Appendix 2:
Summary

Portfolio Expenditure
Corporate Income and
Expenditure
Contribution to/(from) Reserves
General Fund Working Balance
Net Expenditure
Total Income

Original
Budget
2021/22
£000
119,949

Variations
£000
1,656

Working
Budget
2021/22
£000
121,605

(7,798)
(4,463)
53
107,741

(14,181)
13,178
(653)
0

(21,979)
8,715
(600)
107,741

(21,702)
8,440
(655)
107,741

277
(275)
(55)
0

(107,741)

0

(107,741)

(107,741)

0

Page 112
EBD: V1/16

Page 2 of 7

Outturn
Variation
£000
£000
121,658
53

Covid-19
As stated above, the Covid-19 pandemic continues to result in significant increased expenditure and
income losses, which are being monitored and reported by portfolios. The Government’s Sales, Fees
and Charges support scheme finished at the end of June 2021 with all subsequent losses needing to
be covered by Council resources.
Portfolio positions
The outturn position for each portfolio, after the allocation of Covid-19 funding to offset cost pressures
and income losses is as follows:
Adult Services & Prevention
The final outturn position for the portfolio is an underspend of £2,427 million.
Pressures exist within the commissioning budget due to the additional demand and cost of care,
however the outturn position is a significant underspend, the majority of which is as a result of one off
income in this financial year. Income applications for Covid-19 including for Discharge to Assess from
Health, additional one-off unplanned receipts and associated budget adjustments for Continuing Health
Care contributions from the CCG, ordinary residence disputes which have been resolved, reclaims of
individual direct payment budgets have contributed for the underspend.
The increased demand pressures in extra care and domiciliary care as well as the cost of individual
care packages due to acuity of needs should be noted as it is likely these pressures will impact on the
2022/23 budget as one off income streams are no longer available.
The final outturn position reflects £0.600 million funding carried forward for future years use to meet
new requirements and assurance frameworks for Care Quality Commission inspections readiness.
The net underspend on non-commissioning budget areas is predominantly due to staffing vacancies
for essential posts but difficulties in social care recruitment exacerbated with realignment of duties to
meet Covid-19 priorities are continuing and these operational issues have been highlighted at a national
level affecting many other Authorities.
Public Health & Wellbeing
The portfolio’s final outturn position is an overspend of £0.398 million following allocation of Covid-19
grants to support income losses.
Due to the impact of extended Covid restrictions, leisure facilities, the museum and venues in Blackburn
and Darwen have been unable to operate as normal, firstly due to lockdown and then, once they could
reopen, this was only at a reduced capacity. As the year progressed and restrictions started to ease
further, income generation continued to show improvements as leisure membership numbers gradually
increased, audiences returned to venues and customer confidence strengthened.
Services' continue to deliver their recovery plans in order to mitigate the impact of service closures
during the restrictions. The portfolio is likely to require further support to offset its ongoing income losses
going into the financial year 2022/23 and the position will require careful monitoring.
Children, Young People & Education
The portfolio returned an overspend of £1.738 million against its approved budget in 2021/22.

Page 113
EBD: V1/16

Page 3 of 7

The demand pressures that existed in 2020/21 continued into 2021/22 with the largest overspends
being seen within Placement Services, specifically Special Guardianship Orders, Commissioned
Placements and Foster Care. Additional pressures were also seen against the Home to School and
SEN Transport budgets.
The budget pressures associated with Special Guardianship Orders have been addressed as part of
the Medium Term Financial Plan, with additional funding of £1.000 million allocated against this budget
in 2022/23.
Dedicated Schools Grant / Schools Block
Schools and Education is primarily funded by the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). Expenditure against
this grant is monitored by the Schools Forum, at which financial reports are considered on a regular
basis.
The reported deficit of £0.274 million is made up of a decrease across all of the individual school
balances of £0.922 million, and an underspend of £0.648 million in respect of centrally retained budgets.
The above variations decrease the level of the School Balances Reserve to £8.139 million and the
Dedicated Schools Grant Reserve is now £4.247 million.
Environmental Services
The final outturn position for the portfolio is an overspend of £0.182 million. The main variations being
losses on taxi licensing and parking income partially offset by sales, fees and charges COVID funding
and savings on Waste Disposal.
Growth & Development
The portfolio had previously reported a forecast overspent by £0.251 million arising from budget
pressures on highways and commercial activities. These have been partially offset by savings on the
planning and property budgets and the allocation of Covid-19 funding to support the Market operations.
The final overspend being £0.156 million.
Digital & Customer Services
The final outturn position for the portfolio is an underspend of £0.067 million, having forecast breakeven
at quarter 3 monitoring.
Finance & Governance
The portfolio underspent by £0.200 million arising due to Covid-19 losses from reduced commercial
and traded service income. The significant losses included within this forecast are income losses from
commercial rents including the Council’s income share from the Mall. These losses were offset to an
extent by savings on tenanted properties and building running costs, but the pressures will continue
into 2022-23 as footfall in the Mall continues to be below pre-pandemic levels.
6.2 General Fund Unallocated Reserves
Summary of movement
Balance on Unallocated General Fund reserves at 31 December 2021
Net savings across portfolios

Page 114
EBD: V1/16

Page 4 of 7

£million
8.977
0.221

Savings on “ring-fenced” budgets:
- Reduction in provision for housing benefit overpayments

0.055
0.259

- Non-distributed costs (former employee pension costs)
Create provision for legal costs

(0.995)

Utilise prior year underspend on PFI codes to part fund affordability gap

(0.177)

Increased costs on “ringfenced” budgets
-

Increase in net cost of housing benefits

(0.319)

-

Coroners Service

(0.023)

-

Flood Defence Levy

(0.003)

Net costs in respect of interest and debt repayment costs
Balance on Unallocated General Fund reserves at 31 March 2022

(0.277)
7.718

6.3 Earmarked reserves
Taking account of the adjustments highlighted at Appendix 3, the level of Earmarked reserves held for
discretionary use by the Council at 31st March 2022 will be £55.628 million compared with a balance of
£47.665 million as at 31st March 2021.
Summary of movement
Balance on Earmarked reserves at 31 December 2021
Establish a reserve for the reinstatement of St John’s
Transfer developer’s contributions into the S106 reserve
Transfer capital financing back into earmarked reserve – due to slippage of capital
expenditure into 2022/23
Funding to be carried forward into 2022/23 (see Appendices 1 and 3)
Utilise general COVID funding
Utilise Support for future redundancy costs reserve
Other net movements as detailed in Appendix 3
Balance on Earmarked reserves at 31 March 2022

£million
50.480
3.540
0.698
0.594
4.270
(3.136)
(0.102)
0.076
56.420

6.4 Collection Fund
Business Rates
The outturn position for the Business Rates Collection Fund is a deficit carried forward into 2022/23 of
£10.762 million, comprising:

Business Rates surplus brought forward from 2020/21
Deficit for the year
Deficit carried forward as at 31/03/2022
Distribution of deficit carried forward
Central Government
Lancashire Combined Fire Authority
Blackburn with Darwen Council

Page 115
EBD: V1/16

Page 5 of 7

31/12/2021
Estimate
£million
18.485
(4.488)
13.997

31/03/2022
Outturn
£million
18.485
(7.723)
10.762

6.998
0.140
6.859
13.997

5.381
0.108
5.273
10.762

The Council’s share of the deficit carried forward into 2022/23 is £5.273 million, which will largely be
funded from section 31 grants carried forward in earmarked reserves for this purpose.

Council Tax
The outturn position on the Council Tax Collection Fund is a surplus carried forward into 2022/23 of
£0.128 million, made up of:

Council Tax deficit brought forward from 2020/21
Surplus for the year
Deficit carried forward as at 31/03/2022
Distribution of deficit carried forward
Lancashire Police and Crime Commissioner
Lancashire Combined Fire Authority
Blackburn with Darwen Council

31/12/2021
Estimate
£million
1.694
(2.588)
(0.894)

31/03/2022
Outturn
£million
1.694
(1.822)
(0.128)

(0.106)
(0.033)
(0.755)
(0.894)

(0.018)
(0.004)
(0.106)
(0.128)

The Council’s share of Council Tax Collection Fund surplus has been reflected within the 2022/23
budget and Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) for 2022-25.
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
The Council has a duty to ensure it can deliver a balanced budget. The Local Government Act 2003
imposes a duty on an authority to monitor its budgets during the year and consider what action to take
if a potential deterioration is identified.
8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
None.

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Please select one of the options below. Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the
EIA.
Option 1

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed.

Option 2
In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated
with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA link here)
Option 3
In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA
associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA attachment)

10. CONSULTATIONS
Not applicable.

Page 116
EBD: V1/16

Page 6 of 7

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure. They are also compliant with equality
legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of
Corporate Governance.
12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following the
meeting.

VERSION: V2
Julie Jewson
CONTACT OFFICER: Senior Finance Manager
Tel 01254 585893
DATE: 4th July 2022
BACKGROUND N/A
PAPER:

Page 117
EBD: V1/16

Page 7 of 7

SCHEDULE OF BUDGET ADJUSTMENTS REQUESTED - QUARTER 4 - OUTTURN 2021/22

Public Health &
Wellbeing
£

Children, Young
People &
Education
£

57,255,759

3,562,214

32,018,489

9,423,406

6,231,296

6,150,981

9,735,203

25,214

10,243.00

8,497

7,472

25,778

21,249

3,537

Adult Services
and Prevention
£
Controllable Budget approved at Executive Board February 2022

Environmental
Services
£

Growth &
Development
£

Digital &
Customer
Services
£

Finance &
Governance
£

Schools &
Education
(DSG)
£
(941,000)

TOTAL
£
123,436,348

Transfers (to)/from earmarked reserves
Budget increase for costs of Early Retirement / Voluntary Redundancy
Better Care Fund
CCTV Hub Reserve

101,990

(1,080,044)

(1,080,044)

(124,091)

(124,091)

Neighbourhood Management - West - Supporting Families

2,291

2,291

Neighbourhood Management - East - Supporting Families

9,385

9,385

Housing Needs

5,713

Transfer to Arts Acquisition Reserve
Transfer to Turton Charity Reserve
Transfer from Motivate Fund Raising Reserve

5,713
(843)

(843)

(7,200)

(7,200)

1,817

Transfer to YOT Partnership Reserve

1,817
(46,447)

Transfer from LSCB Safeguarding Partners Fund

(46,447)

21,339

Transfer to Troubled Families Reserve
Transfer to Troubled Families / Targetted Youth Support Reserve
Transfer to Virtual School Reserve
Transfer to Schools Improvement (SSIF) Reserve
Utilise S106 contributions -Feniscowles & Pleasington War Memorial

21,339

(1,100)
(34,000)

(1,100)
(34,000)

(110,005)

(110,005)

(64,889)

(64,889)
8,034

8,034

Adjustment to use of S106 contributions - Tower View

(71)

Developers Contributions (S106 income) received in year

(71)
(697,500)

(697,500)

Page 118

Transfer to Building Control Reserve

26,939

26,939

Transfer from Winter Maintenance reserve

43,578

43,578

Utilise Hardship Fund c/fwd from 2020/21 in Welfare & Ctax Reform
reserve

20,500

Establish earmarked reserve for St Johns reinstatement
Utilise Non-ringfenced COVID grant - to fund expenditure pressures

(3,540,000)
184,469

98,522

132,185

923

131,000

90,637

2,262,500

20,500
(3,540,000)
2,900,236
0

Transfers (to)/from unallocated reserves
Ringfenced accounts:
Benefit award payments

318,806

Benefit overpayment provision

(258,926)
23,388

Flood Defence Levy
Non Distributed costs

(54,469)

Create provision for legal costs
Utilise prior year underspend on PFI codes to part fund affordability gap

23,388
3,388

995,089
176,695

Version 0.1 06/07/22

3,388
(54,469)
995,089
176,695

APPENDIX 1

Coroners

318,806
(258,926)

SCHEDULE OF BUDGET ADJUSTMENTS REQUESTED - QUARTER 4 - OUTTURN 2021/22

Adult Services
and Prevention

Public Health &
Wellbeing

Children, Young
People &
Education

18,965

77,976

Environmental
Services

Growth &
Development

Digital &
Customer
Services

Finance &
Governance

Schools &
Education
(DSG)

TOTAL

Transfers (to)/from contingency
Apprentice Levy

52,748

27,095

23,919

23,460

Corporate funding for apprentices
2021/22 Back pay adjustment

150,736

54,522

224,168

75,844

67,294

64,159

33,962

258,125

507,872

507,872

130,259

766,982
0

Underspends arising from unspent grants and contributions
Community Discharge Grant

(64,978)

(64,978)

DLUHC Domestic Abuse Support to Victims Funding

(15,455)

(15,455)

Locality/Community Fund

(7,386)

(7,386)

Home Office monies

(16,067)

(16,067)

More Positive Together (MPT) Funding

(23,045)

(23,045)

More Positive Together (MPT) - Steps

(13,535)

(13,535)

Community Development Management

(10,020)

(10,020)

DLUHC Social Integration

(35,518)

(35,518)

Community Champion

(1,685)

(1,685)

Community Support Unit DLUHC Local Digital Collaboration Unit

(50,000)

(50,000)

Safer Streets Fund - CCTV monitoring & Maintenance

(90,000)

(90,000)

Safer Streets Fund - Alleygating
Funding for Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection

Page 119

Public Health England Grant to earmarked reserve (funds required in 202021 for delivery of Public Health services)
Museum & Arts Project
Libraries Artifacts Secure Store

(8,300)

(8,300)

(600,000)

(600,000)
(1,091,619)

(1,091,619)

(19,998)

(19,998)

(1,676)

(1,676)

Arts Regeneration

(25,900)

(25,900)

Museum & Schools Grant

(52,166)

Early Years Professional Development

(52,166)
(4,000)

(4,000)

Wellbeing Grant Ed Psych

(11,000)

(11,000)

Strengthening Families funding

(47,075)

(47,075)

Linking Network
Community Hygiene - Land charge

(7,000)

(7,000)
(4,500)

Landscaped Areas - Commuted sum Lakeland Gardens

(32,400.00)

(32,400)

Unspent Public Health Funding - Business Compliance

(2,800.00)

(2,800)

Unspent DEFRA grant

(5,051.00)

S278 contributions

(5,051)
(27,292)

Contribution from Westholme School for MOVA works not yet completed

(27,292)

(39,000)

(39,000)

(105,000)

(105,000)

Active Travel Feasability Grant

(30,000)

(30,000)

Capability Grant

(94,765)

(94,765)

Levelling up capacity grant 5958

Version 0.1 06/07/22

APPENDIX 1

(4,500.00)

SCHEDULE OF BUDGET ADJUSTMENTS REQUESTED - QUARTER 4 - OUTTURN 2021/22

Adult Services
and Prevention

Public Health &
Wellbeing

Children, Young
People &
Education

Environmental
Services

Growth &
Development

Digital &
Customer
Services

Finance &
Governance

Schools &
Education
(DSG)

TOTAL

DEFRA Biodiversity Net Gain grant

(20,094)

(20,094)

HMLR Capacity Grant

(18,525)

(18,525)

Local Plan underspend

(27,311)

(27,311)

(178,571)

(178,571)

DFT Local Transport Authority Capacity grant
HMLR Funding

(20,200)

(20,200)
0

Transfers between portfolios
Budget transfer relating to the Consortium of Local Education Authorities
for the Provision of Science Services (CLEAPPS)

(2,200)

0

2,200

0
Other budget adjustments
RCCO - CCTV Hub

(55,274)

RCCO reduction re Witton Park Cycle Track

(55,274)
4,478

Utilise Sales Fees & Charges grant

28,000

362,000

4,478
37,000

203,000.00

58,295

160,000

848,295
0

Revised Controllable Budget as at 31st March 2022

55,518,917

OUTTURN

53,091,501

3,311,541

34,106,814

9,882,865

6,520,899

6,446,418

8,964,335

(666,530)

121,657,844

2,427,416

398,182

1,738,181

181,913

155,769

(67,256)

(200,497)

274,470

53,347

VARIANCE

-

2,913,359

32,368,633

9,700,952

6,365,130

6,513,674

9,164,832

(941,000)

121,604,497

(274,470)

Transfer to unallocated reserves

221,123

Page 120

Transfer from earmaked reserves - Schools reserves / DSG Surplus & Growth Fund

(0)

APPENDIX 1

Version 0.1 06/07/22

Appendix 2
Corporate Budget Monitoring - Quarter 4
Original
Budget
2021/22
£000

Variations
£000

Working
Budget
2021/22
£000

Outturn
£000

Variation
£000

Adult Services and Prevention
Public Health and Wellbeing
Childrens
Environmental Services
Growth and Development
Digital and Customer Services
Finance and Governance
Schools and Education DSG
Net Cost of Services

53,747
2,239
32,194
9,172
8,076
5,771
9,691
(941)
119,949

1,772
674
175
529
(1,711)
743
(526)
0
1,656

55,519
2,913
32,369
9,701
6,365
6,514
9,165
(941)
121,605

53,092
3,311
34,107
9,883
6,521
6,447
8,964
(667)
121,658

Corporate Income and Expenditure
RCCO
School Contribution to Capital
Contingencies
Debt Charges
Other Non-Ringfenced Grants
Town and Parish Council Precepts
Net Revenue Expenditure

3,381
(416)
8,251
18,286
(37,490)
190
112,151

(1,361)
0
(7,420)
(746)
(4,654)
0
(12,525)

2,020
(416)
831
17,540
(42,144)
190
99,626

2,020
(416)
831
17,817
(42,144)
190
99,956

0
0
0
277
0
0
330

Contribution to/(from) Reserves
General Fund Working Balance
Net Expenditure

(4,463)
53
107,741

13,178
(653)
(0)

8,715
(600)
107,741

8,440
(655)
107,741

(275)
(55)
0

(24,275)
(20,545)
(13,597)
538
7,345
(57,207)
(107,741)

(24,275)
(20,545)
(13,597)
538
7,345
(57,207)
(107,741)

Business Rates - Top Up Grant
Retained Business Rates
Revenue Support Grant
Collection Fund - Council Tax (Surplus)/Deficit
Collection Fund - NNDR (Surplus)/Deficit
Council Tax Income
Total Income

(24,275)
(20,545)
(13,597)
538
7,345
(57,207)
(107,741)

Page 121

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

(2,427)
398
1,738
182
156
(67)
(201)
274
53

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

APPENDIX 3
DETAILS OF GENERAL FUND EARMARKED RESERVES FOR USE BY THE COUNCIL
Balance at 31 Dec
2021

Requested Transfers to/(from) earmarked
reserves in Qtr 4

Balance at 31
March 2022

Q3 2021/22 - As
reported to Exec
Board February
2022
£000

Portfolio carry Other transfers Other transfers
over requests
to reserves
(from) reserves

Q4 - Outturn

Welfare, council tax and business rates reforms
Welfare and council tax reforms
Section 31 Grant - Compensation for lost Business Rates income

£000

£000

1,549
8,795

Investment in assets and infrastructure
Office Accommodation and property improvements
Highways winter maintenance
Support for the Local Plan
Flood Defence
St John's

562
595
73
77
0

Support for Other Resources and Transformation projects
Legal Advice Reserve
Partnerships & Transformation
Insurance risk investment fund
Brexit Preparation Funding

105
78
43
149

Support for People Services
Schools Improvement (SSIF)
Troubled Families / Targetted Youth Support
YOT partnership
Music Services
Disabled Facilities Grants
Future Demand Pressures
Better Care Fund

546
224
291
117
289
1,799
316

Support for Place Services
Investment to support business rates growth
Place Shaping Investment Reserve

520
92

Contingent sums to support future downsizing and transformation programmes
Support for future redundancy costs
Support for part year effect of future savings plans
Support for Future Cost Pressures
Digital Transformation
Transition to the Cloud
Response and Recovery Reserve
Budget Support Reserve
Invest to Save Reserve

2,169
1,187
0
921
447
2,500
5,000
4,950

Amounts b/fwd from previous year(s) in respect of unspent grants and contributions
Transformation Challenge Award
SEN / SEND Reform Grant /SEND Prep for Empl
Public Health Grant
Transforming Lives
One Public Estate grant
Electoral Grant
DCLG Transparency Code New Burdens
Adult PSS - Local Reform and Community Voices
Adult PSS - War Pensions Disregard
Flexible Homelessness Support Grant (FHSG)
Social Integration funding
Section 278 contributions
NHS Funding for LPRES integration with Mosaic and spine mini services
COVID-19 Funding from MHCLG
Combined Authority Grant
Burdens Fund monies
Custom build Grant
Linking Network
Museum & Arts Project
Museum & Schools Grant
Home Office monies
Communities Fund/Localities
Community Discharge Grant
Social Prescribing Link Workers Monies
More Positive Together monies
Community Champion Funding
Virtual School Grant
Clincally Extremely Vulnerable COVID Funding
Supported Families Funding
DLUHC Domestic Abuse Support to Victims Funding
DFT Local Transport Authority Capacity grant

64
25
0
37
474
57
13
108
30
68
471
0
29
9,879
48
3
15
0
0
0
0
0
0
11
17
83
96
290
164
50
0

£000

4,178

£000

(21)
(4,311)

227
(44)
27
3,540

(39)

1,528
8,662

789
551
100
77
3,501

105
78
43
149

65
35
47

611
259
338
117
289
1,799
1,396

1,080

520
400

308

(102)

1,092

35
27
33

(3,136)

7
20
52
16
7
65
37
2
110
(12)
16

2,067
1,187
0
921
447
2,500
5,000
4,950

64
25
1,092
37
474
57
13
108
30
68
506
27
29
6,776
48
3
15
7
20
52
16
7
65
11
54
85
206
290
152
66
0

Page 122
06/07/22

APPENDIX 3
DETAILS OF GENERAL FUND EARMARKED RESERVES FOR USE BY THE COUNCIL

Amounts c/fwd to future year(s) in respect of unspent grants and contributions
Contribution from Westholme School for MOVA works not yet completed
Levelling up capacity grant
Active Travel Feasability Grant
Capability Grant
DEFRA Biodiversity net gain grant
HMLR Capacity Grant
Unspent Public Health funding
DEFRA grant
Arts Regeneration
Community Development Management
Community Support Unit DLUHC Local Digital Collaboration Unit
Safer Streets Fund - CCTV monitoring & Maintenance
Safer Streets Fund - Alleygating
Early Years Professional Development
Wellbeing Grant Ed Psych
Strengthening Families funding
HMLR Funding
DFT Local Transport Authority Capacity grant
Amounts committed in future year budgets/MTFS
Budget carry over for implementation of Concerto (Property system)
Budget carry over for Intack Depot driveway
CCTV Hub carry forward
Development Investment Fund (Capital)
Strengthening Communities Volunteering in Lancashire (SCVL)
Community Support Unit - request to carry forward specific budget
underspends
Community Hygiene - request carry forward income from Land Charges
Motivate Fund Raising
Landscaped Areas - Commuted sum Lakeside Gardens
Housing budget carry forward re committed spend 2022/23
Libraries Artifacts Secure Store
Funding for Care Quality Commission (CQC) Inspection
Reserves held for specified purposes
Developers Contributions (S106 Income)
Future Maintenance of Wainwright Bridge
Future Maintenance of Witton Park 3G Pitches
Leisure Equipment Pay-back
Future remediation costs in respect of former landfill sites
Highways claims anticipated for years up to current year but not yet
received
Art Acquisitions Fund
W. Ferrier Bequest (for museum re Kathleen Ferrier)
Allowance for contingent liabilities (e.g. MMI)
TOTAL EARMARKED RESERVES FOR DISCRETIONARY USE
'Other Earmarked' Reserves
Reserves held in respect of joint arrangements and charitable bodies
Darwen Market Traders Association
Joint Building Control Account
Turton Tower Charity
LSCB Safeguarding Partners Fund
Reserves held in relation to schools
Dedicated Schools Grant - Surplus
LMS Schools Balances

Balance at 31 Dec
2021

Requested Transfers to/(from) earmarked
reserves in Qtr 4

Balance at 31
March 2022

Q3 2021/22 - As
reported to Exec
Board February
2022
£000

Portfolio carry Other transfers Other transfers
over requests
to reserves
(from) reserves

Q4 - Outturn

£000

£000

£000

£000

0

39

39

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

105
30
95
20
19
3
5
26
10
50
90
8
4
11
47
20
178

105
30
95
20
19
3
5
26
10
50
90
8
4
11
47
20
178

5

20
10
206
1
109
77
5

20
10
82
1
109
77
0

124

2
0
120
0
0

(2)
32
(6)
2
600

3,432
28
125
60
400
300

1,072

18
20
250

1

50,480

3,992

2
151
73
192

9,630

(8)
(1)

4,496
27
125
60
400
300
19
20
250

(7,682)

56,420

(22)

2
124
81
170

(922)

4,247
8,139

(27)
8

3,599
9,061

0
32
114
2
600

648

TOTAL 'OTHER EARMARKED' RESERVES

13,078

0

656

(971)

12,763

TOTAL EARMARKED RESERVES

63,558

3,992

10,286

(8,653)

69,183

8,977

0

3,009

(4,268)

7,718

UNALLOCATED RESERVES

Page 123
06/07/22

Agenda Item 8.7
EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION
REPORT OF:

Executive Member for Finance and Governance

LEAD OFFICERS:

Director of Finance

DATE:

14 July 2022

PORTFOLIO/S
AFFECTED:

All

WARD/S AFFECTED:

All

KEY DECISION:

YES

NO

SUBJECT: CORPORATE CAPITAL BUDGET AND BALANCE SHEET MONITORING REPORT
2021/22 – Quarter 4 as at 31st March 2022
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
To report the overall financial position of the Council in respect of the capital programme as at 31st
March 2022, highlighting key issues and explaining variations at the year end with regard to scheme
under/overspends and slippage since the last report to the Executive Board in February 2022.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
The Executive Board is asked;
to approve the revised capital programme as per Appendix 1,
to approve the variations to the programme shown in Appendix 2,
3. BACKGROUND
All portfolios are required to examine their capital budget position on a monthly basis.
4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS
a) The total cost of the Council’s capital investment programme for 2021/22 has now decreased
from £25.485 million, as approved by Executive Board on 10th February 2022, to £17.273 million
at 31st March 2022. The net variation of £8.212 million (detailed in Appendix 2) reflects;
budget increases of £0.574 million made to reflect the approval of schemes during the
fourth quarter of the year,
a further budget increase of £0.240 million for costs transferred from the revenue budget,
further variations during the final quarter of the year, for which approval is requested
(£0.274 million),
slippage and re-profiling of budgets during the final quarter of the year (£9.300 million).
b) Capital receipts of £5.118 million were received during 2021/22, which were used to support the
Minimum Revenue Provision. This compares with the forecast reported to the Executive Board
in February of £5.0 million.

Page 124
EBD: V1/16

Page 1 of 11

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
The information contained within the report accords with the capital strategy and the three year budget
forecast within the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-24, as approved at Finance Council on 1st
March 2021.
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
6.1 CAPITAL PROGRAMME
The variations in actual spend and resource availability for 2021/22 are summarised by portfolio in
Appendix 1. Variations in spending are set out in Appendix 2.
The capital programme for 2021/22 has decreased by £8.212 million in the final quarter of the year.
The other main points to note are as follows:
6.1.1 New Approved Capital Schemes
Several capital schemes (new schemes and amendments to existing schemes) were approved in the
final quarter of 2021/22 and have now been added to the capital programme as follows:
Scheme

Children’s and Education
Stansfeld Centre Refurbishment
Shadsworth Infants School - SEND
Longshaw Nursery School Relocation
Growth and Development
St John’s Church Refurbishment
Flood Defence – Brecon Road
Flood Defence – Waterfall Surface
Water
Flood Defence – Aqueduct Road
Flood Defence – Quick Win Fund Hope
Street
Flood Defence – Old Gates Drive
Flood Defence – Preston Old Road
Flood Defence – Corporation Park
Local Transport Plan 22-23
Total

Approved By

Amount
2021/22
£

Amount
Future
Years
£

Date
Approved

-

£500,000
£250,000
£165,000

Executive Board
Executive Board
Executive Board

10-Mar-22
10-Mar-22
10-Mar-22

£3,540,000 Executive Board
Executive Board
Executive Board

10-Feb-22
10-Mar-22
10-Mar-22

£90,000
£150,000
£174,630
£7,500

-

Executive Board
Executive Board

10-Mar-22
10-Mar-22

£56,000
£65,000
£30,000
£573,130

£5,255,263
£9,710,263

Executive Board
Executive Board
Executive Board
Executive Board

10-Mar-22
10-Mar-22
10-Mar-22
10-Mar-22

6.1.2 Adults and Prevention Services
Disabled Facilities Grant
Approval is requested to carry forward funding of £243,000 in respect of the Disabled Facilities Grant
to use for spend to be incurred in 2022/23.
Telecare Project
A request is made to carry forward £40,000 of the Telecare Project allocation to fund expenditure on
this scheme in 2022/23.

Page 125
EBD: V1/16

Page 2 of 11

Safer Streets Fund
This project is funded by a grant from central government which is to be used for both capital and
revenue costs. An estimated split of costs between capital and revenue was made when the grant was
received, but this has since changed as more capital costs have been incurred. The increase of
£41,000 in the spend on this capital scheme is to be funded from a reallocation of the grant originally
attributed to revenue.
CCTV Hub Upgrade
Additional costs totalling £55,000 have been incurred on this scheme. These additional costs are to be
financed by a revenue contribution from the CCTV earmarked reserve.

6.1.3 Children’s Young People & Education
Disabled Facilities Grant
Re-profiling of the disabled facilities grant budgets has been necessary, it is therefore requested that
£57,000 be slipped into 2022/23 for future spend on this scheme.
Two Year Old Grant.
Approval is requested to carry forward funding of £214,000 in respect of the Two Year Old Grant to be
used in future years.
Schools Capital Schemes
Unallocated schools capital grant allocations have been retained in an overarching Capital Allocation
Fund within the capital programme until bids against this have been approved. As such, a balance
remains unallocated at the year-end of £3.823 million for carry forward and utilisation in 2022/23.
Further slippage and variations on schemes within the schools capital programme are as follows:
Scheme

32
52
146
89
74
35
52
49
219
-

Other
Variations
£’000
57
8

Project
Management
Fee Allocation
£’000
2
9
25
2
5
7

748

65

50

(65)
-

(50)
-

Slippage
Requested
£’000
Newfield ASD
Avondale Kitchen
BCHS/Crosshill SEN
Lammack Extension
Longshaw Nursery Relocation
Feniscowles Disability Access Adaptations
Avondale Resurface Playground
Lower Darwen Primary Heating
Roe Lee Roofing, Upstandings & Windows
Other Schemes – Minor slippage on several schemes
Other Schemes – Minor variations,
overspends/underspends on several schemes
Total Slippage and Variations
Funded by:
Overspends financed from Contingency
Allocation of Project Management Fee
Total Variations Funding

Page 126
EBD: V1/16

Page 3 of 11

The project management fee is charged to the individual schemes at the end of the year, and the budget
has been apportioned across the schemes undertaken during the year accordingly.
Newfield ASD
This scheme was completed in the previous year, but an invoice has been received which was
incorrectly omitted from the accrual included at March 2021. These costs have been funded from the
contingency included within the schools capital programme.

6.1.4 Environmental Services
Old Bank Lane Car Park, Purchase of Blue Bins and Feilden Street Car Park ANPR
These schemes have completed during the year reporting underspends of £17,000, £4,000 and £2,000
respectively.
Prayer Shelter at Pleasington Cemetery
Approval is requested to carry forward £34,000 on this scheme into 2022/23, for works to be completed
next year.

6.1.5 Public Health and Wellbeing
Capital schemes for Witton Park Cycle Track and Replacement Gym Equipment have completed during
the year with underspends of £5,000 and £33,000 respectively.

6.1.6 Growth and Development
Growth Team Housing Schemes
Approval is sought to slip the following Growth Team Housing Scheme allocations, as these schemes
are all on going:
Scheme

Slippage
Requested
£’000
36
(217)
10
23
34
(114)

Bank Top and Griffin Clearance
Neighbourhood Intervention Fund
Other Acquisitions
Development Investment Fund
Land Release Fund
Total Slippage

It is also requested that an additional £255,000 is added to the budget for the Neighbourhood
Intervention Scheme in 2021/22 in respect of a compensation payment made in respect of land
previously acquired by the Council by way of compulsory purchase. This is to be financed from
affordable housing S106 contributions.
Assistance to Industry
A request is made to slip the £107,000 that remains unutilised at 31st March 2022 for the consideration
and approval of grant requests in 2022/23.

Page 127

EBD: V1/16

Page 4 of 11

Local Transport Plan
Variations to the Local Transport Plan budget are listed in the table below:
Variations Due to Slippage
Department for Transport grant to be used in 2022/23
S106 Contributions to be used in 2022/23
West Bank Infrastructure
Yew Tree Drive
Pole Lane North
Spring Meadows
Total Slippage
Other Variations
Environment Agency – Preston Old Road
Total of Other Variations
Total Net Variations

£’000
(1,105)
(84)
13
(250)
(200)
(1,626)
65
65
1,561

Blakey Moor
Approval is requested to re-profile a further £104,000 into 2022/23 as the scheme was still ongoing at
the end of March 2022.
Cathedral Quarter Office Block Fit Out
Approval is requested to slip £28,000 into 2022/23 for costs to be incurred in future years.
Reel Cinema and Jubilee Square
A request is made to re-profile the remaining budget of £39,000 into 2022/23, for ongoing works being
undertaken on Jubilee Square.
Drainage Schemes
Approval is sought to slip the following Drainage Scheme allocations, as these schemes are all on
going:
Scheme

Slippage
Requested
£’000
14
10
123
3
66
13
175
8
412

Bury Brook Fold
Pottery Farm Alleviation
Waterfall Study
Grimshaw Park Flood Alleviation Scheme
Brecon Road Drainage
Corporation Park Drainage
Aqueduct Road Drainage
Quick Win Fund (Hope Street)
Total Slippage

Affordable Warmth Grants
A request is made to slip the £6,000 that remains unutilised at 31st March 2022 for the consideration
and approval of grant requests in 2022/23.
Darwen Tower
Approval is sought to re-profile £52,000 of the budget previously slipped on this scheme for works which
were completed in 2021/22.

Page 128
EBD: V1/16

Page 5 of 11

Darwen Towns Fund
A request is made to slip the remaining budget of £598,000 on this scheme into 2022/23, as these
works were ongoing at year end.
Thwaites SPV
Following the completion of the initial investment in the Thwaites SPV company an underspend of
£12,000 is reported.
Greenfields CC & Mill Hill Juniors FC Grants

A request is made to slip the £50,000 budget for this scheme into 2022/23, as distribution of these
grants has been delayed whilst details of the works to be undertaken are being drawn up.
Manxman Road Car Park
This scheme has completed during the year reporting an underspend of £4,000.
St Johns Church Refurbishment
This scheme was initially expected to commence in 2022/23, but preliminary works were started in
March 2022. Approval is therefore sought to re-profile £39,000 of the budget for this scheme from
2022/23 into 2021/22 for these costs incurred.

6.1.7 Digital and Customer Services
Variations and slippage on Corporate ICT scheme are as follows:
Scheme

Slippage
Requested
£’000

Finance System
Desktop Refresh
Core Infrastructure Programme
Legal Services Case Management System
Corporate Website
Town Hall IT Infrastructure Upgrade
Digital Customer Portal
Reablement System
Round Management System
Replacement HR and Payroll System
Implementation Liquidlogic Group Work Module
Microsoft 365 and Unified Comms
Transition to the Cloud
Total Slippage and Variations

18
36
32
4
44
73
12
87
11
55
10
382

Other
Variations
£’000
(8)
(8)

Reablement System
This scheme is now complete with a remaining budget of £8,000 unspent. Approval is sought to transfer
the unspent budget back to the Corporate ICT earmarked scheme.
Desktop Refresh
A request is also made to increase the budget on this scheme by £236,000 for additional devices which
were required to be purchased during the year. These costs were previously included within the
revenue budget, and are to be funded by a revenue contribution.

Page 129
EBD: V1/16

Page 6 of 11

6.1.8 Finance and Governance
Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme
A request is made to slip the remaining budget of £565,000 on this scheme into 2022/23, as work is
still ongoing.
Corporate Accommodation Strategy Phase 2
Approval is sought to re-profile a further £38,000 of this budget for this scheme into 2022/23 for costs
to be incurred in future years.
Darwen Town Hall Reroofing and Witton 3G Changing Room Roof
These schemes are now complete with remaining unspent budgets of £24,000 and £3,000 respectively.
Approval is sought to transfer the unspent budgets back to the Corporate Property Investment
earmarked scheme.
Mill Hill Community Centre Roof
A request is made to re-profile £2,000 of the previously slipped budget for this scheme from 2022/23
into 2021/22 for costs incurred during the year.
Treescapes Fund
This scheme was ongoing at the end of March 2022, and it is therefore requested that the unspent
budget of £85,000 is re-profiled into 2022/23 for the continuing work in respect of this scheme.

6.1.9 Earmarked and Contingent Schemes
Corporate ICT Earmarked Scheme
Approval is sought to slip the remaining budget of £28,000 on this Earmarked Scheme allocation from
the 2021/22 programme to meet the costs in future years.
Corporate Property Investment Earmarked Scheme
Approval is sought to slip the remaining budget of £27,000 on this Earmarked Scheme allocation from
the 2021/22 programme to meet the costs in future years.
Vehicles Earmarked Scheme
Approval is requested to slip the remaining budget of £253,000 on this Earmarked Scheme allocation
from the 2021/22 programme to meet the costs in future years. The vehicles purchased in 2021/22 will
be considered for leasing during 2022/23 as part of a leasing tender process.

6.2 CAPITAL RECEIPTS
Actual capital receipts at the end of March 2022 were £5.118 million, compared with £5.0 million
forecast reported to the Executive Board in February. All of these receipts will be utilised in support of
the Minimum Revenue Provision.

Page 130
EBD: V1/16

Page 7 of 11

6.3 BALANCE SHEET POSITION
6.3.1 Overview
Good balance sheet management assists in the effective use and control over the Council’s assets and
liabilities. Key assets comprise the Council’s tangible fixed assets, debtors, investments and bank
balances. Key liabilities include long and short-term borrowing, creditors and reserves.
6.3.2 Non-current Assets
Tangible non-current assets include property, plant and equipment held by the Council for use in the
production or supply of goods and services, for rental to others or for administrative purposes. Property
assets are the responsibility of the Finance and Governance portfolio. One fifth of all assets are revalued every year, and annual reviews are undertaken to establish whether any impairment or other
adjustments need to be applied. New assets and enhancements to existing assets are managed by
way of the capital programme, as reported in Appendix 1.
6.3.3 Borrowing and Investments
Long-term borrowing requirements flow from the capital programme. Regular dialogue and meetings
take place between the Director of Finance, their staff and the Council’s independent treasury
consultants Arlingclose, and options for optimising borrowing requirements are actively reviewed.
No long-term borrowing has been taken this year.
The Council’s surplus cash balances are managed on a day-to-day basis in line with the Treasury
Management Strategy approved by Finance Council. The Council spreads its investment risk over a
number of institutions and has limits on how much can be invested in any one institution and for how
long. The list of approved institutions is kept under regular review by the Treasury Management Group
in conjunction with information from the Council’s treasury consultants.
More detail on the Treasury Management performance during 2021/22 and the outturn position for the
year is included in the Treasury Management Outturn report, also on the agenda for this meeting.
Following the audit of the Council’s Statement of Accounts 2020/21, the Council’s External Auditors
made a recommendation in relation to the Council’s Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy ‘The
Council should satisfy itself that its MRP policy results in a prudent MRP charge, in particular that the
calculation of MRP appropriately reflects the nature of and period of expected benefits of capital
expenditure and appropriate annuity rates are applied’.
This recommendation has arisen from a review of the Council’s policy for MRP which was approved
by the Council in March 2021 and specifically that part of the MRP relating to capital expenditure
financed from debt arising up to 2007/08, Government-supported borrowing arising from 2007/08 and
historic debt entered into prior to the Council gaining Unitary Authority status.
The outcome of the review undertaken by the Council following this recommendation from the
external auditors will be reported to Executive Board in August.

Page 131
EBD: V1/16

Page 8 of 11

Interest and Debt Repayments Revenue Budget
Original
Budget
£
Interest and investment income

Forecast at
Quarter 3
£

Movement
Quarter 4
£

Year End
Outturn
£

(15,000)

(25,000)

(29,300)

(54,300)

12,285,500

11,673,000

(18,200)

11,654,200

MRP

6,016,000

5,892,000

325,200

6,217,200

Total

18,286,500

17,540,000

277,100

17,817,100

Debt interest payable

The current borrowing and investment position is as follows:
Amounts at
31/03/2021
£000

Amounts at
31/03/2022
£000

Short term borrowing

78,250

20,000

Long term borrowing

145,681

141,790

Transferred debt re Local Government Reorganisation

13,582

13,039

Recognition of debt re PFI arrangements

61,603

59,744

299,116

234,573

58,633

42,170

TOTAL BORROWING
Investments made by the Council

The totals include the debt recognised on the balance sheet as a result of accounting adjustments in
respect of bringing the BSF school buildings in to use, which are financed through PFI
arrangements. These adjustments are made to ensure that the Council’s effective control over, and use
of, these assets is recognised with corresponding adjustments to the debt. These changes do not add
to the costs faced by the Council Tax payer as the actual capital costs for these schools form part of
the ongoing stream of payments made to the PFI contractor (which are in turn largely offset by PFI
grant funding from the Government).
6.3.4 Debtors
The Council has a corporate debt policy, as well as other specific policies for the management of debt
in the key areas of council tax, business rates and housing benefit overpayments. The table below
summarises the collection performance of the various debts and the total outstanding debt in the
respective areas at 31st March 2022. The table also shows the corresponding level of debt at the same
point in the last financial year.

Page 132
EBD: V1/16

Page 9 of 11

Position at
31/03/2021

Position at
31/03/2022

Council tax
Current year balance (£000)

3,607

3,975

Previous year arrears (£000)

11,218

11,334

Total Council tax balances

14,825

15,309

Collection rates

94.8%

94.8%

Current year balance (£000)

962

883

Previous year arrears (£000)

2,160

2,723

Total Business rates balances

3,122

3,607

96.5%

97.8%

2,565

2,383

Business rates

Collection rates
Housing Benefit
Overpayments balances (£000)

Council Tax
The collection rate is broadly in line with expectations.
Business Rates
The Business Rates collection rate was affected by the COVID pandemic last year, including measures
taken by both central government and the council, to support businesses in the borough.

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
The Council has a duty to ensure it can deliver a balanced budget. The Local Government Act 2003
imposes a duty on an authority to monitor its budgets during the year and consider what action to take
if a potential deterioration is identified.
8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
None.

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Please select one of the options below. Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the
EIA.
Option 1

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed.

Option 2
In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated
with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA link here)
Option 3
In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA
associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA attachment)

Page 133
EBD: V1/16

Page 10 of 11

10. CONSULTATIONS
None

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure. They are also compliant with
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of
Corporate Governance.
12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following
the meeting.

VERSION: V1.0
CONTACT OFFICER: Jody Spencer-Anforth (Ext 507748)
DATE: June 2022
BACKGROUND N/A
PAPER:

Page 134
EBD: V1/16

Page 11 of 11

Julie Jewson (Ext 5893)

Overall Capital Monitoring 2021/22
Current Year 2021/22
Budget Approved by
Finance Council on 1
March 2021
£ 000

Revised Budget at Qtr
3 Monitoring
£ 000

Virement / New
Scheme Approvals
£ 000

Revised Budget at Qtr
4 Outturn
£ 000

#REF!
#REF!
#REF!
#REF!
#REF!
#REF!
#REF!

2,424
6,346
53
304
10,680
1,568
3,558

578
236
-

2,424
6,346
53
304
11,258
1,804
3,558

Portfolios Total

#REF!

24,933

814

25,747

Earmarked Schemes
Contingent Schemes

#REF!
#REF!

552
-

-

Total Spend

#REF!

25,485

814

Financing
Department for Education
Department for Transport
Disabled Facilities Grant
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities
Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy
Home Office
Environment Agency
Heritage Lottery
Forrestry Commission
British Cycling

3,282
362
3,417
742
771
-

5,483
4,249
2,294
1,700
2,253
267
28
159
9

Total Grants

8,574

16,442

External Contributions
Revenue Contributions
Unsupported Borrowing

231
3,381
13,307

843
2,329
5,871

Total Financing

25,493

25,485

Page 135

Costs
Adults and Prevention Services
Children, Young People and Education
Environmental Services
Public Health and Wellbeing
Growth and Development
Digital and Customer Services
Finance and Governance

574

574
2,583
410
(2,753)
814

Actual Spend to Date
£ 000

2,237
1,504
(4)
266
8,732
1,414
2,845

Variance Before
Slippage
£ 000

Variance After
Slippage
£ 000

Slippage
£ 000

(187)
(4,842)
(57)
(38)
(2,526)
(390)
(713)

(283)
(4,842)
(34)
(2,765)
(382)
(686)

96
(23)
(38)
239
(8)
(27)

16,994

(8,753)

(8,992)

239

552
-

279
-

(273)
-

(308)
-

35
-

26,299

17,273

(9,026)

(9,300)

274

5,483
4,249
2,294
1,700
2,253
267
602
159
9

905
3,106
1,954
1,095
1,688
308
190
70
74
9

(4,578)
(1,143)
(340)
(605)
(565)
41
(412)
70
(85)
-

(4,578)
(1,143)
(340)
(605)
(565)

41
-

17,016

9,399

(7,617)

(7,658)

3,426
2,739
3,118

3,440
2,020
2,414

14
(719)
(704)

14
(991)
(665)

26,299

17,273

(9,026)

(9,300)

(412)
70
(85)

41
272
(39)
274

Scheme variations to 2021/22 Capital Programme
Current Year 2021/22

Adults and Prevention Services
Disabled Facilities Grant
Telecare Project
Safer Streets Fund
CCTV Hub Upgrade

Page 136

Children, Young People & Education
Disable Facilities Grant
Two Year Old Grant
Schools capital programme
Capital allocations
Newfield ASD
Avondale Kitchen
Shadsworth Infants - Heating
St Cuthberts SEND
Belmont Drainage and External Painting
BCHS/Crosshill SEN
Lammack Extension
Darwen - Additional School Places
Longshaw Nursery Relocation
Lower Darwen Disability Access Adaptations
Brunel Nursery External Fencing
Feniscowles Disability Access Adaptations
Shadsworth Infants Extension and Remodel
Ashleigh Heating and Ventilation
Ashworth Nursery Perimeter Fencing
Audley infants (Nursery) Upgrade Fire Alarm
Audley Infants Resurfacing Pathways
Audley Infants Replacement of Fascias & Soffits
Audley Inf & Jnr Replace windows & upstands to lean to roof
Avondale Resurface Playground
Belmont Replace Fire Alarm System
Brookhouse Primary (Nursery) Replace Roof System
Brookhouse Primary Replace Boilers
Intack Primary Replacement of External Doors
Longshaw Juniors Replace Fire Alarm System
Lower Darwen Primary Heating Scheme
Roe Lee Roofing, Upstandings & Windows
Roe Lee Repairs to Service Road, Ext Areas & Auto Gates
Shadsworth Juniors Replacement of Boilers
Turton & Edgworth Upgrade Fire Alarm

Budget
Approved by
Finance Council
on 1 March 2021
£ 000

Revised Budget
at Qtr 3
Monitoring
£ 000

2,324
270
2,594

1,812
200
267
145
2,424

823
-

282
214

1,637
90
380
1,300
550
660
15
125
220
-

3,788
48
3
9
9
716
461
119
50
30
135
39
9
5
6
5
14
15
35
7
19
10
5
10
52
49
26
10
7

Virement / New
Scheme
Approvals
£ 000

Revised Budget
at Qtr 4 Outturn
£ 000

Actual Spend to
Date
£ 000

Variance Before
Slippage
£ 000

-

1,812
200
267
145
2,424

1,569
160
308
200
2,237

(243)
(40)
41
55
(187)

(283)

41
55
96

282
214

225
-

(57)
(214)

(57)
(214)

-

3,823
50
3
10
10
725
487
121
52
31
140
40
9
5
6
5
14
15
35
7
19
10
5
10
52
49
26
10
7

(3,823)
57
(32)
1
7
(52)
(146)
(89)
(28)
(16)
(74)
(22)
(9)
(5)
(6)
(5)
(14)
(15)
(35)
(7)
(19)
(10)
(5)
(10)
(52)
(49)
(22)
(10)
(7)

(3,823)

57
18
3
11
17
673
341
32
24
15
66
18
4
-

57
1
7
-

35
2
1
1
9
26
2
2
1
5
1

Variance After
Slippage
£ 000

Slippage
£ 000

(243)
(40)

(32)

(52)
(146)
(89)
(28)
(16)
(74)
(22)
(9)
(5)
(6)
(5)
(14)
(15)
(35)
(7)
(19)
(10)
(5)
(10)
(52)
(49)
(22)
(10)
(7)

Scheme variations to 2021/22 Capital Programme
Current Year 2021/22

Meadowhead Infants Drainage Installations
Lower Darwen Primary Sch Partial Replace Fire Alarm System
Contingency
Project Management Fee

Environmental Services
Old Bank Lane Car Park
Land Remediation Scheme
Purchase of Blue Bins
Blakewater Car Park
Feilden St Car Park ANPR
Prayer Shelter at Pleasington Cemetery

Page 137

Public Health & Wellbeing
Witton Park Cycle Track
Replacement Gym Equipment

Growth & Development
Bank Top and Griffin Clearance
Neighbourhood Intervention Fund
Equity Loans
Empty Homes Cluster
Other Acquisition costs
Development Investment Fund
Land Release Fund
Assistance to Industry
Local Transport Plan
Blakey Moor
Cathedral Quarter Office Block Fit Out
Reel Cinema
Barnfield Blackburn SPV
Bury Fold Brook
Pottery Farm Alleviation
Waterfall Study
Grimshaw Park FAS Blackburn
Old Gates Drive FAS Blackburn
Brecon Road Drainage
Corporation Park Drainage
Aqueduct Road Drainage
Quick Win Fund (Hope Street)
Affordable Warmth Grants

Budget
Approved by
Finance Council
on 1 March 2021
£ 000

Revised Budget
at Qtr 3
Monitoring
£ 000

5,800

5
4
100
50
6,346

103
230
333

3
50
53

-

19
285
304

150
720
100
360
10
250
400
150
1,698
2,257
38
-

37
81
10
250
40
224
6,194
283
38
45
250
14
10
1
3
10

Virement / New
Scheme
Approvals
£ 000

Revised Budget
at Qtr 4 Outturn
£ 000

Actual Spend to
Date
£ 000

Variance Before
Slippage
£ 000

(35)
(50)
-

5
4
65
6,346

1,504

(5)
(4)
(65)
(4,842)

-

3
50
53

(17)
3
(4)
(2)
16
(4)

(17)
(4)
(2)
(34)
(57)

-

19
285
304

14
252
266

(5)
(33)
(38)

37
81
10
250
40
224
6,259
283
38
45
250
14
10
151
3
56
90
30
175
8
10

1
553
227
6
117
4,633
179
10
6
250
28
56
24
17
4

(36)
472
(10)
(23)
(34)
(107)
(1,626)
(104)
(28)
(39)
(14)
(10)
(123)
(3)
(66)
(13)
(175)
(8)
(6)

65

150
56
90
30
175
8

Variance After
Slippage
£ 000

Slippage
£ 000
(5)
(4)

(4,842)

(65)
-

(34)
(34)

(17)
(4)
(2)
(23)

-

(5)
(33)
(38)

(36)
217

(10)
(23)
(34)
(107)
(1,626)
(104)
(28)
(39)
(14)
(10)
(123)
(3)
(66)
(13)
(175)
(8)
(6)

255
-

Scheme variations to 2021/22 Capital Programme
Current Year 2021/22

Darwen Tower
Darwen Towns Fund - Accelerated Funds
Darwen Towns Fund - 5% Early Payment
Barbara Castle Statute
Thwaites SPV
Acquisition of former Fleece Inn
Acquisition of Penny St Car Park
Greenfields CC and Mill Hill Juniors FC Grants
Manxman Road Car Park
St Johns Church Refurbishment

Page 138

Digital & Customer Services
Corporate ICT - Finance System
Corporate ICT - Desktop Refresh
Corporate ICT - Core Infrastructure Programme
Corporate ICT - Legal Services Case Management System
Corporate ICT - Corporate Website
Coporate ICT - Town Hall IT Infrastructure Upgrade
Coporate ICT - Digital Customer Portal
Coporate ICT - Reablement System
Coporate ICT - Round Management System
Coporate ICT - Microsoft Licence Agreement Server and Database
Coporate ICT - Replacement HR and Payroll System
Coporate ICT - Implementation Liquidlogic Group Work Module
Coporate ICT - Microsoft 365 and Unified Comms
Coporate ICT - Transition to the Cloud

Finance & Governance
Carbon Management Plan
Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme
Corporate Accommodation Strategy Phase 2
15a Town Hall Street roofing
Darwen Town Hall Reroofing
Witton 3G Changing Room Roof
Mill Hill Community Centre Roof
Treescapes Fund

Portfolios Total

Budget
Approved by
Finance Council
on 1 March 2021
£ 000

Revised Budget
at Qtr 3
Monitoring
£ 000

6,133

175
233
1,250
1,225
200
25
50
32
10,680

113
120
25
86
190
587
133
1,254

46
96
40
42
53
91
417
8
130
125
410
45
55
10
1,568

67
2,000
220
60
2,347

18,461

Virement / New
Scheme
Approvals
£ 000

Revised Budget
at Qtr 4 Outturn
£ 000

Actual Spend to
Date
£ 000

Variance Before
Slippage
£ 000

175
250
1,233
4
1,225
200
25
50
32
11,258

227
250
635
4
1,213
200
25
28
39
8,732

52
(598)
(12)
(50)
(4)
39
(2,526)

236

46
332
40
42
53
91
417
8
130
125
410
45
55
10
1,804

28
332
4
10
49
47
344
118
125
323
34
1,414

(18)
(36)
(32)
(4)
(44)
(73)
(8)
(12)
(87)
(11)
(55)
(10)
(390)

2,253
780
291
65
10
159
3,558

-

2,253
780
291
65
10
159
3,558

1,688
742
267
62
12
74
2,845

(565)
(38)
(24)
(3)
2
(85)
(713)

2
(85)
(686)

24,933

814

25,747

16,994

(8,753)

(8,992)

17
(17)
4

578

236

Variance After
Slippage
£ 000

Slippage
£ 000
52
(598)

(50)
39
(2,765)

(18)
(36)
(32)
(4)
(44)
(73)
(12)
(87)
(11)
(55)
(10)
(382)

(565)
(38)

(12)
(4)
239

(8)
(8)

(24)
(3)
(27)

239

Scheme variations to 2021/22 Capital Programme
Current Year 2021/22
Budget
Approved by
Finance Council
on 1 March 2021
£ 000

Revised Budget
at Qtr 3
Monitoring
£ 000

Earmarked schemes:
Corporate ICT
Corporate Property Investment
Vehicles (funded from capital or leased)
Total

2,000
3,000
532
5,532

Contingent schemes:
Asset Management Strategy
Total

Totals

Virement / New
Scheme
Approvals
£ 000

Revised Budget
at Qtr 4 Outturn
£ 000

Actual Spend to
Date
£ 000

Variance Before
Slippage
£ 000

20
532
552

-

20
532
552

279
279

(20)
(253)
(273)

1,500
1,500

-

-

-

-

25,493

25,485

814

26,299

17,273

-

(9,026)

Variance After
Slippage
£ 000

Slippage
£ 000

(28)
(27)
(253)
(308)

-

(9,300)

8
27
35

-

274

Page 139

Agenda Item 8.8
EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION
REPORT OF:

Executive Member for Finance and Governance

LEAD OFFICERS:

Director of Finance

DATE:

14 July 2022

PORTFOLIO/S
AFFECTED:

All

WARD/S AFFECTED:

All

KEY DECISION:

YES

NO

SUBJECT: CORPORATE TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 2021/22
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
To report to Members the Treasury outturn for 2021/22.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
The Executive Board is asked;
to note the outturn position for 2021/22, and;
to note the updated PWLB lending guidance.
3. BACKGROUND
3.1 In February/March 2021 the Council agreed a Treasury Management Strategy and Minimum
Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy for 2021/22.
3.2 The CIPFA Treasury Management Code requires the Council to approve a Treasury
Management Strategy (including various Treasury Management indicators) before the start of
each financial year, and to consider the outturn after each year end. This report is to update
Executive Board on the overall outturn position for 2021/22.
4.

KEY ISSUES & RISKS

4.1

Treasury Priorities
The Council has operated within CIPFA and statutory guidance and requirements in respect
of Treasury Management practice. The approved Treasury Management Policy Statement,
together with the more detailed Treasury Management Practices and each year’s Annual
Strategy have all emphasised the importance of security and liquidity over yield.

Page 140
EBD: V1/16

Page 1 of 14

2021/22 OUTTURN
4.2
4.2.1

Original Strategy for 2021/22
The Strategy for 2021/22 was approved by Executive Board on 11th March 2021. The main
aspects of the strategy are outlined below :
With short-term interest rates expected to continue to be lower than long-term rates it
was acknowledged, for another year, that it may continue to be more cost effective not to
borrow and instead reduce the level of investments.
Long-term borrowing would be taken if it became apparent that there was a risk of
significantly increased interest rates.
Any balances over and above those required to maintain basic liquidity could be
invested either in the medium term (out to a year) or the longer term (over a year).
Priority was given to security of funds and liquidity (accessibility) over yield (or return).
The limits to investment by reference to amount, duration and credit rating were largely
unchanged from those applying in previous years.

4.3

External Context

Economic Background
4.3.1 The continuing economic recovery from coronavirus pandemic, together with the war in
Ukraine, higher inflation, and higher interest rates were major issues over the period.
4.3.2

Bank Rate was 0.1% at the beginning of the reporting period. April and May saw the
economy gathering momentum as the shackles of the pandemic restrictions were eased.
Despite the improving outlook, market expectations were that the Bank of England would
delay rate rises until 2022. Rising, persistent inflation changed that.

4.3.3

UK Consumer Price Index (CPI) was 0.7% in March 2021 but thereafter began to steadily
increase. Initially driven by energy price effects and by inflation in sectors such as retail and
hospitality which were re-opening after the pandemic lockdowns, inflation then was
believed to be temporary. Thereafter price rises slowly became more widespread, as a
combination of rising global costs and strong demand was exacerbated by supply
shortages and transport dislocations. The surge in wholesale gas and electricity prices led
to elevated inflation expectations. CPI for February 2022 registered 6.2% year on year, up
from 5.5% in the previous month and the highest reading in the National Statistic series.
Core inflation, which excludes the more volatile components, rose to 5.2% year on year
from 4.4%.

4.3.4

The government’s jobs furlough scheme insulated the labour market from the worst effects
of the pandemic. The labour market began to tighten and demand for workers grew
strongly as employers found it increasingly difficult to find workers to fill vacant jobs. Having
peaked at 5.2% in December 2020, unemployment continued to fall and the most recent
labour market data for the three months to January 2022 showed the unemployment rate at
3.9% while the employment rate rose to 75.6%. Headline 3-month average annual growth
rate for wages were 4.8% for total pay and 3.8% for regular pay. In real terms, after
adjusting for inflation, total pay growth was up 0.1% while regular pay fell by 1.0%.

4.3.5

With the fading of lockdown – and, briefly, the ‘pingdemic’ – restraints, activity in consumerfacing sectors improved substantially as did sectors such as oil and mining with the

Page 141

EBD: V1/16

Page 2 of 14

reopening of oil rigs but materials shortages and the reduction in the real spending power
of households and businesses dampened some of the growth momentum. Gross domestic
product (GDP) grew by an upwardly revised 1.3% in the fourth calendar quarter of 2021
according to the final estimate (initial estimate 1.0%) and took UK GDP to just 0.1% below
where it was before the pandemic. The annual growth rate was revised down slightly to
7.4% (from 7.5%) following a revised 9.3% fall in 2020.
4.3.6

Having increased Bank Rate from 0.10% to 0.25% in December, the Bank of England
hiked it further to 0.50% in February and 0.75% in March. At the meeting in February, the
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted unanimously to start reducing the stock of its
asset purchase scheme by ceasing to reinvest the proceeds from maturing bonds as well
as starting a programme of selling its corporate bonds.

4.3.7

In its March interest rate announcement, the MPC noted that the invasion of Ukraine had
caused further large increases in energy and other commodity prices, with the expectation
that the conflict will worsen supply chain disruptions around the world and push CPI
inflation to around 8% later in 2022, even higher than forecast only a month before in the
February Monetary Policy Report. The Committee also noted that although GDP in January
was stronger than expected with business confidence holding up and the labour market
remaining robust, consumer confidence had fallen due to the squeeze in real household
incomes.

Financial Markets
4.3.8 The conflict in Ukraine added further volatility to the already uncertain inflation and interest
rate outlook over the period. The Dow Jones started to decline in January but remained
above its pre-pandemic level by the end of the period while the FTSE 250 and FTSE 100
also fell and ended the quarter below their pre-March 2020 levels.
4.3.9

Bond yields were similarly volatile as the tension between higher inflation and flight to
quality from the war pushed and pulled yields, but with a general upward trend from higher
interest rates dominating as yields generally climbed.

4.3.10 The 5-year UK benchmark gilt yield began the final quarter of the year at 0.82% before
rising to 1.41%. Over the same period the 10 year gilt yield rose from 0.97% to 1.61% and
the 20-year yield from 1.20% to 1.82%. The Sterling Overnight Rate (SONIA) averaged
0.39% over the quarter.
Credit Review
4.3.11 In the first half of FY 2021-22 credit default swap (CDS) spreads, an indicator of market
confidence in banks, were flat over most of period and are broadly in line with their prepandemic levels. In September spreads rose by a few basis points due to concerns around
Chinese property developer Evergrande defaulting but then fell back. Fitch and Moody’s
revised upward the outlook on a number of UK banks and building societies on the
Authority’s counterparty to ‘stable’, recognising their improved capital positions compared
to 2020 and better economic growth prospects in the UK.
4.3.12 Fitch also revised the outlook for Nordea, Svenska Handelsbanken and Handelsbanken plc
to stable. The agency considered the improved economic prospects in the Nordic region to
have reduced the baseline downside risks it previously assigned to the lenders.
4.3.13 The successful vaccine rollout programme was credit positive for the financial services
sector in general and the improved economic outlook meant some institutions were able to
reduce provisions for bad loans. However, in 2022, the uncertainty engendered by Russia’s
invasion of Ukraine pushed CDS prices modestly higher over the first calendar quarter, but

Page 142
EBD: V1/16

Page 3 of 14

only to levels slightly above their 2021 averages, illustrating the general resilience of the
banking sector.
4.3.14 Having completed its full review of its credit advice on unsecured deposits, in September
Arlingclose extended the maximum duration limit for UK bank entities on its recommended
lending list from 35 days to 100 days; a similar extension was advised in December for the
non-UK banks on this list. As ever, the institutions and durations on the Authority’s
counterparty list recommended by Arlingclose remains under constant review.
4.3.15 The pattern of interest rates over the year is summarised in the chart below. Local
government long-term borrowing costs are set by the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) these directly mirror gilt yields. Nominal investment rates, measured through the Sterling
Over Night Rate (SONIA), are also shown.
Interest Rate Movements in 2021/22 –

4.4

Revised CIPFA Codes, Updated PWLB Lending Facility Guidance

4.4.1

In August 2021 HM Treasury significantly revised guidance for the PWLB lending facility
with more detail and 12 examples of permitted and prohibited use of PWLB loans.
Authorities that are purchasing or intending to purchase investment assets primarily for
yield will not be able to access the PWLB except to refinance existing loans or externalise
internal borrowing. Acceptable use of PWLB borrowing includes service delivery, housing,
regeneration, preventative action, refinancing and treasury management.

4.4.2

CIPFA published its revised Prudential Code for Capital Finance and Treasury
Management Code on 20th December 2021. The key changes in the two codes are around
permitted reasons to borrow, knowledge and skills, and the management of non-treasury
investments.

4.4.3

The principles of the Prudential Code took immediate effect although local authorities could
defer introducing the revised reporting requirements until the 2023/24 financial year if they
wish. Given other priorities, the Council has taken advantage of the option to defer
introducing the revised reporting requirements until the 2023/24 year.

Page 143
EBD: V1/16

Page 4 of 14

4.4.4

To comply with the Prudential Code, authorities must not borrow to invest primarily for
financial return. This Code also states that it is not prudent for local authorities to make
investment or spending decision that will increase the Capital Financing Requirement
(CFR) unless directly and primarily related to the functions of the authority. Existing
commercial investments are not required to be sold; however, authorities with existing
commercial investments who expect to need to borrow should review the options for exiting
these investments

4.4.5

Borrowing is permitted for cashflow management, interest rate risk management, to
refinance current borrowing and to adjust levels of internal borrowing. Borrowing to
refinance capital expenditure primarily related to the delivery of a local authority’s function
but where a financial return is also expected is allowed, provided that financial return is not
the primary reason for the expenditure. The changes align the CIPFA Prudential Code with
the PWLB lending rules.

4.4.6

Unlike the Prudential Code, there is no mention of the date of initial application in the
Treasury Management Code. The Treasury Management Code now includes extensive
additional requirements for service and commercial investments, far beyond those in the
2017 version. The Authority will follow the same process as the Prudential Code, i.e.
delaying changes in reporting requirements to the 2023/24 financial year.

4.4.7

Given the nature of the Council’s present and forecast capital investment, and related
borrowing decisions, aside from the changes to reporting requirements, it is unaffected by
these changes.

4.5
4.5.1

Treasury Management Performance 2021/22
By 31st March 2022, the Council had net borrowing of around £120M, arising from its
revenue and capital income and expenditure, a decrease of £46M from the previous year.
The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital Financing
Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and working capital are the underlying
resources available for investment. These factors are summarised in the table below.

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary

298.5

2021/22
Movement
£M
(8.9)

(15.2)
(69.3)
214.0
(48.6)
165.4

0.3
0.2
(8.5)
(37.3)
(45.8)

31 Mar 2021
£M
General Fund CFR
Less: CFR re Debt Managed by Lancashire County Council (LCC)
Re Private Finance Initiative (PFI) Arrangements
Loans/Borrowing CFR
Less: Usable Reserves and Working Capital
Net Borrowing

31 Mar 2022
£M
289.6
(14.9)
(69.1)
205.5
(85.9)
119.6

4.5.2

Lower official interest rates have lowered the cost of short-term, temporary loans and
investment returns from cash assets that can be used in lieu of borrowing. The Authority
pursued its strategy of keeping borrowing and investments below their underlying levels,
sometimes known as internal borrowing, in order to reduce risk and keep interest costs low.

4.5.3

The treasury management position at 31 March 2022 and the change during the year is
show in the table below:

Page 144
EBD: V1/16

Page 5 of 14

Table 2: Treasury Management Summary

Long-term Borrowing
Short-term borrowing
Other Debt (PFI and Debt
Managed by LCC)
Total Borrowing
Short-term Investments
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Total Investments
Net Borrowings

31 Mar 2021
Balance £M
145.7
78.3
75.2

Movement
£M
(3.9)
(58.3)
(2.5)

31 Mar 2022
Balance £M
141.8
20.0
72.7

299.2
34.0
24.6
58.6
240.6

(64.7)
(24.0)
7.6
(16.4)
(48.3)

234.5
10.0
32.2
42.2
192.3

31 Mar 2022
Rate %
3.9%
0.6%

0.5%
0.4%

In summary, the key changes to the Council’s overall debt position across the year were:
(a) A decrease in the level of short term borrowing, from £78.3M to £20.0M,
(b) Principal repayments of £3.9M on PWLB EIP (Equal Instalment of Principal) loans,
(c) Repayments of part of the outstanding PFI debt recognised on the balance sheet for
Building Schools for the Future (BSF), and of debt managed by LCC.
No debt rescheduling was undertaken, because the premiums payable on early repayment
of PWLB and Market debt made it uneconomic to do so.
4.5.4

Short term loans were taken for a range of durations at various points across the year.
Investment balances have continued to be unusually high during this year, impacted by the
governments continuing response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

4.5.5

In summary, the outturn position in respect of interest costs and income, and MRP
charges, was as follows:

Table 3: Treasury Revenue Outturn 2021/22
Outturn
2020/21
£’000
5,675
638
298
5,909
(72)
5,367
179
142

Interest paid on borrowing – long term debt
Interest paid on borrowing – short term debt
Interest paid on debt managed by LCC
PFI interest paid
Interest – treasury/other minor elements
MRP on Council borrowing
MRP on PFI debt
MRP on debt managed by LCC

Revised
Budget
2021/22
£’000
5,586
180
184
5,723
(25)
5,551
194
147

Outturn
2021/22
£’000
5,584
163
184
5,723
(54)
5,814
194
209

Variance
£’000
(2)
(17)
(29)
263
62

4.5.6

Interest paid on borrowing in 2021/22 was around £0.6M down on the original estimate,
reflecting both lower interest rates and levels of short-term borrowing and the decision not
to take any additional long-term debt during the year.

4.5.7

The average investment balance over the year has increased to £61M (£56M in 2020/21).
Investment balances have been unusually high during this year, because of funds received
from central government. Funds received from central government included both grants
received in advance of their usual payment dates and additional funds in respect of extra
costs and the distribution of grants to businesses and households, in relation to the
response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the cost of living crisis (see Weekly Balances
Appendix 1).

Page 145
EBD: V1/16

Page 6 of 14

4.5.8

Investment interest rates started the year at historically low levels, but increased in the last
quarter as the Bank Rate was rises were made. Funds have continued to be invested for
short periods, and sometimes with the government’s Debt Management Office, to manage
risk – this also contributed to the relatively low returns. Interest earned on treasury cash
investments decreased, from £0.07M to £0.05M, and the average rate of return fell to
0.08% (against 0.10% in 2020/21).

4.5.9

Following the audit of the Council’s Statement of Accounts 2020/21, the Council’s External
Auditors made a recommendation in relation to the Council’s Minimum Revenue Provision
(MRP) policy ‘The Council should satisfy itself that its MRP policy results in a prudent MRP
charge, in particular that the calculation of MRP appropriately reflects the nature of and
period of expected benefits of capital expenditure and appropriate annuity rates are
applied’.

4.5.10 This recommendation has arisen from a review of the Council’s policy for MRP which was
approved by the Council in March 2021 and specifically that part of the MRP relating to
capital expenditure financed from debt arising up to 2007/08, Government-supported
borrowing arising from 2007/08 and historic debt entered into prior to the Council gaining
Unitary Authority status.
4.5.11 The outcome of the review undertaken by the Council following this recommendation from
the external auditors will be reported to Executive board in August.
4.6

Borrowing Update

4.6.1

As indicated above, the Authority was not planning to borrow to invest primarily for
commercial return and so is unaffected by the changes to the Prudential Code.

4.6.2

At 31st March 2022 the authority held £234.5M of loans, a decrease of £64.7M compared to
31st March 2021, as part of its strategy for funding previous and current years’ capital
programmes. Outstanding loans on 31st March are summarised in the table below:

Table 4: Borrowing Position
31 Mar
2021
Principal
(£M)
Fixed Rate Funding:
Public Works Loan Board
Market Debt (Long Term)
Market Debt (Short Term)
Variable Rate Funding:
Public Works Loan Board
Market Debt
Loans Taken by Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Council
Debt from PFI Arrangements
Debt Managed by LCC
Total Debt

127.4
10.3
78.3
216.0
0.0
8.0
8.0

Rate/
Return
3.73%
4.45%
0.39%

17.9
32.9

4.50%

20.0

224.0
61.6
13.6

31 Mar
2022
Principal
(£M)
123.5
10.3
20.0
153.8
0.0
8.0
8.0

Rate/
Return

2.25%

299.2

59.7
13.0
234.5

Page 7 of 14

Average
Life
(Yrs)

3.79%
4.45%
0.61%

17.4
31.9

4.50%

19.0

161.8

Page 146
EBD: V1/16

Average
Life
(Yrs)

1.82%

4.6.3

The Council’s chief objective when borrowing has been to strike an appropriately low risk
balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over the period
for which funds are required, with flexibility to renegotiate loans should long-term plans
change being a secondary objective.

4.6.4

In keeping with these objectives, new borrowing was kept to a minimum of £20M, while
£58.3M of existing loans were allowed to mature without replacement. This strategy
enabled the Council to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone investment income)
and reduce overall treasury risk.

4.6.5

With short-term interest rates remaining much lower than long-term rates, the Council
considered it more cost effective in the near term to use internal resources or borrowed
rolling short-term loans instead. The net movement in short-term loans is shown in table 2
above.

4.6.6

The Authority’s borrowing decisions are not predicated on any one outcome for interest
rates and a balanced portfolio of short- and long-term borrowing was maintained.

4.6.7

LOBO loans: The Authority continues to hold £13M of LOBO (Lender’s Option Borrower’s
Option) loans where the lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate as
set dates, following which the Authority has the option to either accept the new rate or to
repay the loan at no additional cost. No banks exercised their option during the year.

4.7

Treasury Investment Update

4.7.1

CIPFA published a revised Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of Practice
and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes on 20th December 2021. These define treasury
management investments as investments that arise from the organisation’s cash flows or
treasury risk management activity that ultimately represents balances that need to be
invested until the cash is required for use in the course of business.

4.7.2

The Authority holds invested funds, representing income received in advance of
expenditure plus balances and reserves held. During the year, the Authority’s investment
balances ranged between £35M and £84M due to timing differences between income and
expenditure. The investment position is shown in table 4 below.

Table 5: Treasury Investment Position

Banks and Building Societies (unsecured)
Government (incl Local Authorities)
Money Market Funds
Total Investments

31 Mar 21
Balance
£M
4.2
34.0
20.4
58.6

Movement
£M
(1.1)
(24.0)
8.7
(16.4)

31 Mar 2022
Balance
£M
3.1
10.0
29.1
42.2

31 Mar 2022
Income
Return %
0.0%
0.5%
0.5%
0.5%

4.7.3

Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Authority to invest its funds
prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its treasury investments before
seeking the optimum rate of return, or yield. The Authority’s objective when investing
money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of
incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment income.

4.7.4

Ultra low short-dated cash rates, which were a feature since March 2020 when Bank Rate
was cut to 0.1%, prevailed for much of the 12-month reporting period which resulted in the
return on sterling low volatility net asset value (LVNAV) Money Market Funds being close
to zero even after some managers have temporarily waived or lowered their fees. However,
higher returns on cash instruments followed
the increases in Bank Rate in December,
Page 147

EBD: V1/16

Page 8 of 14

February and March. At 31st March, the 1-day return on the Authority’s MMFs ranged
between 0.42% and 0.58%.
4.7.5

Similarly, deposit rates with the Debt Management Account Deposit Facility (DMADF)
initially remained very low with rates ranging from 0% to 0.1%, but following the hikes to
policy rates increased to between 0.55% and 0.85% depending on the deposit maturity.
The average return on the Authority’s DMADF deposits was 0.03%.

4.7.6

At 31 March 2022 the Council temporarily exceeded the limit set out in the Treasury
Management Strategy for amounts to be invested in one of its bank call accounts by
£135,000. This technical breach arose due to an issue with the warning alerts in the
treasury management system. A withdrawal was made from this account the next day to
bring the balance below the approved limit and the issue with the system rectified.
Excluding this one technical breach, the Council’s investments have complied with the
approved investment limits.

4.8

Compliance

4.8.1

The Director of Finance reports that all treasury management activities during the year
complied fully with the CIPFA Code of Practice and, excluding the issue noted in 4.7.6,
have complied with the Authority’s approved Treasury Management Strategy.

4.8.2

The position with regard to performance against Treasury/Prudential Indicators in 2021/22
is summarised in Appendix 2 and 3. There was no breach of the Authorised Borrowing
Limit or the Operational Boundary (set for management purposes).
Outturn capital spend was £17M, which is below the £25M anticipated at the start of the
year.

4.9

Treasury Management Consultancy

4.9.1

The Council is contracted up to 31 March 2026 to receive treasury management support
from Arlingclose Limited. They provide advice and information on the Council’s investment
and borrowing activities, although responsibility for final decision-making remains with the
Council and its officers.

4.9.2

Over the period, in providing support to the Council, Arlingclose have provided ongoing
officer training; support for and review of treasury decisions, reports and strategies;
feedback on accounting for treasury activities; benchmarking with other authorities;
guidance on borrowing and investment opportunities; forecasts of interest rates; and
regular updates on credit ratings and other information on credit quality. The quality of the
support provided has been of a high standard.

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
The information contained within the report accords with the Capital Strategy and the three year
budget forecast within the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-24, as approved at Finance Council
on 1st March 2021, and the Treasury Management Strategy 2021-22 as approved by Executive Board
on 11th March 2021.

Page 148
EBD: V1/16

Page 9 of 14

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
The financial implications arising from the 2021/22 Treasury Outturn have been incorporated into the
body of this report.

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Under the Local Government Act 2003, local authorities determine locally their levels of capital
investment and associated borrowing. The Prudential Code has been developed to support local
authorities in taking these decisions, and the Council is required by Regulation to have regard to
the Code when carrying out its duties under Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003.
The Department for Communities and Local Government issued Guidance on Local Government
Investments, under the Local Government Act 2003, effective from 1st April 2010. Authorities must
manage their investments within an approved strategy, setting out what categories of investment
they will use and how they will assess and manage the risk of loss of investments.
8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
None.

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Please select one of the options below. Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to
the EIA.
Option 1

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed.

Option 2
In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated
with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA link here)
Option 3
In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA
associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA attachment)
10. CONSULTATIONS
None

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure. They are also compliant with
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of
Corporate Governance.
12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST

Page 149
EBD: V1/16

Page 10 of 14

All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following
the meeting.

VERSION: V1.0
CONTACT OFFICER: Jody Spencer-Anforth (Ext 507748)

Julie Jewson (Ext 5893)

DATE: June 2022
BACKGROUND Treasury Management strategy for 2021/22 approved at Executive Board
PAPER: 11th March 2021.

Page 150
EBD: V1/16

Page 11 of 14

Weekly Investment Balances

2021/22

Page 151
EBD: V1/16

Page 12 of 14

Appendix 1

Prudential Indicator Graphs 2021/22

Appendix 2

Page 152
EBD: V1/16

Page 13 of 14

Performance Against Treasury & Prudential Indicators 2021/22 (approved by Council 1 Mar 21/ Exec Board 11 Mar 21

Indicator 2020/21

As Approved Mar 21

Current Monitoring

£25M

£17M

Estimated Capital Expenditure
Estimated Total Capital Financing
Requirement at End of Year

Outturn External Debt Prudential
Indicators

Commentary

£301.6M

£289.6M

(incl projections re LCC debt £15.1M and
accumulated PFI/lease debt £69.1M)

(incl LCC debt £14.9M and
accumulated PFI/lease debt £69.1M)

12.60%

11.90%

Estimated Ratio of Financing Costs to
Net Revenue Stream

LCC Debt
PFI Elements (no lease)
Remaining Elements
Operational Boundary
Authorised Borrowing Limit

15.2M
69.3M
253.1M
337.6M
347.6M

Appendix 3

Borrowing to Date
LCC Debt
PFI Elements
BwD
Total

£M
13.0
59.7
161.8
234.5

LCC debt and BSF PFI debt will both
fall across the year, as debt payments
are made

Page 153

Variable Interest Rate Exposure

£108.6M

Exposure to Date

(£9.2M)

Limit not breached during the year

Fixed Interest Rate Exposure

£245.3M

Exposure to Date

£128.8M

Limit not breached during the year

Prudential Limits for Maturity Structure
of Borrowing

Total Investments for Longer than 364
Days

EBD: V1/16

Lower Limit

Upper Limit

0%
0%
0%
0%
25%

50%
30%
30%
30%
95%

£7M

Page 14 of 14

Period
(Years)
<1
1-2
2-5
5-10
>10

Actual Maturity Structure to Date
Period
£M
%
(Years)
<1
31.6
20%
1-2
3.4
2%
2-5
29.5
18%
5-10
22.6
14%
>10
74.7
46%
Total
161.8
100%

No Long Term Investments Made

Agenda Item 9.1
EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION
REPORT OF:

Executive Member for Place
Executive Member for Finance and Governance

LEAD OFFICERS:

Director of Place
Director of Finance and Governance

DATE:

14 JULY 2022

PORTFOLIO/S
AFFECTED:

Environmental Services/Highways/Public Transport/Digital Transformation

WARD/S AFFECTED:

All

KEY DECISION:

YES

NO

SUBJECT: Vehicle Replacement Programme
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The Council’s vehicle replacement programme has identified that a number of teams across the
Council have vehicles that are ageing and need replacing. There are also a number of hired vehicles
on the Council’s fleet which is not the most economical way of providing vehicles for the various
services.
The Refuse Collection Team has two vehicles that are almost 9 years old and need replacing.
The Environment Street Cleansing Team has an 18 tonne road sweeper on hire that needs replacing.
The Environment Crime Team has a van that is fifteen years old, that needs replacing and the team
requires another vehicle for a new member of staff.
The Environment Amenities Team has a van on hire that needs replacing.
The Environment Amenities Team have two small vans on hire that need replacing.
The Environment Amenities Team have a mini-excavator on hire that need replacing.
The Head of Environment has six vans on hire that are utilised by the supervisors of the Refuse
Collection, Street Cleansing and Amenities teams. These need replacing by Council owned vehicles.
The Fleet Management Services Team has a 7.5 tonne tipper that is fifteen years old that needs
replacing.
The Highways Team has two gritters that are 15 and 8 years old and need replacing.
The Digital Transformation Team has a hired vehicle on the fleet that needs replacing.
The Public Transport Team have two wheel chair accessible vehicles that are 16 and 17 years old
and need replacing.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
It is recommended that Executive Board authorise the replacement of these old and hired vehicles,
and the addition of £1,300,000 to the capital programme for this purpose, as part of the Council’s
vehicle replacement programme.

Page 154

EBD: V4/19

Page 1 of 5

That delegated authority is given to the Director of Finance to determine the most appropriate method
of financing the acquisition of these vehicles.
3. BACKGROUND
The Council has a fleet of 7 frontline refuse collection vehicles that are currently utilised for collecting
household waste and trade waste throughout the Borough, with a pool provision of 3 spare vehicles.
In addition, the council is maximising the use of the Refuse Collection fleet with 4 vehicles from the
fleet being used each week on a Friday and Saturday to collect the garden waste generated within
the borough. The vehicles are of varying ages. The oldest two vehicles are now eight and 10 years
old and becoming increasingly unreliable with increased maintenance costs and by virtue, increased
costs for overtime for service completion, to ensure that the work is completed and income generated
from trade waste is not lost.
In April 2020, the Council’s recycling contract came back in house and saw the addition of 6 refuse
collection vehicles added to the fleet. This means in effect that the 3 spare vehicles now have to
cover 13 rounds. It is important that refuse collection and recycling vehicles are reliable because to
hire a vehicle costs over £1,000 per week, which is the minimum hire period, and currently availability
is an issue, as hire companies do not carry as many refuse collection vehicles on their hire fleets, as
they used to.
The two new vehicles would be utilised as front line vehicles with one 7 year old and one 6 year old
vehicle being used for pool provision to service the 13 round fleet. Should the service need to reduce
the collection vehicles on the fleet at a later date, any of the pool vehicles could be returned to the
relevant leasing company, as the primary lease period has elapsed and the vehicles are being used
on secondary leases, and can be terminated at a much-reduced rate. The approximate cost of two
new refuse collection vehicles would be £180,000 each.
The Street Cleansing section has recently reviewed and changed how it operates its fleet of road
sweepers. This has resulted in a reduction of two compact sweepers on the fleet. This has allowed
them to hire in an 18 tonne sweeper that is better suited for sweeping larger areas thus reducing
downtime by not having to return to the depot until the end of the shift to tip off. The current hire cost
is approximately £42,000 per annum. Purchasing a Council owned vehicle through the Capital
Leasing Programme would see a significant saving over the five-year period even after taking in to
account the extra associated costs for tax, tyres and parts. The approximate cost of a new 18 tonne
sweeper would be £140,000.
The Council has four frontline vehicles that are utilised by the Environment Crime team. One of these
vehicles is fifteen years old and becoming increasingly unreliable with increased maintenance costs
resulting in the vehicle being off the road and lost productivity for the team. The service has also
taken on a new member of staff and as such needs another vehicle for this new member to operate
from. The two new vehicles to be purchased would be electric powered and would cost approximately
£23,000 each.
The Grounds Maintenance team currently uses a hired van to service and repair all of the play areas
within the Borough. The cost for this is approximately £5,000 per annum and is not the most
economical way of providing the service with a vehicle. It is intended to investigate the market to
replace this vehicle with an electric vehicle should a suitable model be available. The approximate
cost would be £36,000.
The Grounds Maintenance team currently uses two small hired vans to undertake the weed spraying
contract that was brought back in-house at the start of the summer. The current hire cost is
approximately £4,500 each per annum and is not the most economical way of providing the service.
It is intended to investigate the market to replace this vehicle with an electric vehicle should a suitable
model be available. Approximate cost would be £36,000 each.

Page 155
EBD: V4/19

Page 2 of 5

The Grounds Maintenance cemeteries team currently hire a mini-excavator to assist with the digging
of graves. The annual hire cost is approximately £10,000 and is not the most economical way of
providing the service. It is intended to purchase their own mini-excavator. Approximate cost would be
£30,000.
The Environment management team currently utilise six hired vehicles as pooled vehicles to replace
using their own cars for work related journeys and claiming back mileage allowance. A review has
taken place and established that there will be a need for five pooled vehicles going forward. The
pooled fleet would consist of 4 small vans and one larger short wheel base van. The Head of
Environment wishes to replace the hired vans with Council owned electric vehicles to assist with the
target of the Council becoming carbon neutral by 2030. Approximate cost of small vans is £23,000
each. Approximate cost of short wheel base van is £36,000.
Fleet Management Services has a 7.5 tonne tipper that is 15 years old and becoming unreliable. The
vehicle is used as a spare to cover for servicing and repairs to the Environment and Highways
tippers. The utilisation of this vehicle prevents the Council paying unnecessary hire costs for a
replacement vehicle. This vehicle would be replaced with a second hand vehicle. Approximate cost of
a second hand vehicle would be £25,000.
The Highways team has a fleet of six gritters. The oldest gritter is almost 15 years old and is
becoming unreliable and needs replacing with a new gritter. The next oldest gritter is 8 years old and
the Highways team would like to replace this with a demountable gritter/tarmac vehicle. The new
vehicle have a demountable body that can be used for gritting and a separate demountable insulated
tarmac body to be used for collecting tarmac on a daily basis to carry out pot hole repairs.
Approximate cost for the gritter would be £100,000. Approximate cost for the Demount would be
£150,000.
The Digital Transformation Team has a hired van that they utilise for transporting IT equipment to the
various Council premises around the Borough. Purchasing a Council owned vehicle through the
Capital Leasing Programme would give an opportunity to add another electric vehicle to the fleet and
therefore be another step towards the Council becoming carbon neutral by 2030. The current cost for
the hire vehicle is £4,500 per annum. Should the Digital Transformation Team no longer require the
vehicle in a couple of years’ time then the vehicle could be utilised elsewhere on the fleet. The
anticipated purchase price for the vehicle would be £23,000, which would see the Council paying
approximately £4,000 per Annum for the next five years.
The Public Transport Team have a number of wheel chair accessible vehicles that are used to
transport individuals that are wheel chair bound in to schools. Two of these vehicles are 16 and 17
years old and are becoming increasingly unreliable. The intention is to replace these with new
vehicles. The approximate cost would be £75,000 each.

4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS
The main cause for concern in not replacing the two refuse collection vehicles would be reliability,
which could result in a shortage of vehicles to complete the refuse, recycling and trade waste rounds,
thus affecting service delivery to customers and jeopardising the £1,000,000 per year trade waste
income the Council generates. The availability of hire vehicles around the country is limited and as
such, we are fully dependent on the availability of our own refuse collection vehicles.
The main cause for concern in not replacing the other vehicles referenced in the report would be
reliability, which could result in a shortage of vehicles to provide the services, thus affecting service
delivery around the borough and jeopardising the income generated by the Department, as well as
customer service.

Page 156
EBD: V4/19

Page 3 of 5

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
Priority 6 for the council identifies that the council will ‘make your money go further’, which this report
aims to provide.
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
The approximate cost for all of the new vehicles would be £1,261,000. The Council would seek to
finance the purchase of the new vehicles through a “sale and lease back” deal. Assuming this was the
best option, the Council would lease the vehicles over a five-year period, at an estimated cost of
£220,000 per annum to be borne by the respective revenue budgets.
If leasing was not the most economic or a viable option, the Council would finance the vehicles
through prudential borrowing. Delegated authority to the Director of Finance to determine the most
appropriate method of financing the vehicles is requested as part of this report and subject to that, the
respective revenue budgets would then be adjusted to finance this cost.
The Council has been set a target of becoming carbon neutral by 2030. In this report, there are plans
to purchase eleven electric vehicles to help achieving the target. The additional capital cost in
changing these vehicles from diesel to electric as opposed to changing like for like is approximately
£121,000.
As a result of these purchases, and subject to the chosen method of financing the acquisitions,
thereis estimated tol be an additional revenue cost of £20,000 that will be met from existing portfolio
budgets.
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
The Council as a Waste Collection Authority (WCA) and a Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) has a
legal duty under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 to provide waste collection and disposal
services in the borough.
A procurement exercise will be undertaken in accordance with the Council’s Contract Procurement
Procedure Rules and Contracts shall be in a form approved by legal officers in the Contracts and
Procurement Team.
8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
The procurement of the new vehicles can be accommodated within existing resources.

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Please select one of the options below. Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the
EIA.
Option 1

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed.

Option 2
In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated
with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA link here)
Option 3
In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA
associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA attachment)

Page 157
EBD: V4/19

Page 4 of 5

10. CONSULTATIONS
Consultation with the respective management teams has taken place to identify the best option going
forward to deliver the service.

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure. They are also compliant with
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of
Corporate Governance.
12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following
the meeting.

VERSION: 1
Martin Eden, Director of Place
CONTACT OFFICER: Dean Langton, Finance and Governance
Neil Bolton, Fleet Transport Manager
DATE: 15/11/2021
BACKGROUND Procurement guidelines for the Council.
PAPER:

Page 158
EBD: V4/19

Page 5 of 5

Agenda Item 9.2
EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION
REPORT OF:

Executive Member for Growth and Development
Executive Member for Finance and Governance

LEAD OFFICERS:

Strategic Director of Growth & Development

DATE:

Thursday, 14 July 2022

PORTFOLIO/S
AFFECTED:

Growth and Development

WARD/S AFFECTED:

Blackburn South and Lower Darwen;

KEY DECISION:

Y

SUBJECT: EB Disposal of Plot 4 Millbank, Lower Darwen
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1

To seek approval to proceed with the sale of Plot 4 at Millbank Business Park, Lower Darwen,
(shown edged red on the attached plan) via Barnfield Blackburn Ltd, a company in which the
Council is part shareholder.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Executive Board:
2.1

Approve that the Council as shareholder of Barnfield Blackburn Ltd authorises the nominated
Council Directors to sign off the sale of Plot 4 Millbank Business Park, Lower Darwen (shown
edged red on the attached plan) to Hippo Vehicle Solutions Ltd.

2.2

Authorise the nominated Council Directors to finalise and complete the terms of the disposal.

3. BACKGROUND
3.1

Barnfield Blackburn Limited was established as a Joint Venture company between Barnfield
Construction Ltd and Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council as a Special Purpose Vehicle, to
proactively promote development sites. The SPV ensures this happens by preparing all
necessary surveys and permissions to ensure the sites are ready for disposal.

3.2

Land off Milking Lane and Greenbank Terrace was identified and acquired in 2018 by Barnfield
Blackburn Ltd. The Council owns a 25% stake in the business.

3.3

Upon purchase the intention was to develop the site, with residential to the North East, off
Milking Lane; and commercial to the West of the site, off Greenbank Terrace.

3.4

LEP funding was secured in September 2019 for a new road linking Greenbank Terrace to
Milking Lane – this new road opens up the site and will alleviate traffic congestion on Milking
Lane.

Page 159
EBD: V1/21

Page 1 of 3

3.5

Potential flood risks at Greenbank Terrace have been addressed by a comprehensive mitigation
strategy approved by the Environment Agency, through planning in February 2020, subject to
the following condition. Namely, the transfer to the Council by late 2022 of the two flood
retention basins, which are currently under construction. A commuted sum has been paid to the
Council by Barnfield Blackburn Limited for the future maintenance of the basins.

Commercial site disposal
Hippo Vehicle Solutions Ltd has made an offer to purchase the site and the provisional Heads of
Terms agreed, as detailed in the Part 2 Report.
4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS
4.1

A deal has been negotiated for the development of Plot 4 Millbank, Lower Darwen, Blackburn
which meets the Council’s financial aspirations. It is recommended that Barnfield Blackburn Ltd.
proceeds with the transaction.

4.2

Should the transaction not be completed then Barnfield Blackburn Ltd will explore other options
and re-market the site.

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
5.1 The disposal method accords with the Council’s approved policy for disposals.
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
6.1

A gross pre-tax capital receipt (minus permitted deductions) will be received by Barnfield
Blackburn Ltd. for the land sales, with the Council receiving a gross pre-tax 25% share (minus
permitted deductions). Any money to be received by the Council from the joint venture company
shall either be paid at each year-end via a shareholder dividend or kept within the joint venture
company for future regeneration purposes.

6.2 The purchase price on a net developable area is in line with the Council’s previous aspirations
for the rates achieved on the disposal of Plots 1, 2 and 3 Millbank. Therefore this represents a
very good deal for the Council.
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
7.1 Although the Council’s ownership of this land is held via joint company with its part shareholding,
this disposal method has still complied with the Council’s legal obligations for such transactions
and with the Council’s Disposal Policy 2019.
8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
8.1

Nominated director and surveyor resources will be required to complete the transaction.

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Please select one of the options below. Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the
EIA.
Option 1 X Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed.
Option 2
In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated
with this item in advance of making the decision.
(insert
Page
160EIA link here)
EBD: V1/21
Page 2 of 3

Option 3
In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA
associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA attachment)

10. CONSULTATIONS
10.1 The proposal has been subject to consultations between Council Officers, Executive members,
and Legal and Planning departments.
11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure. They are also compliant with
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of
Corporate Governance.
12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following
the meeting.

VERSION: 1
CONTACT OFFICER: PMO Growth
DATE: June 2022
BACKGROUND None
PAPER:

Page 161
EBD: V1/21

Page 3 of 3

TITLE: PLOT 4 MILLBANK
DEPARTMENT: GROWTH & DEVELOPMENT

REFERENCE: JS - GROWTH

1:1250

Page 162
© Crown copyright and database rights 31 May 2022. Ordnance Survey licence number: 100019493

Agenda Item 11.1

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 163

Agenda Item 11.2

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 167

